Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (Brookfield) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer and effected by the Board of Directors, management and other personnel
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board as defined in Regulation 240.13a-15(f) or 240.15d-15(%).

Management assessed the effectiveness of Brookfield’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based
on the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management concludes that, as of December 31, 2019, Brookfield’s
internal control over financial reporting is effective. Management excluded from its assessment the internal control over financial
reporting for Aveo Group, Hotel Leelaventure Limited, East-West Pipeline Limited, Genesee & Wyoming Inc., DCI Data Centers,
Wireless Infrastructure Group, NorthRiver Midstream Inc. (the federally regulated portion of Enbridge Inc.’s Canadian natural
gas midstream business), Clarios Global LP, Healthscope Limited, Genworth MI Canada Inc., Ouro Verde Locagdo e Sevigos
S.A., and the 320 MW distributed generation portfolio, which were acquired during 2019, and whose total assets, net assets,
revenues and net income constitute approximately 15%, 14%, 11% and -9% respectively, of the consolidated financial statement
amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Brookfield’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, has been audited by Deloitte LLP, the Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm, who also audited Brookfield’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2019. As stated in the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Deloitte LLP expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of Brookfield’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019.

N a

Bruce Flatt Nicholas Goodman
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

March 26, 2020

Toronto, Canada
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Brookfield Asset Management Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 of the Company and our report
dated March 26, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management excluded from its assessment
the internal control over financial reporting at Aveo Group, Hotel Leelaventure Limited, East-West Pipeline Limited, Genesee &
Wyoming Inc., DCI Data Centers, Wireless Infrastructure Group, NorthRiver Midstream Inc. (the federally regulated portion of
Enbridge Inc.’s Canadian natural gas midstream business), Clarios Global LP, Healthscope Limited, Genworth MI Canada Inc.,
Ouro Verde Locagdo e Sevicos S.A., and the 320 MW distributed generation portfolio, which were acquired during 2019 and
whose financial statements constitute, in aggregate, 15% of total assets, 14% of net assets, 11% of revenues and -9% of net income
of the consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019. Accordingly, our audit did not
include the internal control over financial reporting at Aveo Group, Hotel Leelaventure Limited, East-West Pipeline Limited,
Genesee & Wyoming Inc., DCI Data Centers, Wireless Infrastructure Group, NorthRiver Midstream Inc. (the federally regulated
portion of Enbridge Inc.’s Canadian natural gas midstream business), Clarios Global LP, Healthscope Limited, Genworth MI
Canada Inc., Ouro Verde Locagdo e Sevigos S.A., and the 320 MW distributed generation portfolio.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada
March 26, 2020
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and other financial information in this Annual Report have been prepared
by the company’s management which is responsible for their integrity, consistency, objectivity and reliability. To fulfill this
responsibility, the company maintains policies, procedures and systems of internal control to ensure that its reporting practices
and accounting and administrative procedures are appropriate to provide a high degree of assurance that is relevant and reliable
financial information is produced and assets are safeguarded. These controls include the careful selection and training of employees,
the establishment of well-defined areas of responsibility and accountability for performance, and the communication of policies
and code of conduct throughout the company. In addition, the company maintains an internal audit group that conducts periodic
audits of the company’s operations. The Chief Internal Auditor has full access to the Audit Committee.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and, where appropriate, reflect estimates based on management’s judgment.
The financial information presented throughout this Annual Report is consistent with the information contained in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Deloitte LLP, the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm appointed by the shareholders, have audited the consolidated
financial statements set out on pages 128 through 211 in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) to enable them to express to the shareholders and the board of directors their opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. Their report is set out on the following page.

The consolidated financial statements have been further reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors acting through its Audit
Committee, which is comprised of directors who are neither officers nor employees of the company. The Audit Committee, which
meets with the auditors and management to review the activities of each and reports to the Board of Directors, oversees
management’s responsibilities for the financial reporting and internal control systems. The auditors have full and direct access to
the Audit Committee and meet periodically with the committee both with and without management present to discuss their audit
and related findings.

Bruce Flatt Nicholas Goodman

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

March 26, 2020

Toronto, Canada
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Brookfield Asset Management Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31,2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes
in equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated March 26, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error
or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that
were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the financial statements; and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the
accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Fair Value of Investment Properties and Property, Plant and Equipment — Refer to Notes 2(h)(i), 2(h)(ii), 11 and
12 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company has elected the fair value model for investment properties and the revaluation model for certain classes of property,
plant and equipment, namely the Company’s renewable power generating, utilities, transport, communication, energy, and
hospitality operating assets. The Company measures these assets at fair value or revalued amount subsequent to initial recognition
on the balance sheet.

The investment properties and certain classes of property, plant and equipment have limited observable market activity, which
requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions in the determination of fair value. The estimates and
assumptions with the highest degree of subjectivity and impact on fair values are future expected market rents and revenues,
operating margins, terminal value multiples, terminal capitalization rates, and discount rates. Auditing these estimates and
assumptions required a high degree of auditor judgment as the estimations made by management contains significant measurement
uncertainty. This resulted in an increased extent of audit effort, including the need to involve fair value specialists.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to future expected market rents and revenues, operating margins, terminal value multiples, terminal
capitalization rates, and discount rates of investment properties and certain classes of property, plant and equipment included the
following, among others:

»  Evaluated the effectiveness of controls, including those related to management’s process for determining investment properties
and certain classes of property, plant and equipment fair values including those over determining future expected market rents
and revenues, operating margins, terminal value multiples, terminal capitalization rates, and discount rates.

*  Tested management’s future expected market rents and revenues, operating margins, terminal value multiples, terminal
capitalization rates, and discount rates through independent analysis and comparison to external sources including objective
contractual information, and observable economic indicators, where applicable.

»  Evaluated management’s ability to accurately estimate fair value and future expected market rents and revenues and operating
margins by comparing management’s historical fair value estimates to market transactions and forecasts to actual results.

»  Evaluated the impact of current market events and conditions, including relevant comparable transactions, on the assumptions
used by management.

»  With the assistance of fair value specialists, we evaluated the reasonableness of management’s determination of terminal
value multiples, terminal capitalization rates, and discount rates by (1) testing the source information underlying the
determination of terminal value multiples, terminal capitalization rates, and discount rates; (2) developing a range of
independent estimates and comparing those to the terminal value multiples, terminal capitalization rates, and discount rates
selected by management; and (3) considering recent market transactions and industry surveys.

Acquisitions and Equity Accounted Investments — Refer to Notes 2(d)(i), 2(d)(ii), 2(k), 2(r), 5 and 10 to the
financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company made a number of acquisitions of entities during the year. When each entity was acquired, the Company assessed
the degree of influence it exerted and whether it had control. Once it was established that control was obtained, the Company
accounted for the transaction using the acquisition method of accounting. When control was not obtained, the Company evaluated
whether it exercised significant influence over the entity and accounted for it as an equity accounted investment, further considering
whether there was joint control. The purchase price of each acquisition (under the acquisition method) was allocated to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values at the acquisition date. This allocation required numerous
estimates that affect the fair value of certain assets and liabilities acquired including discount rates, estimates for future revenues,
operating costs and other expenditures, in addition to other factors.

For the Company to assess whether control was obtained, management made judgments to evaluate whether it had power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and the ability to use that power to affect
their returns. In addition, while there were many judgments made by management in the determination of the fair value of the
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, the estimates with the greatest uncertainty for the largest acquisition (Clarios Global
LP) were forecasted revenue, EBITDA, and discount rates in the valuation of intangible assets. Auditing these estimates and
judgments required a high degree of auditor judgment as the estimations made by management contained significant measurement
uncertainty. This resulted in an increased extent of audit effort, including the involvement of fair value specialists.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the estimates and judgments made by management in the acquisitions of entities included the
following, among others:

Evaluated the effectiveness of controls over management’s process for determining the basis of accounting for the Company’s
investees.

Evaluated the reasonableness of management’s judgments in the determination that control existed through the review of
partnership and other agreements.

Evaluated the effectiveness of controls over the valuation of intangible assets, including those over forecasted revenue,
EBITDA and the discount rate.

Evaluated the reasonableness of management’s forecasted revenue and EBITDA used in the valuation of intangible assets by
comparing the projections to historical results, analyst industry reports and evidence obtained in other areas of the audit.

With the assistance of fair value specialists, evaluated the reasonableness of the discount rates used in the valuation of
intangible assets, including testing the source information underlying the determination of the discount rates, testing the
mathematical accuracy of the calculations, and developing a range of independent estimates, comparing it to the discount
rates selected by management.

/s/ Deloitte LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada
March 26, 2020

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1971.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AS AT DEC. 31

(MILLIONS) Note 2019 2018

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 $ 6,778 $ 8,390
Other fINANCIAL ASSELS..........oiieiieeie ettt e e et e et e e e e e e e e s et e esaaeeeaeeseaeessaaeens 6 12,468 6,227
Accounts receivable and OTher .............ccooiiiiiiiiiiiicee et 7 18,469 16,931
INVEIEOTY .vevviiiiietieiietet ettt ettt ettt et et et ettt e teebeeseesse st e s essessessessaesseseessessessansensans 8 10,272 6,989
Assets classified as held Or SALE ...........ooouviiviiiiiiieeeeeee et 9 3,502 2,185
Equity accounted INVESLMENLS ............ccvevverveereirieriereereeteeteeeereteereeteereereessersenseneesesseeseenens 10 40,698 33,647
INVESTMENT PIOPETTIES .....veuvieririerietieieeieeitetetest et e te et e teeteeseesaessesesessestessasseeseessessessensensens 11 96,686 84,309
Property, plant and €qUIPMENT.............ccocviviiiiieiiiiietieieeee ettt 12 89,264 67,294
INtANGIDIC ASSELS .....cvvivvievieiiieetecte ettt ettt ettt r ettt et et eteeteeteereersersenseneennesenneaneas 13 27,710 18,762
GOOAWILLL....eeee ettt b ettt e st sese s e e s e sesensesesenennas 14 14,550 8,815
15 3,572 2,732

$ 323,969 $ 256,281

Liabilities and equity

COrPOTAtE DOITOWINES........c.vevivieeieeeeeeeteeeeteeteeeetet et etesere et easesesessesensereseseereneereeensenens 16 $ 7,083 $ 6,409
Accounts payable and Other ...........cccieieiiieriiiiicee e 17 43,077 23,989
Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale.............ccccoovvvveeeieieieieneennnn. 9 1,690 812
Non-recourse borrowings of managed entities 18 136,292 111,809
Deferred income tax Habilities ..........c..covviiiiiiiiiiiieeecee et 15 14,849 12,236
Subsidiary equity OBIIZAtIONS .........c.ccvevviriieiietierieteete ettt ettt ere et e s eseseeaeere e 19 4,132 3,876
Equity
Preferred €qUILY ....oouveieieiecieeeeeeeetec ettt ettt ettt nas 21 4,145 4,168
NON-CONLIOIIING TNTETESES ......c.vivivierieeieteeeeeeer et ere et ereere et ee e e e eseeteeteeteeseersensensenseereereens 21 81,833 67,335
COMIMON EQUILY ....vvevieuieereietestieteeteeteeseessestessesessesseesesseeseeseessessessessessessessessessesssessessensensens 21 30,868 25,647
TOLAL EQUILY ...ovveiiieeteete ettt ettt ettt ettt et et et e et e eteeteeasesseas e s e ebesseeaeereeseeseensensensesennas 116,846 97,150
Total liabilities and eqUILY .............c.occooiiiiieieeeeeeee e $ 323,969 $ 256,281
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31

(MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) Note 2019 2018
REVEIIUECS .....ooiiieiii ettt e e ettt e et e e e e aa e e e e saaaeesssnaaeeeeannes 22 $ 67,826 $ 56,771
Direct costs 23 (52,728) (45,519)
Other iNCOME aNd GAINS..........cocveriiriieriieriitieeteteee ettt ettt e et r st seere b e erenenas 1,285 1,166
Equity accounted INCOME...........cc.ooviiuiirieiieiieeieicieieet ettt ettt as s essesseeve e 10 2,498 1,088
Expenses

IIECTESE ...ttt ettt e ettt e te et et e e ente et e et e et e ereeereearen (7,227) (4,854)

COTPOTALE COSES .....vviviiureriririerieteeteeteestessestessesseeteeseeseeseeseessessessesassasseeseessessensessessesesensens 98) (104)
Fair value changes........................ . 24 (831) 1,794
Depreciation and amOTtiZation ...............ccucuievereeieierierereetieereeseeeresseresreseeresseseesessesessessesesens (4,876) (3,102)
TNCOIME TAXES ....vviieeiieeie ettt et ettt e et e et e et e e eaaeeeaaeeeteeeeaseeenseeeaneean 15 (495) 248
INELINCOIMIE ...ttt ettt et et et et e eaeeaeeaseae et et et eteeseesessesaeens $ 5354 $ 7,488
Net income attributable to:

SRATENOLACTS ... et et e et et et e e eeaeeaeeaeeeeene et et eeeeeseeseenenaenaenee $ 2,807 $ 3,584

NON-CONLIOLIING TNTETESES ......cuvivieietietieeeeee ettt et et ere e ete e er et e teeteeteeseers s enseseereereens 2,547 3,904

$ 5354 3 7,488

Net income per share:

DHIULEA ...ttt b ettt ee 21 $ 2.60 3 3.40

BaASIC ..ttt 21 2.66 3.47
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

E\(A)Ili B»(I)EN‘gl)EARS ENDED DEC. 31 Note 2019 2018
INEE ITICOIMIE ... et e et ettt e e e e e e ee e et e et et et et e et e eeeaeeaeene et eeeeeeaneanen $ 5354 $ 7,488

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Items that may be reclassified to net income

Financial contracts and power sale agreements ..............c.ccveeveeveererreereereeeeeeeennenns (52) (20)
Marketable SECUTTHIES. .......c.eevievieeieeierreeierect et ettt ere ettt ete e ereersens e asenns 75 (34)
Equity accounted INVEStMENLS............ccecveririeriiriierieeeeeteeetetee et 10 37 29)
Foreign currency translation................ccocvevierieiieiiiiceeeeeeieeeeeieste e (403) (3,254)
INCOME tAXES.....oicuiiieeieiieeiieete ettt ettt et et ettt et te e teeereeebeebeenseeaneenne e 15 as) (90)
(432) (3,427)
Items that will not be reclassified to net income
Revaluations of property, plant and equipment..............cccevevveereereeeeeeeeeereeennenn. 12 3,328 6,290
Revaluation of pension obligations............cc.cceeveieririeeiiisieiieeereeee e 17 149) 19)
Equity accounted INVESIMENLS.............c.ccevierieiieiiiiieereereeeeiee et 10 354 547
Marketable SECUTTLIES. ......c.euiriiieiiiieieicerieeeietse ettt 299 94
Income taxes 15 (688) (1,324)
3,144 5,588
Other cOMPrehenSiVe INCOME ...........ecueevieeeiereereere et ere ettt ere e ereensersensensenns 2,712 2,161
ComPrehenSIVE INCOMIE ........ccveevierierieiieeieieteiesie e se e eee e esee s ssessesbesbesseeseessessessenes $ 8,066 $ 9,649
Attributable to:
Shareholders
INEEINCOIMIE ...ttt et e et e e et e eteeeaaeeenaeeenneesaeeenneeeas $ 2,807 $ 3,584
Other comPrehensive INCOME............cvevieeiieiierieteereete ettt ettt eeaseanas 524 406
CompPrehensive INCOME ............ceeeereeeerereeeeteete ettt er s ere s ere e eae e eeesennes $ 3,331 $ 3,990
Non-controlling interests
Net income $ 2,547 $ 3,904
Other comprehensive INCOME.............c.ecveeiviieriieeiereriee ettt eseseenas 2,188 1,755
Comprehensive INCOME ............c.ecvieeieiiieieieeieete ettt e et e b et eve v seere s easennas $ 4,735 $ 5,659
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

Common Non-
ﬁz SL%?CF% ES[FQYEAR Share Contributed Retained Ownership Revaluation Currency Other Common Preferred controlling Total
(MILLIONS) Capital Surplus Earnings Changes' Surplus Translation Reserves Equity Equity Interests Equity
Balance as at
December 31,2018 ....... $ 4457 § 271§ 14244 § 645  $ 7,556 $ (1,833) $ 307§ 25647 § 4,168 $ 67335 $§ 97,150
Changes in period:
Net income..............ocoeu.. — — 2,807 — — — — 2,807 — 2,547 5,354

Other comprehensive
income (1088)......cevuuene — — — — 591 (190) 123 524 — 2,188 2,712

Comprehensive income
[(LCRE) O — — 2,807 — 591 (190) 123 3,331 — 4,735 8,066

Shareholder distributions

Common equity.... . — — (620) — — — — (620) — — (620)
Preferred equity............ — — (152) — — — — (152) — — (152)
Non-controlling

INterests .....cceueeeucennee — — — — — — — — — (8,568) (8,568)

Other items

Equity issuances, net of

redemptions ............... 2,848 (40) (331) — — — — 2,477 (23) 16,636 19,090
Share-based
compensation ............ — 55 (68) — — — — (13) — — (13)
Ownership changes ...... — — 146 365 (271) 6 (48) 198 — 1,695 1,893
Total change in year ......... 2,848 15 1,782 365 320 (184) 75 5,221 (23) 14,498 19,696

Balance as at
December 31, 2019 ....... $ 7,305 $ 286 $ 16,026 $ 1,010 $ 7876 $ (2,017) $ 382 $ 30,868 § 4,145 $ 81,833 § 116,846

1. Includes gains or losses on changes in ownership interests of consolidated subsidiaries.
2. Includes changes in fair value of marketable securities, cash flow hedges, actuarial changes on pension plans and equity accounted other comprehensive income, net of
associated income taxes.

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

Common Total Non-

ﬁz SL%?CF% ES[FBYEAR Share Contributed Retained Ownership Revaluation Currency Other Common Preferred controlling Total
(MILLIONS) Capital Surplus Earnings Changes' Surplus Translation Reserves’ Equity Equity Interests Equity
Balance as at

December 31,2017 ....... N 4428 § 263§ 11864 § 1459 $ 6,881 §$ (878) $ 35 8§ 24052 $ 4,192 $ 51,628 $ 79,872
Changes in accounting

POLICIES® ovvvvvvvrverriane — — (215) — — — 3) (218) — (84) (302)
Adjusted balance as at

January 1, 2018............. 4,428 263 11,649 1,459 6,881 (878) 32 23,834 4,192 51,544 79,570

Changes in period:

Net income............cooouuuee — — 3,584 — — — — 3,584 — 3,904 7,488

Other comprehensive
income (108s)......c.ccocuuee — — — — 1,060 (959) 305 406 — 1,755 2,161

Comprehensive income
[ULG1ES) TR — — 3,584 — 1,060 (959) 305 3,990 — 5,659 9,649

Shareholder distributions

Common equity. . — — (575) — — — — (575) — — (575)
Preferred equity............ — — (151) — — — — (151) — — (151)
Non-controlling
INterests ........cooeveevnn — — — — — — — — — (6,709) (6,709)
Other items
Equity issuances, net of
redemptions ............... 29 (44) (344) — — — — (359) (24) 6,663 6,280
Share-based
compensation ............ — 52 (33) — — — — 19 — 7 26
Ownership changes ...... — — 114 (814) (385) 4 (30) (1,111) — 10,171 9,060
Total change in year......... 29 8 2,595 (814) 675 (955) 275 1,813 (24) 15,791 17,580
Balance as at
December 31, 2018........ $ 4457 § 271 $ 14244 § 645 $ 7,556 $ (1,833) $ 307 $ 25647 $ 4,168 $§ 67335 $ 97,150

1. Includes gains or losses on changes in ownership interests of consolidated subsidiaries.

2. Includes changes in fair value of marketable securities, cash flow hedges, actuarial changes on pension plans and equity accounted other comprehensive income, net of
associated income taxes.

3. Relates to adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31

(MILLIONS)

Operating activities

Net income..

Other iNCOME AN ZAINS ......eveuieiiieiiieietei ettt ettt ettt et aesee et e e s be e aeneenes

Share of undistributed equity accounted earnings

Fair value Changes ........c.ccoiiiiiiiiie et
Depreciation and amOTtiZatiON. .........co.eiiueieirieeieteieteetee ettt see e see e eneseeneeee
Deferred INCOME tAXES .....c.erveveuerirrieeieirieietiireeteieres ettt sttt ssetee s bese et besesaeses e e seseenes
Investments in residential INVENTOTY .....cc.everirieriirieniineeieeeeeee et
Net change in non-cash working capital balances............oceoeereiieiiincieeeeeeeeeeas

Financing activities

Corporate bOrrowWings arran@ed .........coeeuereeerierierienieneeeeeeie ettt ettt sttt ettt et nes
Corporate borrowings repaid...........cccecevereeennne

Commercial paper and bank bOrroWings, NEt..........cccvueeveerieirierieirieeeerieee e
Non-recourse borrowings arranged ........c.cceeeeeeeieriirieninineeeeeetetet et st eeeeeens
Non-recourse borrowings rePaid ...........cerveueruerieirieieeieieecee ettt eeesseneas
Non-recourse credit facilities, NEt...........oovuiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeee et e
Subsidiary equity obligations ISSUEM .........ccceerieirierieirieieie ettt
Subsidiary equity obligations redeemed............cccoeieiiieireneieeeee e

Capital provided from non-controlling interests....

Capital repaid to non-controlling INEIESES .........cereeruerieerieirieieiereeeee et
Repayment 0f 16a5e lHabilities ......c.couirueuirieieiieeieie et
Preferred equity T€AEMPLIONS. ....c.veviriirtietieiieiieitetete ettt ettt
CommON ShAares ISSUE ......c.euiirieviiririereiiirietcteeet ettt ettt et
Common shares repurChased ..........ooeoviirieiiieieeee et
Distributions to nON-controlling iNEIESLS .........c.eeueveuirieireieiirieieteeeeeee e
Distributions to Shareholders ...........ccovieueuiririeieinnieieinriectrece e

Investing activities

Acquisitions

INVESTMENT PIOPEITIES ..cuveuvevieiieiienieierteeteet ettt ettt ettt ettt b s bbbttt e eneen
Property, plant and qUIPMENT ..........c.ooeiiiiiieiieieee e
Equity accounted INVEStMENTS. ........cueuiiueieirieieieietietei ettt sttt eeseeseseeneee
Financial assets and Other ...........ccccveeiiniiieiininiiicieccencce et
AcquISTtON Of SUDSIAIATIES ... .ccueeuteuieierterierierteeitetet ettt

Dispositions

INVESTMENT PIOPEITICS ..c.veuvevieiieiieteierteete ettt ettt ettt et ettt sbe b bt et et e eneen
Property, plant and qUIPMENT ..........c.ooueriiirieiieieeee ettt
Equity accounted INVEStMENTS. ........c.euiiteiriirieieieietietei ettt ettt ee e e eae s e
Financial assets and Other ...........c.ccveiiniiieininiicieccncce et
Disposition Of SUDSIAIATIES .....cc.eeuveuierienierienieniieiteitetet ettt
Restricted cash and dePOSItS ........c.ceirieuirieiriieeteee et

Cash and cash equivalents

Change in cash and cash equivalents............c.cccceeereennene.
Net change in cash classified within assets held for sale

Foreign exchange reValuation............c..ciiueirieieeieieieeiie ettt
Balance, beginning Of YOI ..........ccveiiiiiiieieie e
Balance, end OF YEAT .......coiuiiiiieieee et

Supplemental cash flow disclosures
INCOME TAXES PAIA ...veveeeieeienieieiecteete ettt et et et et e st esteeteeteesee s essessesbessessessassaesaeseessessensensens

Interest paid

Note 2019 2018
$ 5354 $ 7,488
(1,285) (1,166)
(1,654) (294)

24 831 (1,794)
4,876 3,102

15 75) (1,109)
(319) 258
(1,000) (1,326)
6,328 5,159

992 1,090

(450) —

— (103)

64,576 43,541
(42,215) (28,243)
(926) 3,291

212 212

45) (485)

19,447 9,306
(2,811) (2,643)
(424) —

(16) (17)

13 11

(267) (389)
(8,568) (6,709)
(772) (726)
28,746 18,136
(6,921) (2,879)
(3,053) (1,962)
(5,534) (953)
(10,830) (5,288)
(31,088) (22,269)
5,239 4311

140 787

1,725 2,163
10,850 4,523
2,336 1,729

462 5
(36,674) (19,833)
(1,600) 3,462

@) (1

©) (210)

8,390 5,139

$ 6,778 S 8,390
$ 504 $ 980
6,323 4,712
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (the “Corporation”) is a global alternative asset management company. References in these
financial statements to “Brookfield,” “us,” “we,” “our” or “the company” refer to the Corporation and its direct and indirect
subsidiaries and consolidated entities. The company owns and operates assets with a focus on real estate, renewable power,
infrastructure and private equity. The Corporation is listed on the New York and Toronto stock exchanges under the symbols BAM
and BAMLA, respectively. The Corporation was formed by articles of amalgamation under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario)
and is registered in Ontario, Canada. The registered office of the Corporation is Brookfield Place, 181 Bay Street, Suite 300,

Toronto, Ontario, M5J 2T3.
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

These financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the company on March 26, 2020.
b) Adoption of Accounting Standards

The company has applied new and revised standards issued by the IASB that are effective for the period beginning on or after
January 1, 2019. The new standards were applied as follows:

i. Leases

The company adopted IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) effective January 1, 2019. IFRS 16 gives prescriptive guidance on the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. This standard supersedes IAS 17 Leases (“IAS 17”) and related
interpretations. The company adopted the standard using a modified retrospective approach, whereby any transitional impact is
recorded in equity as at January 1, 2019 and comparative periods are not restated. Please refer to the Transition Impact below for
more information.

Under IFRS 16, the company must assess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control exists if a customer can make the important decisions governing the use of an asset specified in a contract similar to
decisions made over assets owned by the business. The company has elected to not allocate contract consideration between lease
and non-lease components, but rather account for each lease and non-lease component as a single lease component. This election
is made by asset class.

Accounting for lessors remains largely unchanged and the distinction between operating and finance leases is retained. For lessors,
a lease shall be classified as either a finance or operating lease on commencement of the lease contract. If the contract represents
a finance lease in which the risk and rewards of ownership have transferred to the lessee, a lessor shall recognize a finance lease
receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. Subsequently,
finance income is recognized at a constant rate on the net investment of the finance lease. Lease payments received from operating
leases shall be recognized into income on a straight-line or other systematic basis.

For lessees, the distinction between operating and finance leases is eliminated. The company recognizes a right-of-use (“ROU”)
asset and lease liability at the lease commencement date. The ROU asset is initially measured based on the calculated lease liability
plus initial direct costs incurred by the lessee, estimates to dismantle and restore the underlying asset at the end of the lease term
and lease payments made net of incentives received at or before the lease commencement date. It is classified as either investment
property, property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”), or inventory depending on the nature of the asset and is subsequently accounted
for consistently with owned assets within the respective asset classes with the exception of PP&E. Unlike most of the company’s
owned assets within PP&E, lease assets classified within PP&E are subsequently measured applying the cost method rather than
the revaluation method. The ROU asset is depreciated applying a straight-line method or other systematic basis over the shorter
of the useful life of the underlying asset or the term of the lease. Lease contracts often include an option to extend the term of the
lease and such extensions are factored into the lease term if the company is reasonably certain to exercise that option. ROU assets
are tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. Refer to section (d) below for additional details of our
accounting policies governing investment property, PP&E and inventory.
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Lease liabilities are classified within accounts payable and other and are recognized at the commencement of the lease,
initially measured at the present value of future lease payments not paid as at the commencement date, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, or the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate if the implicit rate cannot be readily determined.
Lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost by applying the effective interest method. Lease liabilities are
remeasured if there is reassessment of the timing or amount of future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate,
revisions to estimates of the lease term or residual value guarantee, or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset. Such remeasurements of the lease liability are generally recognized as an adjustment to the ROU asset unless
further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability would reduce a ROU asset below zero in which case it is recorded in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

We are applying certain practical expedients as permitted by the standard; specifically, we have elected to apply practical
expedients associated with short-term and low-value leases that allow the company to record operating expenses on such leases
on a straight-line basis without having to capitalize the lease arrangement. In addition, as required by the standard, variable
lease payments that are not dependent on an index or rate are expensed as incurred.

We have also applied a number of critical judgments in applying this standard, including: i) identifying whether a contract (or part
of a contract) includes a lease; ii) determining whether it is reasonably certain that lease extension or termination options will be
exercised in determining the lease term; and iii) determining whether variable payments are in-substance fixed. Critical estimates
used in the application of IFRS 16 include estimating the lease term and determining the appropriate rate at which to discount the
lease payments.

Transition Impact

The company adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, whereby any transitional impact is recorded in equity
as at January 1, 2019, and comparative periods are not restated and comply with the legacy IAS 17 and related standards.

The company has measured the opening ROU assets at an amount equal to the corresponding lease liabilities, adjusted by any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognized prior to the adoption. In addition, the company has applied
certain transition expedients as permitted by the standard, including the application of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics, adjusting the ROU assets by the amount of any provision for onerous leases recognized
under IAS 37 and accounting for leases with remaining terms of less than 12 months as of January 1, 2019, regardless of the full
life of the lease, as short-term leases. There are no adjustments to opening equity.

The difference between the operating lease commitments disclosed applying IAS 17 as at December 31, 2018 and the amount
recorded as a transition adjustment relates primarily to the impact of discounting the future lease payments to their present value
using incremental borrowing rates, short-term and low-value leases which are expensed as incurred, adjustments as a result of
different treatment for extension and termination options and variable lease payments relating to changes in indices or rates. The
weighted-average incremental borrowing rate as at January 1, 2019 used to measure lease liabilities is approximately 5%.
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The impact of adopting IFRS 16 on our balance sheet is as follows:

Balance at IFRS 16 Balance at
(MILLIONS) Dec. 31,2018 Adjustments Jan. 1, 2019
Assets
TVEIIEOTY ....oveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt et s et eee e et easeseaeseaseseaeaeanenean $ 6,989 $ 22 % 7,011
Investment properties 84,309 928 85,237
Property, plant and eqUIPMENt ............ccceveriiiieeieieieeeeeseee e 67,294 3,416 70,710
OBRET @SSELS ...ttt et e ettt e et e et e e e et e e et e e steeseaeeeeaseesaseesneeas 97,689 — 97,689
TOLAL ASSELS.....c.eeeeniiieieiieiei ettt $ 256,281 § 4366 $ 260,647
Liabilities
Accounts payable and Other ...............cocovveieviieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 23,989 $ 4,366 $ 28,355
Other HADIIEIES.....cueuieeeeieieieeeeiieeiee ettt 135,142 — 135,142
TOtAl HADILIEIES .....eviveveeieiietciieetce ettt bbb esenens 159,131 4,366 163,497
Equity
Preferred €qUILY ......ocvicviiieiiceeeeceee et 4,168 — 4,168
NON-CONLIOIIING INTETESLS. ......cveeveereeererierieriereereete ettt ereereereereereereereeseseeseeneas 67,335 — 67,335
COMMON EQUILY ...cvveuveiesieieeeeeeeeeetetetestessessesteeseesseseessessessessessessessessesseeseessensensanses 25,647 — 25,647
TOtAl EQUILY ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et et e beebeetsetsenseaseresae e 97,150 — 97,150
Total liabilities and eQUILY ...........c.ccveveeerieeeriereeereeeeeeeee e $ 256,281 $ 4,366 $ 260,647

The company recognized ROU assets and lease liabilities of approximately $4.4 billion as at January 1, 2019. The changes relate
primarily to:

+ investment property ground leases of $928 million on certain buildings classified as investment properties within our
Real Estate segment; and

* leases of ROU property, plant and equipment of $3.4 billion across our operating segments, including wind farm ground
leases in our renewable power operations, ports in our infrastructure operations, hospitality assets in our real estate operations,
fuel tanks and other equipment leases in certain of our private equity operations as well as various corporate office leases.

Included in our interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $206 million related to interest on lease liabilities.
We also reported depreciation of $459 million on our ROU assets as well as $63 million of fair value gains on ROU
investment properties.

ii. Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments

In June 2017, the IASB published IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”), effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The interpretation requires an entity to assess whether it is probable that a tax
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be used, by an entity in its income tax filings and to exercise
judgment in determining whether each tax treatment should be considered independently or whether some tax treatments should
be considered together. The decision should be based on which approach provides better predictions of the resolution of the
uncertainty. An entity also has to consider whether it is probable that the relevant authority will accept each tax treatment, or group
of tax treatments, assuming that the taxation authority with the right to examine any amounts reported to it will examine those
amounts and will have full knowledge of all relevant information when doing so. The interpretation has been applied on a modified
retrospective basis without restatement of comparative information. There was no material impact on the company’s 2019
consolidated financial statements.
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iii. Business Combinations

In October 2018, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”), effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2020 with early adoption permitted. The amendment clarifies that a business must include, at
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together contribute to the ability to create outputs, and assists companies in
determining whether an acquisition is a business combination or an acquisition of a group of assets by providing supplemental
guidance for assessing whether an acquired process is substantive. The company has decided to early adopt the amendments to
IFRS 3 effective January 1, 2019 and applied the amended standard in assessing business combinations on a prospective basis.
For acquisitions that are determined to be acquisitions of assets as opposed to business combinations, the company allocates the
transaction price to the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the basis of their relative fair values, and
no goodwill is recognized. Acquisitions that continue to meet the definition of a business combination are accounted for under
the acquisition method, without any changes to the company’s accounting policy. There was no material impact on the company’s
2019 consolidated financial statements.

iv. Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The company adopted Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, issued in September 2019, (“IBOR
Amendments”) effective October 1, 2019 in advance of its mandatory effective date. The IBOR Amendments have been applied
retrospectively to hedging relationships existing at October 1, 2019 or were designated subsequently, and to the amount
accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve at that date. The IBOR Amendments provide temporary relief from applying specific
hedge accounting requirements to the company’s hedging relationships which are directly affected by IBOR reform, which primarily
include US$ LIBOR, £ LIBOR, and € EURIBOR. The reliefs have the effect that IBOR reform should not generally cause hedge
accounting to terminate. In assessing whether a hedge is expected to be highly effective on a forward-looking basis, the company
assumes the interest rate benchmark on which the cash flows of the derivative which hedges borrowings is not altered by IBOR
reform. These reliefs cease to apply to a hedged item or hedging instrument as applicable at the earlier of: (i) when the uncertainty
arising from IBOR reform is no longer present with respect to the timing and amount of the interest rate benchmark-based future
cash flows; and (ii) when the hedging relationship is discontinued. There was no material impact on the company’s 2019
consolidated financial statements.

It is currently expected that Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) will replace US$ LIBOR, Sterling Overnight Index
Average (“SONIA”) will replace £ LIBOR, and Euro Short-term Rate (“€STR”) will replace EURIBOR. All of these are expected
to become effective prior to December 31, 2021. The company is currently finalizing and implementing its transition plan to
address the impact and effect changes as a result of amendments to the contractual terms of IBOR referenced floating-rate
borrowings, interest rate swaps, and interest rate caps.

¢) Future Changes in Accounting Standards
i. Insurance Contracts

In May 2017, the IASB published IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts (“IFRS 17”), which establishes principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts. IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts. In
November 2018, the IASB proposed to defer the effective date of IFRS 17 for insurers that elected the temporary exemption to
be annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. IFRS 17 requires insurance contract liabilities to be measured at a
current fulfillment value and provides a more uniform measurement and presentation approach for all insurance contracts.

The company is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 17 on its operations.

d) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.
i. Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the company and its subsidiaries, which are the entities over which
the company exercises control. Control exists when the company is able to exercise power over the investee, is exposed to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its
returns. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control is obtained and continue to be consolidated until the date when control
is lost. The company includes 100% of its subsidiaries’ revenues and expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
100% of its subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with non-controlling interests in the equity of
the company’s subsidiaries included within the company’s equity. All intercompany balances, transactions, unrealized gains and
losses are eliminated in full.
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The company continually reassesses whether or not it controls an investee, particularly if facts and circumstances indicate there
is a change to one or more of the control criteria previously mentioned. In certain circumstances when the company has less than
a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the company’s voting rights are sufficient to give it control of an investee.

Certain of the company’s subsidiaries are subject to profit sharing arrangements, such as carried interest, between the company
and the non-controlling equity holders, whereby the company is entitled to a participation in profits, as determined under the
agreements. The attribution of net income amongst equity holders in these subsidiaries reflects the impact of these profit sharing
arrangements when the attribution of profits as determined in the agreement is no longer subject to adjustment based on future
events and correspondingly reduces non-controlling interests’ attributable share of those profits.

Gains or losses resulting from changes in the company’s ownership interest of a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control
are accounted for as equity transactions and are recorded within ownership changes as a component of equity. When we dispose
of all or part of a subsidiary resulting in a loss of control, the difference between the carrying value of what is sold and the proceeds
from disposition is recognized within other income and gains in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Refer to Note 2(r) for an explanation of the company’s accounting policy for business combinations and to Note 4 for additional
information on subsidiaries of the company with significant non-controlling interests.

ii. Associates and Joint Ventures

Associates are entities over which the company exercises significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but without control or joint control over those policies. Joint ventures
are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have the rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control over an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The company accounts for associates and
joint ventures using the equity method of accounting within equity accounted investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method are initially recognized at cost. At the time of
initial recognition, if the cost of the associate or joint venture is lower than the proportionate share of the investment’s underlying
fair value, the company records a gain on the difference between the cost and the underlying fair value of the investment in net
income. If the cost of the associate or joint venture is greater than the company’s proportionate share of the underlying fair value,
goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the carrying value of the company’s interest in an associate or joint venture is adjusted for the company’s share of
comprehensive income and distributions of the investee. Profit and losses resulting from transactions with an associate or joint
venture are recognized in the consolidated financial statements based on the interests of unrelated investors in the investee. The
carrying value of associates or joint ventures is assessed for impairment at each balance sheet date. Impairment losses on equity
accounted investments may be subsequently reversed in net income. Further information on the impairment of long-lived assets
is available in Note 2(m).

iii. Joint Operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, related to the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of parties sharing control.
The company recognizes only its assets, liabilities and share of the results of operations of the joint operation. The assets,
liabilities and results of joint operations are included within the respective line items of the Consolidated Balance Sheets,
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

e) Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. dollar is the functional and presentation currency of the company. Each of the company’s subsidiaries, associates, joint
ventures and joint operations determines its own functional currency and items included in the consolidated financial statements
of each subsidiary, associate, joint venture and joint operation are measured using that functional currency.

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations having a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar are translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and revenues and expenses at average rates during the period. Gains or losses on translation
are accumulated as a component of equity. On the disposal of a foreign operation, or the loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, the component of accumulated other comprehensive income relating to that foreign operation is reclassified to net
income. Gains or losses on foreign currency denominated balances and transactions that are designated as hedges of net investments
in these operations are reported in the same manner.
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Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities of the company are translated using the rate of exchange prevailing at
the reporting date and non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the date when the fair value was determined. Revenues and expenses are measured at average rates during the period. Gains or
losses on translation of these items are included in net income. Gains or losses on transactions which hedge these items are also
included in net income. Foreign currency denominated non-monetary assets and liabilities, measured at historic cost, are translated
at the rate of exchange at the transaction date.

f) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and highly liquid short-term investments with original maturities
of three months or less.

g) Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of operations, the company enters into various transactions on market terms with related parties. The majority of
transactions with related parties are between consolidated entities and eliminate on consolidation. The company and its subsidiaries
may also transact with entities over which the company has significant influence or joint control. Amounts owed to and by associates
and joint ventures are not eliminated on consolidation. The company’s subsidiaries with significant non-controlling interests are
described in Note 4 and its associates and joint ventures are described in Note 10.

In addition to our subsidiaries and equity accounted investments, we consider key management personnel, the Board of Directors
and material shareholders to be related parties. See additional details in Note 28.

h) Operating Assets

i. Investment Properties

The company uses the fair value method to account for real estate classified as investment properties. A property is determined
to be an investment property when it is principally held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation, or both. Investment
properties also include properties that are under development or redevelopment for future use as investment property.
Investment properties are initially measured at cost including transaction costs, or at fair value if acquired in a business combination.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
are included in net income during the period in which they arise.

Fair values are completed by undertaking one of two accepted approaches: (i) discounting the expected future cash flows, generally
over a term of 10 years including a terminal value based on the application of a capitalization rate to estimated year 11 net operating
income, typically used for our office, retail and logistics assets; or (ii) undertaking a direct capitalization approach for certain of
our LP investments and directly held multifamily assets whereby a capitalization rate is applied to estimated stabilized annual net
operating income. The future cash flows of each property are based upon, among other things, rental income from current leases
and assumptions about rental income from future leases reflecting current conditions, less future cash outflows relating to such
current and future leases.

Commercial developments are also measured using a discounted cash flow model, net of costs to complete, as of the balance sheet
date. Development sites in the planning phases are carried at cost.

ii. Property, Plant and Equipment

The company uses the revaluation method of accounting for certain classes of property, plant and equipment as well as certain
assets which are under development for future use as property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment measured
using the revaluation method is initially measured at cost, or at fair value if acquired in a business combination, and subsequently
carried at its revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed on an annual basis at the end of each fiscal year, commencing
in the first year subsequent to the date of acquisition, unless there is an indication that assets are impaired. Where the carrying
amount of an asset increases as a result of a revaluation, the increase is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity in revaluation surplus, unless the increase reverses a previously recognized revaluation loss recorded through net income,
in which case that portion of the increase is recognized in net income.

Where the carrying amount of an asset decreases, the decrease is recognized in other comprehensive income to the extent of any
balance existing in revaluation surplus in respect of the asset, with the remainder of the decrease recognized in net income.
Depreciation of an asset commences when it is available for use. On loss of control or partial disposition of an asset measured
using the revaluation method, all accumulated revaluation surplus or the portion disposed of, respectively, is transferred into
retained earnings or ownership changes, respectively.
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Property, plant and equipment held in our Private Equity segment is measured at cost. Land is carried at cost whereas finite-life
assets such as buildings and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Depreciation is calculated on a systematic basis over the assets’ useful life.

Depreciation methods and useful lives are reassessed at least annually regardless of the measurement method used.
Renewable Power

Renewable power generating assets, including assets under development, are classified as property, plant and equipment and are
accounted for using the revaluation method. The company determines the fair value of its renewable power generating assets using
discounted cash flow analysis, which includes estimates of forecasted revenue, operating costs, maintenance and other capital
expenditures. Discount rates are selected for each facility giving consideration to the expected proportion of contracted to
uncontracted revenue and markets into which power is sold.

For perpetual assets, such as many of our hydroelectric facilities, the first 20 years of cash flow are discounted with a residual
value based on the terminal value cash flows. For assets with finite lives, which include wind and solar farms, the company
discounts projected cash flows over the assets’ estimated remaining service lives. The fair value and estimated remaining service
lives are reassessed on an annual basis.

Depreciation on renewable power generating assets is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated service lives of the
assets, which are as follows:

(YEARS) Useful Lives
DIAIMS ...ttt ettt ettt b e be b e et e et e e st e st es b e st e st et e beeteeteeReeRe e st e st en s e b e b e b eeteeteesaestens et enbesentenseas Upto 115
POISTOCKS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e et e e teeteeaeetsetb e s b e st et e beeteeteereeaseatentea b et e ebeebeeteetsessessens et ebebeateereas Up to 60
POWETIOUSES ......ovvieviticee ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e e e teeteeaseaeeat et et e eseeseeseeseeseeseensensenseaseeseeseessersensensensensesenseareeseas Upto 115
Hydroelectric SENETAtINE UNILS.......cceceeveriereieeietieietestestestesteeteeteeteeseessesessessessessessesseeseessessessessessessessessessssssessensessessessessens Upto 115
WiNd GENEIALING UNIES .......ecuieuieiieieiteeteiteeteeteeteeteet et et eetesteeteeteeteeseessessessessessesseeseeseeseessessensensensesseesesssessessessessenseseseaseaseas Up to 41
SOLAT GENETALING UNILS ......cveeveevieveeteeeeeeeeeeeete et e et e eteete et e e et e teeteeteeseeteessessesseseesseseeseeseeseessessensensesessesssessersensenseseesesreereens Up to 30
Gas-fired cogenerating (“CoOZENeration”) UNILS ..........ccccevereeeeeeieriesiesiestestessesseeseesseseessessessessessessessesseessessessessessessessassanes Up to 40
OtRCT @SSELS ....cuviviteitietietiett et ettt e et e e teeteeteettessesbebe st e eseeseeseeseeseessessessessasbesseebeessessessessessensensesseseeseeseensessensensensesestesreans Up to 60

Cost is allocated to the significant components of power generating assets and each component is depreciated separately.

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment in our Brazilian renewable power operations is based on the duration of
the authorization or the useful life of a concession. The weighted-average remaining duration at December 31, 2019 is 32 years
(2018 — 29 years). Land rights are included as part of the concession or authorization and are subject to depreciation.

Infrastructure

Utilities, transport, communication and energy assets within our infrastructure operations as well as assets under development
classified as property, plant and equipment on the Consolidated Balance Sheets are accounted for using the revaluation method.
The company determines the fair value of its utilities, transport, energy and data infrastructure assets using discounted cash flow
analyses, which include estimates of forecasted revenue, operating costs, maintenance and other capital expenditures. Valuations
are performed internally on an annual basis. Discount rates are selected for each asset, giving consideration to the volatility and
geography of its revenue streams.
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Depreciation on utilities, transport, energy and data infrastructure assets is calculated on a straight-line or declining balance basis
over the estimated service lives of the components of the assets, which are as follows:

(YEARS) Useful Lives
BUILAINES ... .ottt ettt ettt ettt et et e e teeteeteessessessessesbe b e beeteeseeseessessensens et e beebeeteetsessersens et ebebeateareas Up to 75
Transmission stations, towers and related fIXTUTES ..........c..ceoeiiiieieieeeeee ettt er e te e ere e ere et eteeseereereereens Up to 40
Leasehold IMPIOVEIMENLS .........ccuevierierierierieiietietietetetestestesteeteeteeseesaessessessessessessesseaseessessessessassassessessenssnssessessensassassessessens Up to 50
Plant and @QUIPIMENL. ..........ccoeieiieiieiieeteeteete ettt ettt ettt ete et e e teeteeteeseessessessessessesseeseeseeseessessensessesassessesssessessessensensesseseasesseas Up to 40
INCEWOTK SYSTEIMIS .......oevivicveetecteeteet et te et te ettt et et et e seeseeseeseeseereeseenees et e seeseessesseasensensensenseeseeseesseseeseessensensensesenseeseanas Up to 65
TTACK ...ttt ettt ettt e tt et b e st et et et e e teeae et e e st e Rt e st e s b e s b e b e b ek e et e et e eseesteRbestensebebeebeeReeseestessensentesentenreans Up to 40
DISHIICT BNEIZY SYSTEIMIS .....cvievieiieeieieeteeteeteeteeteeteett et et eeteeteeteeteeteessessessessessesseeseeseeseessessessensessesessesseessessessessessenseseseaseaseas Up to 50

Gas storage assets Up to 50

The fair value and the estimated remaining service lives are reassessed annually.

Public service concessions that provide the right to charge users for a service in which the service and fee is regulated by the
grantor are accounted for as intangible assets.

In our sustainable resources operations, land used in the production of standing timber, as well as bridges and roads used in
sustainable resources production, are accounted for using the revaluation method and included in property, plant and equipment.
Bridges, roads and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives, generally 3 to 30 years.

Real Estate — Hospitality Assets

Hospitality operating assets within our real estate operations are classified as property, plant and equipment and are accounted for
using the revaluation method. The company determines the fair value for these assets by using a depreciated replacement cost
method based on the age, physical condition and the construction costs of the assets. Fair value of hospitality properties are also
reviewed in reference to each hospitality asset’s enterprise value which is determined using a discounted cash flow model.

Depreciation on hospitality assets is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of the
asset as follows:

(YEARS) Useful Lives
Building and building iMProOVEMENTS .............cc.civieuiiriieiiiieeiiteeetie ettt ere s st s se st esesseseesessesessessesesseseesessesessesessens 5 to 60
Land IMPTOVEIMENLS ........cueeuieiieieieitectesteete ettt ett et et et et e s teeteeteeseessessessessessessesseeseessessessessassansassessesssassessessessensessesensesseas 14to 15
Furniture, fiXtures and ©QUIPIMENL............c..cviiiieieieticteeteete et ete et eseeteeseeteeteeteeseeseeseessesseseeseeseeseessessessessensensessesseaseeseas 2to 15

Private Equity

The company accounts for its private equity property, plant and equipment using the cost model. Costs include expenditures that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation of an asset commences when it is available for use. PP&E is
depreciated for each component of the following asset classes as follows:

On a straight-line basis (YEARs) Useful Lives
BUILAINES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt b et se s ese s e st et e b et e s essese s ess et es s et e s ess et et et e eseseete s es s b eseeae s eseebeseerensenn Up to 50
Leasehold improvements Up to 40
MacChinery and SQUIPIMIENL ...........c.ccveiviiriereirietiereeteett et ect et e et e eteeteeteeteetsessesseseeseeseeseeseeseessessessenseseeseesesssessersensensensenseaseseas Up to 20
VESSCIS. ..ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et s st h et Aeh R At S A AR A e AR e R e st R ARt £ A e s e At s h e R en et a et ettt e s en et eaeseneanenan Up to 35
Not on a straight-line basis Useful Lives
Oil and gas related SQUIPIMIENLT ..........ccccerieiirieiiieieteetet ettt ettt et te st e e ese st eseese e besseseeseseesessesaseseesensesenns Units of production
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iii. Inventory
Private Equity

Fuel inventories within our Private Equity segment are traded in active markets and are purchased with the view to resell in the
near future, generating a profit from fluctuations in prices or margins. As a result, fuel inventories are carried at market value by
reference to prices in a quoted active market, in accordance with the commodity broker-trader exemption granted by IAS 2,
Inventories. Changes in fair value less costs to sell are recognized in direct costs. Fuel products that are held for extended periods
in order to benefit from future anticipated increases in fuel prices or located in territories where no active market exists are
recognized at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Products and chemicals used in the production of biofuels are valued at
the lower of cost and net realizable value.

Real Estate

Residential development lots, homes and residential condominium projects are recorded in inventory. Residential development
lots are recorded at the lower of cost, which includes pre-development expenditures and capitalized borrowing costs and net
realizable value, which the company determines as the estimated selling price of the inventory in the ordinary course of business
in its completed state, less estimated expenses, including holding costs, costs to complete and costs to sell.

Homes and other properties held for sale, which include properties subject to sale agreements, are recorded at the lower of cost
and net realizable value in inventory. Costs are allocated to the salable acreage of each project or subdivision in proportion to the
anticipated revenue.

Residential Development

Inventories consist of land held for development, land under development, homes under construction, completed homes and model
homes. In addition to direct land acquisitions, land development and improvement costs and home construction costs, costs also
include interest, real estate taxes and direct overhead related to development and construction, which are capitalized to inventory
during the period beginning with the commencement of development and ending with the completion of construction or
development. Indirect costs are allocated to homes or lots based on the number of units in a community.

Land and housing assets are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value, which the company determines as the estimated
selling price of the inventory in the ordinary course of business in its completed state, less estimated expenses, including holding
costs, costs to complete and costs to sell.

i) Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the company takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.

Fair value measurement is disaggregated into three hierarchical levels: Level 1, 2 or 3. Fair value hierarchical levels are directly
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurement are observable. The levels are as follows:

Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level 1) are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability
through correlation with market data at the measurement date and for the duration of the asset or liability’s anticipated
life.

Level 3 — Inputs are unobservable and reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and
the risk inherent in the inputs in determining the estimate.

Refer to the investment properties and revaluation of property, plant and equipment explanations for the approach taken to determine
the fair value of these operating assets.

Further information on fair value measurements is available in Notes 6, 7, 11 and 12.

141 BROOKFIELD ASSET MANAGEMENT



j) Accounts Receivable

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less an allowance for expected credit losses for uncollectability.

k) Intangible Assets

Finite life intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses and are
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortization is recorded within depreciation and amortization
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Certain of the company’s intangible assets have an indefinite life as there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset
is expected to generate cash flows. Indefinite life intangible assets are recorded at cost unless an impairment is identified which
requires a write-down to its recoverable amount.

Indefinite life intangible assets are evaluated for impairment annually or more often if events or circumstances indicate there may
be an impairment. Any impairment of the company’s indefinite life intangible assets is recorded in net income in the period in
which the impairment is identified. Impairment losses on intangible assets may be subsequently reversed in net income.

Infrastructure

Intangible assets within our Infrastructure segment primarily consist of service concession arrangements that are accounted for
as intangible assets under IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (“IFRIC 12”). Concession arrangements were mostly
acquired through acquisitions of gas transmission, electricity transmission and toll road businesses and are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the term of the arrangement.

The intangible asset at the Australian regulated terminal operation relates to use of a specific steel and coal port terminal for a
contractual length of time and is amortized over the life of the contractual arrangement with 81 years remaining on a straight-line
basis. The intangible assets at the Brazilian regulated gas transmission operation relate to pipeline concession contracts, amortized
on a straight-line basis over the life of the contractual arrangement. The intangible assets at the Brazilian electricity transmission
operationrelate to electricity transmission line concession contracts, amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the contractual
agreement. The intangible assets at the Chilean, Indian and Peruvian toll roads relate to the right to operate a road and charge users
a specified tariff for a contractual length of time and is amortized over the life of the contractual arrangement with an average of
14, 17 and 23 years remaining, respectively.

Refer to Note 13 of the consolidated financial statements for additional information on these concession arrangements.

The intangible assets at our residential infrastructure operation comprise contractual customer relationships, customer contracts,
proprietary technology and brands. The contractual customer relationships and customer contracts represent ongoing economic
benefits from leasing customers and annuity-based management agreements. Proprietary technology is recognized for the
development of new metering technology, which allows the business to generate revenue through its sub-metering business. Brands
represent the intrinsic value customers place on the operation’s various brand names. Brands are classified as having an indefinite
life and are subject to annual impairment reviews. The remaining intangible assets are amortized straight-line over 10 to 20 years.

Private Equity

Our private equity operations include intangible assets across a number of operating companies. The majority are finite life
intangibles with the following useful lives:

(YEARS) Useful Lives
Water and SEWage CONCESSION AZTCCIMECIILS. ..........ceerveeerrerreereereereereereessesesesseeseeseeseeseeseeseessessessessesseessessessessessesessessessessens Up to 40
BIANA NAMIES ......oviviiviiieieiiecteet ettt ettt ettt et et ettt et e e ete s ese e b e st ese b eseesessese s ess et esses e s ess et essese et essese s essesessesesseseebeseeressesis Up to 20
COMPULET SOTEWATE.........eviiviieieeieiieieteeteet ettt ettt et et et et e st e steebeebeese e st essessassassabesseessessessessessessessenseseaseeseessessessensensesensens Upto 10
CUSTOMET TEIATIONSIIPS ......veiveieieeiiiiieeiecte ettt ettt ettt ettt eteeteeteeteess et e teeseeseeseessessesseseessensenseeseeseeseeseessensensensesenseereens Up to 30
Value of insurance CoNtracts ACUITEA ............c.ocveieuirieriiriierieiereetie et ettt re st ettt teesesseteteseesessesessessesessesssseseesessesessesis Upto 15
Patents and trad@mMArKS .............c.cceviiiiiiiiiiiiiecect ettt et ettt ettt et et et et e teeteete e st eas et et e beebeeteeteersensensensensebebeas Up to 40
Proprietary tECHNOLOZY ..........cveiiiiieeteceecee ettt ettt et ettt et et e et e et e eteeteeteeseeneeas et et eeseeteeasersersensensennereereereas Up to 20
Product deVEIOPIMENT COSLS ........ciiuirieriiririetiietieteteet ettt ettt e et ettt seete s ese s essesess et e s ess et et essesessesessessesessesesseseeressesessess Upto 5
DIStIIDULION NEEWOTKS ...o.viviiieiiciieieiect ettt ettt ettt et et ess e b et e s teeteeseeseeseeseessessessassessesseessessensessensensenseseas Up to 25
LLOYALLY PIOGIAIMN ......ouviiivietieteeeeeeet ettt ettt ettt et ettt e e teeteeteeaeesseasease s eeseeseeseeseeseeseeneensensenseeseessessessersensensensensenseaseas Upto 15
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Real Estate

Intangible assets in our Real Estate segment are primarily trademarks associated with hospitality assets. These assets have
indefinite lives.

1) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the price paid for the acquisition of an entity over the fair value of the net identifiable tangible
and intangible assets and liabilities acquired. Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating unit to which it relates. The company
identifies cash-generating units as identifiable groups of assets that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets.

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment annually or more often if events or circumstances indicate there may be an impairment.
Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing if the carrying value of a cash-generating unit, including the allocated goodwill,
exceeds itsrecoverable amount determined as the greater of the estimated fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. Impairment
losses recognized in respect of a cash-generating unit are first allocated to the carrying value of goodwill and any excess is allocated
to the carrying amount of assets in the cash-generating unit. Any goodwill impairment is recorded in income in the period in which
the impairment is identified. Impairment losses on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. On disposal of a subsidiary, any
attributable amount of goodwill is included in determination of the gain or loss on disposal.

m) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

At each balance sheet date or more often if events or circumstances indicate there may be impairment, the company assesses
whether its assets, other than those measured at fair value with changes in value recorded in net income, have any indication of
impairment. An impairment is recognized if the recoverable amount, determined as the higher of the estimated fair value less costs
of disposal and the discounted future cash flows generated from use and eventual disposal from an asset or cash-generating unit,
is less than their carrying value. Impairment losses are recorded as fair value changes within the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. The projections of future cash flows take into account the relevant operating plans and management’s best estimate
of the most probable set of conditions anticipated to prevail. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the lesser of the revised estimate of its recoverable amount and the carrying
amount that would have been recorded had no impairment loss been recognized previously.

n) Subsidiary Equity Obligations

Subsidiary equity obligations include subsidiary preferred equity units, subsidiary preferred shares and capital securities as well
as limited-life funds and redeemable fund units.

Subsidiary preferred equity units and capital securities are preferred shares that may be settled by a variable number of common
equity units upon their conversion by the holders or the company. These instruments, as well as the related accrued distributions,
are classified as liabilities at amortized cost on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Dividends or yield distributions on these
instruments are recorded as interest expense. To the extent conversion features are not closely related to the underlying liability
the instruments are bifurcated into debt and equity components.

Limited-life funds represent the interests of others in the company’s consolidated funds that have a defined maximum fixed life
where the company has an obligation to distribute the residual interests of the fund to fund partners based on their proportionate
share of the fund’s equity in the form of cash or other financial assets at cessation of the fund’s life.

Redeemable fund units represent interests of others in consolidated subsidiaries that have a redemption feature that requires the
company to deliver cash or other financial assets to the holders of the units upon receiving a redemption notice.

Limited-life funds and redeemable fund units are classified as liabilities and recorded at fair value within subsidiary equity
obligations on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the fair value are recorded in net income in the period of the change.

0) Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), specifies how and when revenue should be recognized and requires
disclosures about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows arising from customer contracts.

Where available, the company has elected the practical expedient available under IFRS 15 for measuring progress toward complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation and for disclosure requirements of remaining performance obligations. This permits the
company to recognize revenue in the amount to which we have the right to invoice such that the company has a right to
the consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the customer for performance completed to date.
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Revenue Recognition Policies by Segment

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service (or a bundle of goods and
services) to the customer and is the unit of account in IFRS 15. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance
obligation and recognized as revenue, as, or when, the performance obligation is satisfied. The company recognizes revenue when
it transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

The company recognizes revenue from the following major sources:

Asset Management

The company’s primary asset management revenue streams, which include base management fees, incentive fees (including
incentive distributions and performance fees) and realized carried interest, are satisfied over time. A significant portion of our
asset management revenue is inter-segment in nature and thus eliminated on consolidation; that which survives is recorded as
revenue in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The company earns base management fees in accordance with contractual arrangements with our long-term private funds, perpetual
strategies and public securities’ investment vehicles. Fees are typically equal to a percentage of fee-bearing capital within the
respective fund or entity and are accrued quarterly. These fees are earned over the period of time that the management services
are provided and are allocated to the distinct services provided by the company during the reporting period.

Incentive distributions and performance fees are incentive payments to reward the company for meeting or exceeding certain
performance thresholds of managed entities. Incentive distributions, paid to us by our listed partnerships, are determined by
contractual arrangements and represent a portion of distributions paid by the listed partnerships above a predetermined hurdle.
They are accrued as revenue on the respective partnerships’ distribution record dates if that hurdle has been achieved. BBU pays
performance fees if the growth in its unit price exceeds a predetermined threshold, with the unit price based on the quarterly
volume-weighted average price of publicly traded units. These fees are accrued on a quarterly basis subject to the performance
of the listed vehicle.

Carried interest is a performance fee arrangement in which we receive a percentage of investment returns, generated within a
private fund on carry eligible capital, based on a contractual formula. We are eligible to earn carried interest from a fund once
returns exceed the fund’s contractually defined performance hurdles at which point we earn an accelerated percentage of the
additional fund profit until we have earned the percentage of total fund profit, net of fees and expenses, to which we are entitled.
We defer recognition of carried interest as revenue until the fund’s cumulative returns exceed its preferred returns and when the
probability of clawback is remote, which is generally met when an underlying fund investment is profitably disposed of. Typically
carried interest is not recognized as revenue until the fund is near the end of its life.

Real Estate

Revenue from hospitality operations is generated by providing accommodation, food and beverage and leisure facilities to hotel
guests. Revenue from accommodation is recognized over the period that the guest stays at the hotel; food and beverage revenue
as well as revenue from leisure activities is recognized when goods and services are provided.

Real estate rental income is recognized in accordance with IFRS 16, Leases. As the company retains substantially all the risks and
benefits of ownership of its investment properties, it accounts for leases with its tenants as operating leases and begins recognizing
revenue when the tenant has a right to use the leased asset. The total amount of contractual rent to be received from operating
leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease; a straight-line or free rent receivable, as applicable, is
recorded as a component of investment property representing the difference between rental revenue recorded and the contractual
amount received. Percentage participating rents are recognized when tenants’ specified sales targets have been met.

Renewable Power

Revenue is earned by selling electricity sourced from our power generating facilities. It is derived from the output delivered and
capacity provided at rates specified under contract terms or at prevailing market rates if the sale is uncontracted. Performance
obligations are satisfied over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes benefits as we deliver electricity and
related products.
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We also sell power and related products under bundled arrangements. Energy, capacity and renewable credits within power purchase
agreements (“PPA”) are considered to be distinct performance obligations. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct
performance obligation and recognized as revenue over time as the performance obligation is satisfied. The sale of energy and
capacity are distinct goods that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer as measured by the output method.
Renewable credits are performance obligations satisfied at a point in time. Measurement of satisfaction and transfer of control to
the customer of renewable credits in a bundled arrangement coincides with the pattern of revenue recognition of the underlying
energy generation.

Infrastructure

Our infrastructure revenue is predominantly recognized over time as services are rendered. Performance obligations are satisfied
based on actual usage or throughput depending on the terms of the arrangement. Contract progress is determined using a cost-to-
cost input method. Any upfront payments that are separable from the recurring revenue are recognized over time for the period
the services are provided.

In addition, we have certain contracts where we earn revenue at a point in time when control of the product ultimately transfers
to the customer, which for our sustainable resources operations coincides with product delivery.

Private Equity

Revenue from our private equity operations primarily consists of: (i) sales of goods or products which are recognized as revenue
when the product is shipped and title passes to the customer; and (ii) the provision of services which are recognized as revenue over
the period of time that they are provided.

Revenuerecognized over a period of time is determined using the cost-to-cost input method to measure progress towards satisfaction
of the performance obligations as the work performed on the contracts creates or enhances an asset that is controlled by the
customer. A contract asset is recognized as costs are incurred and reclassified to accounts receivable when invoiced. A contract
liability is recognized if payments are received before work is completed. Variable consideration, such as claims, incentives and
variations resulting from contract modifications, is included in the transaction price when it is highly probable that such revenue
will not reverse, which is when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Residential Development

Revenue from residential land sales, sales of homes and the completion of residential condominium projects is recognized at the
point in time when our performance obligations are met. Performance obligations are satisfied when we transfer title over a product
to a customer and all material conditions of the sales contract have been met. If title of a property transfers but material future
developmentis required, revenue will be delayed until the point in time at which the remaining performance obligations are satisfied.

Corporate Activities and Other

Dividend and interest income from other financial assets are recognized as revenue when declared or on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 97).

Interest revenue from loans and notes receivable, less a provision for uncollectable amounts, is recorded on the accrual basis using
the effective interest method, in accordance with IFRS 9.

p) Financial Instruments
Classification of Financial Instruments

The company classifies its financial assets as fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”) and amortized cost according to the company’s business objectives for managing the financial assets and
based on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The company classifies its financial liabilities as amortized
cost or FVTPL.

»  Financial instruments that are not held for the sole purpose of collecting contractual cash flows are classified as FVTPL and
are initially recognized at their fair value and are subsequently measured at fair value at each reporting date. Gains and losses
recorded on each revaluation date are recognized within net earnings. Transaction costs of financial assets classified as FVTPL
are expensed in profit or loss.
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»  Financial assets classified as FVTOCI are initially recognized at their fair value and are subsequently measured at fair value
at each reporting date. The cumulative gains or losses related to FVTOCI equity instruments are not reclassified to profit or
loss on disposal, whereas the cumulative gains or losses on all other FVTOCI assets are reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal, when there is a significant or prolonged decline in fair value or when the company acquires a controlling or significant
interest in the underlying investment and commences equity accounting or consolidating the investment. The cumulative
gains or losses on all FVTOCI liabilities are reclassified to profit or loss on disposal.

»  Financial instruments that are held for the purpose of collecting contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest are classified as amortized cost and are initially recognized at their fair value and are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Transaction costs of financial instruments classified as amortized cost
are capitalized and amortized in profit or loss on the same basis as the financial instrument.

Expected credit losses associated with debt instruments carried at amortized cost and FVOCI are assessed on a forward-looking
basis. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Impairment charges are recognized in profit or loss based on the expected credit loss model.

The following table presents the types of financial instruments held by the company within each financial instrument classification:

Financial Instrument Type Measurement
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents Amortized cost

Other financial assets

Government bonds FVTPL, FVTOCI
Corporate bonds FVTPL, FVTOCI
Fixed income securities and other FVTPL, FVTOCI
Common shares and warrants FVTPL, FVTOCI

Loan and notes receivable

Accounts receivable and other!

Financial Liabilities
Corporate borrowings
Property-specific borrowings
Subsidiary borrowings
Accounts payable and other'
Subsidiary equity obligations

FVTPL, Amortized cost
FVTPL, FVTOCI, Amortized cost

Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
FVTPL, Amortized cost
FVTPL, Amortized cost

1. Includes derivative instruments.

Other Financial Assets

Other financial assets are recognized on their trade date and initially recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in
net income or other comprehensive income in accordance with their classification. Fair values of financial instruments are
determined by reference to quoted bid or ask prices, as appropriate. Where bid and ask prices are unavailable, the closing price
of the most recent transaction of that instrument is used.

Other financial assets also include loans and notes receivable which are recorded initially at fair value and, with the exception of
loans and notes receivable designated as FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method,
less any applicable provision for impairment. A provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the
company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Loans and receivables
designated as FVTPL are recorded at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded in net income in the period in which they arise.

Allowance for Credit Losses

For financial assets classified as amortized cost or debt instruments as FVTOCI, at each reporting period, the company assesses
if there has been a significant increase in credit risk since the asset was originated to determine if a 12-month expected credit loss
or a life-time expected credit loss should be recorded regardless of whether there has been an actual loss event. The company uses
unbiased, probability-weighted loss scenarios which consider multiple loss scenarios based on reasonable and supportable forecasts
in order to calculate the expected credit losses.
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The company assesses the carrying value of FVTOCI and amortized cost securities for impairment when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired such as when an asset is in default. Impaired financial assets continue to record life-time expected credit
losses; however interest revenue is calculated based on the net amortized carrying amount after deducting the loss allowance.
When objective evidence of impairment exists, losses arising from impairment are reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income to net income.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting

The company selectively utilizes derivative financial instruments primarily to manage financial risks, including interest rate,
commodity and foreign exchange risks. Derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value within the company’s
consolidated financial statements. Hedge accounting is applied when the derivative is designated as a hedge of a specific exposure
and there is assurance that it will continue to be effective as a hedge based on an expectation of offsetting cash flows or fair values.
Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the derivative no longer qualifies as a hedge or the hedging relationship is
terminated. Once discontinued, the cumulative change in fair value of a derivative that was previously recorded in other
comprehensive income by the application of hedge accounting is recognized in net income over the remaining term of the original
hedging relationship. The assets or liabilities relating to unrealized mark-to-market gains and losses on derivative financial
instruments are recorded in accounts receivable and other or accounts payable and other, respectively.

Items Classified as Hedges

Realized and unrealized gains and losses on foreign exchange contracts designated as hedges of currency risks relating to a net
investment in a subsidiary or an associate are included in equity. Gains or losses are reclassified into net income in the period in
which the subsidiary or associate is disposed of or to the extent that the hedges are ineffective. Where a subsidiary is partially
disposed, and control is retained, any associated gains or costs are reclassified within equity to ownership changes. Derivative
financial instruments that are designated as hedges to offset corresponding changes in the fair value of assets and liabilities and
cash flows are measured at their estimated fair value with changes in fair value recorded in net income or as a component of equity,
as applicable. Unrealized gains and losses on interest rate contracts designated as hedges of future variable interest payments are
included in equity as a cash flow hedge when the interest rate risk relates to an anticipated variable interest payment. The periodic
exchanges of payments on interest rate swap contracts designated as hedges of debt are recorded on an accrual basis as an adjustment
to interest expense. The periodic exchanges of payments on interest rate contracts designated as hedges of future interest payments
are amortized into net income over the term of the corresponding interest payments. Unrealized gains and losses on electricity
contracts designated as cash flow hedges of future power generation revenue are included in equity as a cash flow hedge.
The periodic exchanges of payments on power generation commodity swap contracts designated as hedges are recorded on a
settlement basis as an adjustment to power generation revenue.

Items Not Classified as Hedges

Derivative financial instruments that are not designated as hedges are carried at their estimated fair value, and gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value are recognized in net income in the period in which the change occurs. Realized and unrealized
gains and losses on equity derivatives used to offset changes in share prices in respect of vested deferred share units and restricted
share units are recorded together with the corresponding compensation expense. Realized and unrealized gains on other derivatives
not designated as hedges are recorded in revenues, direct costs or corporate costs, as applicable. Realized and unrealized gains
and losses on derivatives which are considered economic hedges, and where hedge accounting is not able to be elected, are recorded
in fair value changes in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

q) Income Taxes

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be paid to tax authorities, net of recoveries, based
on the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Current and deferred income tax relating to
items recognized directly in equity are also recognized in equity. Deferred income tax liabilities are provided for using the liability
method on temporary differences between the tax bases and carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax assets
are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and for the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to
the extent that it is probable that deductions, tax credits and tax losses can be utilized. The carrying amount of deferred income
tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the income tax assets will
be recovered. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year
when the asset is realized or the liability settled, based on the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date.
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r) Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of a business acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values at the date of exchange of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued
in exchange for control of the acquiree. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognized at
their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets that are classified as held for sale which are recognized and
measured at fair value less costs to sell. The interest of non-controlling shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the
non-controlling shareholders’ proportion of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognized.

To the extent the fair value of consideration paid exceeds the fair value of the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets, the
excess is recorded as goodwill. To the extent the fair value of consideration paid is less than the fair value of net identifiable
tangible and intangible assets, the excess is recognized in net income.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, previously held interests in the acquired entity are re-measured to fair value
at the acquisition date, which is the date control is obtained, and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in net income,
other than amounts transferred directly to retained earnings. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to net income. Transaction costs are
recorded as an expense within fair value changes in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

s) Other Items
i. Capitalized Costs

Capitalized costs related to assets under development and redevelopment include all eligible expenditures incurred in connection
with the acquisition, development and construction of the asset until it is available for its intended use. These expenditures consist
of costs that are directly attributable to these assets.

Borrowing costs are capitalized when such costs are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that takes a substantial period of time to prepare for its intended use.

ii. Share-based Payments

The company issues share-based awards to certain employees and non-employee directors. The cost of equity-settled share-based
transactions, comprised of share options, restricted shares and escrowed shares, is determined as the fair value of the award on
the grant date using a fair value model. The cost of equity-settled share-based transactions is recognized as each tranche vests and
is recorded in contributed surplus as a component of equity. The cost of cash-settled share-based transactions, comprised of
Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”) and Restricted Share Units (“RSUSs”), is measured as the fair value at the grant date, and expensed
on a proportionate basis consistent with the vesting features over the vesting period with the recognition of a corresponding liability.
The liability is recorded as a provision within accounts payable and other and measured at each reporting date at fair value with
changes in fair value recognized in net income.

iii. Provisions

A provision is a liability of uncertain timing that is recognized when the company has a present obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. The company’s significant provisions consist of pensions and other long-term and post-employment
benefits, warranties on some products or services, obligations to retire or decommission tangible long-lived assets and the cost of
legal claims arising in the normal course of operations.

a. Pensions and Other Post-Employment Benefits

The company offers pension and other post-employment benefit plans to employees of certain of its subsidiaries, with certain of
these subsidiaries offering defined benefit plans. Defined benefit pension expenses, which include the current year’s service cost,
are included in direct costs. For each defined benefit plan, we recognize the present value of our defined benefit obligations less
the fair value of the plan assets as a defined benefit liability reported in accounts payable and other on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The company’s obligations under its defined benefit pension plans are determined periodically through the preparation of
actuarial valuations.
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b.  Other Long-Term Incentive Plans

The company provides long-term incentive plans to certain employees whereby the company allocates a portion of the amounts
realized through subsidiary profit-sharing agreements to its employees. The cost of these plans is recognized over the requisite
service period, provided it is probable that the vesting conditions will be achieved, based on the underlying subsidiary profit
sharing arrangement. The liability is recorded within accounts payable and other and measured at each reporting date with the
corresponding expense recognized in direct costs.

c. Warranties, Asset Retirement, Legal and Other

Certain consolidated entities offer warranties on the sale of products or services. A provision is recorded to provide for future
warranty costs based on management’s best estimate of probable warranty claims.

Certain consolidated entities have legal obligations to retire tangible long-lived assets. A provision is recorded at each reporting
date to provide for the estimated fair value of the asset retirement obligation upon decommissioning of the asset period.

In the normal course of operations, the company may become involved in legal proceedings. Management analyzes information
about these legal matters and provides provisions for probable contingent losses, including estimated legal expenses to resolve
the matters. Internal and external legal counsel are used in order to estimate the probability of an unfavorable outcome and the
amount of loss.

t) Critical Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the carried amounts of
certain assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
recorded during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

In making estimates and judgments, management relies on external information and observable conditions, where possible,
supplemented by internal analysis as required. These estimates and judgments have been applied in a manner consistent with prior
periods and there are no known trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that the company believes will materially affect the
methodology or assumptions utilized in making estimates and judgments in these consolidated financial statements.

i. Critical Estimates

The significant estimates used in determining the recorded amount for assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
include the following:

a. Investment Properties

The critical assumptions and estimates used when determining the fair value of commercial properties are: discount rates and
terminal capitalization rates for properties valued using a discounted cash flow model and capitalization rates for properties valued
using a direct capitalization approach. Management also uses assumptions and estimates in determining expected future cash flows
in discounted cash flow models and stabilized net operating income used in values determined using the direct capitalization
approach. Properties under development are recorded at fair value using a discounted cash flow model which includes estimates
in respect of the timing and cost to complete the development.

Further information on investment property estimates is provided in Note 11.
b.  Revaluation Method for Property, Plant and Equipment

When determining the carrying value of property, plant and equipment using the revaluation method, the company uses the
following critical assumptions and estimates: the timing of forecasted revenues; future sales prices and associated expenses; future
sales volumes; future regulatory rates; maintenance and other capital expenditures; discount rates; terminal capitalization rates;
terminal valuation dates; useful lives; and residual values. Determination of the fair value of property, plant and equipment under
development includes estimates in respect of the timing and cost to complete the development.

Further information on estimates used in the revaluation method for property, plant and equipment is provided in Note 12.
¢. Financial Instruments

Estimates and assumptions used in determining the fair value of financial instruments are: equity and commodity prices; future
interest rates; the credit worthiness of the company relative to its counterparties; the credit risk of the company’s counterparties;
estimated future cash flows; the amount of the liability and equity components of compound financial instruments; discount rates
and volatility utilized in option valuations.
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Further information on estimates used in determining the carrying value of financial instruments is provided in Notes 6, 26 and 27.

d. Inventory

The company estimates the net realizable value of its inventory using estimates and assumptions about future development costs,
costs to hold and future selling costs.

e. Sustainable Resources

The fair value of standing timber and agricultural assets is based on the following estimates and assumptions: the timing of
forecasted revenues and prices; estimated selling costs; sustainable felling plans; growth assumptions; silviculture costs; discount
rates; terminal capitalization rates; and terminal valuation dates.

f- Other

Other estimates and assumptions utilized in the preparation of the company’s consolidated financial statements are: the assessment
or determination of net recoverable amount; oil and gas reserves; depreciation and amortization rates and useful lives; estimation
of recoverable amounts of cash-generating units for impairment assessments of goodwill and intangible assets; ability to utilize tax
losses and other tax measurements; fair value of assets held as collateral and the percentage of completion for construction contracts.

ii. Critical Judgments

Management is required to make critical judgments when applying its accounting policies. The following judgments have the
most significant effect on the consolidated financial statements:

a. Control or Level of Influence

When determining the appropriate basis of accounting for the company’s investees, the company makes judgments about the
degree of influence that it exerts directly or through an arrangement over the investees’ relevant activities. This may include
the ability to elect investee directors or appoint management. Control is obtained when the company has the power to direct the
relevant investing, financing and operating decisions of an entity and does so in its capacity as principal of the operations, rather
than as an agent for other investors. Operating as a principal includes having sufficient capital at risk in any investee and exposure
to the variability of the returns generated as a result of the decisions of the company as principal. Judgment is used in determining
the sufficiency of the capital at risk or variability of returns. In making these judgments, the company considers the ability of other
investors to remove the company as a manager or general partner in a controlled partnership.

b. Investment Properties

When applying the company’s accounting policy for investment properties, judgment is applied in determining whether certain
costs are additions to the carrying amount of the property and, for properties under development, identifying the point at which
practical completion of the property occurs and identifying the directly attributable borrowing costs to be included in the carrying
value of the development property.

¢. Property, Plant and Equipment

The company’s accounting policy for its property, plant and equipment requires critical judgments over the assessment of carrying
value, whether certain costs are additions to the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as opposed to repairs and
maintenance, and for assets under development the identification of when the asset is capable of being used as intended
and identifying the directly attributable borrowing costs to be included in the asset’s carrying value.

For assets that are measured using the revaluation method, judgment is required when estimating future prices, volumes, discount
and capitalization rates. Judgment is applied when determining future electricity prices considering broker quotes for the years in
which there is a liquid market available and, for the subsequent years, our best estimate of electricity prices from renewable sources
that would allow new entrants into the market.

d. Identifying Performance Obligations for Revenue Recognition

Management is required to identify performance obligations relating to contracts with customers at the inception of each contract.
IFRS 15 requires a contract’s transaction price to be allocated to each distinct performance obligation and subsequently recognized
into income when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. Judgment is used when assessing the pattern of delivery of the
product or service to determine if revenue should be recognized at a point in time or over time. For certain service contracts
recognized over time, judgment is required to determine if revenue from variable consideration such as incentives, claims and
variations from contract modifications has met the required probability threshold to be recognized.
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Management also uses judgment to determine whether contracts for the sale of products and services have distinct performance
obligations that should be accounted for separately or as a single performance obligation. Goods and services are considered
distinct if: (1) a customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the customer; and (2) the entity’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable
from other promises in the contract.

Additional details about revenue recognition policies across our operating segments are included in Note 2(0) of the consolidated
financial statements.

e. Common Control Transactions

The purchase and sale of businesses or subsidiaries between entities under common control are not specifically addressed in IFRS
and accordingly, management uses judgment when determining a policy to account for such transactions taking into consideration
other guidance in the IFRS framework and pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies. The company’s policy is to record
assets and liabilities recognized as a result of transfers of businesses or subsidiaries between entities under common control at
carrying value. Differences between the carrying amount of the consideration given or received and the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities transferred are recorded directly in equity.

1 Indicators of Impairment

Judgment is applied when determining whether indicators of impairment exist when assessing the carrying values of the company’s
assets, including: the determination of the company’s ability to hold financial assets; the estimation of a cash-generating unit’s future
revenues and direct costs; the determination of discount and capitalization rates; and when an asset’s carrying value is above the
value derived using publicly traded prices which are quoted in a liquid market.

g.  Income Taxes

The company makes judgments when determining the future tax rates applicable to subsidiaries and identifying the temporary
differences that relate to each subsidiary. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply during the period when the assets are realized or the liabilities settled, using the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the consolidated balance sheet dates. The company measures deferred income taxes associated with its investment
properties based on its specific intention with respect to each asset at the end of the reporting period. Where the company has a
specific intention to sell a property in the foreseeable future, deferred taxes on the building portion of an investment property are
measured based on the tax consequences that would follow the disposition of the property. Otherwise, deferred taxes are measured
on the basis the carrying value of the investment property will be recovered substantially through use.

h. Classification of Non-Controlling Interests in Limited-Life Funds

Non-controlling interests in limited-life funds are classified as liabilities (subsidiary equity obligations) or equity (non-controlling
interests) depending on whether an obligation exists to distribute residual net assets to non-controlling interests on liquidation in
the form of cash or another financial asset or assets delivered in kind. Judgment is required to determine what the governing
documents of each entity require or permit in this regard.

i. Other

Other critical judgments include the determination of effectiveness of financial hedges for accounting purposes; the likelihood
and timing of anticipated transactions for hedge accounting; and the determination of functional currency.

3. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
a) Operating Segments

Our operations are organized into five operating business groups in addition to our corporate and asset management activities,
which collectively represent seven operating segments for internal and external reporting purposes. We measure performance
primarily using funds from operations (“FFO”) generated by each operating segment and the amount of capital invested by
the Corporation in each segment using common equity by segment.

Our operating segments are as follows:

i.  Asset management operations include managing our long-term private funds, perpetual strategies and public securities on
behalf of our investors and ourselves, as well as our share of the asset management activities of Oaktree Capital Management
(“Oaktree”). We generate contractual base management fees for these activities as well as incentive distributions and
performance income, including performance fees, transaction fees and carried interest.
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ii.  Real estate operations include the ownership, operation and development of core office, core retail, LP investments and other
properties.

iii. Renewable power operations include the ownership, operation and development of hydroelectric, wind, solar, storage and
other power generating facilities.

iv. Infrastructure operations include the ownership, operation and development of utilities, transport, energy, data infrastructure
and sustainable resource assets.

v.  Private equity operations include a broad range of industries, and are mostly focused on business services, infrastructure
services and industrials.

vi. Residential development operations consist of homebuilding, condominium development and land development.

vii. Corporate activities include the investment of cash and financial assets, as well as the management of our corporate leverage,
including corporate borrowings and preferred equity, which fund a portion of the capital invested in our other operations.
Certain corporate costs such as technology and operations are incurred on behalf of our operating segments and allocated to
each operating segment based on an internal pricing framework.

b) Segment Financial Measures

FFO is a key measure of our financial performance and our segment measure of profit and loss. It is utilized by our Chief Operating
Decision Maker in assessing operating results and the performance of our businesses on a segmented basis. We define FFO as net
income excluding fair value changes, depreciation and amortization and deferred income taxes, net of non-controlling interests.
When determining FFO, we include our proportionate share of the FFO from equity accounted investments on a fully diluted
basis. FFO also includes realized disposition gains and losses, which are gains or losses arising from transactions during the
reporting period, adjusted to include associated fair value changes and revaluation surplus recorded in prior periods, taxes payable
or receivable in connection with those transactions and amounts that are recorded directly in equity, such as ownership changes.

We use FFO to assess our performance as an asset manager and as an investor in our assets. FFO from our Asset Management
segment includes fees, net of the associated costs, that we earn from managing capital in our listed partnerships, private funds and
public securities accounts. We are also eligible to earn incentive payments in the form of incentive distributions, performance fees
or carried interest. As an investor in our assets, our FFO represents the company’s share of revenues less costs incurred within our
operations, which include interest expenses and other costs. Specifically, it includes the impact of contracts that we enter into to
generate revenues, including power sales agreements, contracts that our operating businesses enter into such as leases and take or
pay contracts and sales of inventory. FFO includes the impact of changes in leverage or the cost of that financial leverage and
other costs incurred to operate our business.

We use realized disposition gains and losses within FFO in order to provide additional insight regarding the performance of
investments on a cumulative realized basis, including any unrealized fair value adjustments that were recorded in equity and not
otherwise reflected in current period FFO, and believe it is useful to investors to better understand variances between reporting
periods. We exclude depreciation and amortization from FFO as we believe that the value of most of our assets typically increases
over time, provided we make the necessary maintenance expenditures, the timing and magnitude of which may differ from the
amount of depreciation recorded in any given period. In addition, the depreciated cost base of our assets is reflected in the ultimate
realized disposition gain or loss on disposal. As noted above, unrealized fair value changes are excluded from FFO until the period
in which the asset is sold. We also exclude deferred income taxes from FFO because the vast majority of the company’s deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are a result of the revaluation of our assets under IFRS.

Our definition of FFO may differ from the definition used by other organizations, as well as the definition of FFO used by the
Real Property Association of Canada (“REALPAC”) and the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, Inc.
(“NAREIT”), in part because the NAREIT definition is based on U.S. GAAP, as opposed to IFRS. The key differences between
our definition of FFO and the determination of FFO by REALPAC and/or NAREIT are that we include the following: realized
disposition gains or losses and cash taxes payable or receivable on those gains or losses, if any; foreign exchange gains or losses
on monetary items not forming part of our net investment in foreign operations; and foreign exchange gains or losses on the sale
of an investment in a foreign operation. We do not use FFO as a measure of cash generated from our operations.

We illustrate how we derive FFO for each operating segment and reconcile total FFO to net income in Note 3(c)(v) of the
consolidated financial statements.

Segment Balance Sheet Information

We use common equity by segment as our measure of segment assets when reviewing our deconsolidated balance sheet because
it is utilized by our Chief Operating Decision Maker for capital allocation decisions.
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Segment Allocation and Measurement

Segment measures include amounts earned from consolidated entities that are eliminated on consolidation. The principal adjustment
is to include asset management revenues charged to consolidated entities as revenues within the company’s Asset Management
segment with the corresponding expense recorded as corporate costs within the relevant segment. These amounts are based on
the in-place terms of the asset management contracts between the consolidated entities. Inter-segment revenues are determined

under terms that approximate market value.

The company allocates the costs of shared functions that would otherwise be included within its Corporate Activities segment,
such as information technology and internal audit, pursuant to formal policies.

¢) Reportable Segment Measures

AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR

Residential

FI\]/\[IREII)O%Esg 31,2019 ManageAnf:fl: Real Estate Renel;)\(/;b)‘l;; Infrastructure I;Er(ll\lﬁs D evelopmer: i%?\zrt?&tzz Segrg&(z)r:?sl Note
External revenues ............... $ 271§ 10,442 § 3959 § 7,091 § 43,099 § 2,456 508 $ 67,826
Inter-segment and other

revenues 2,343 33 15 2 479 — (49) 2,823 i
Segmented revenues .. 2,614 10,475 3,974 7,093 43,578 2,456 459 70,649
FFO from equity accounted

investments .. . 43 1,049 74 1,100 320 41 14 2,641 ii
Interest expense ... — (3,469) (923) (937) (1,536) (66) (349) (7,280) iii
Current income taxes.......... — (165) (73) (255) (326) (37) (114) (970) iv
Funds from operations'....... 1,597 1,185 333 464 844 125 (359) 4,189 v
Common equity .................. 4,927 18,781 5,320 2,792 4,086 2,859 (7,897) 30,868
Equity accounted

investments .................... 4,599 22,314 1,154 8,972 2,596 382 681 40,698
Additiops to non-current 4,654 17,915 2207 17,352 19,825 88 617 62,658

1. We equity account for our investment in Oaktree and include our share of the FFO and FFO from equity accounted investments at 61%. However, for segment reporting,
Oaktree’s revenue is shown on a 100% basis. For the year ended December 31, 2019, $231 million of Oaktree’s revenues was included in our Asset Management segment

revenue.

2. Includes equity accounted investments, investment properties, property, plant and equipment, sustainable resources, intangible assets and goodwill. Excludes non-current

assets recognized on adoption of IFRS 16.

é}i SES ng ?1{ El(;llEgY EAR Asset Renewable Private Residential Corporate Total
(MILLIONS) Management Real Estate Power Infrastructure Equity  Development Activities Segments  Note
External revenues................ $ 187 $ 8,075 $ 3,751  $ 5013 $ 36,828 $ 2,683 234§ 56,771
Inter-segment revenues ....... 1,760 41 11 5 442 — (46) 2,213 i
Segmented revenues... 1,947 8,116 3,762 5,018 37,270 2,683 188 58,984
FPO from equity accounted — 945 46 846 526 15 (6) 2372 i
Interest expense... . — (2,464) (930) (586) (520) 57 (323) (4,880) i
Current income taxes .......... — (213) (32) (326) (186) (45) (59) 861) v
Funds from operations ........ 1,317 1,786 328 602 795 49 (476) 4,401 v
Common equity............ 328 17,423 5,302 2,887 4279 2,606 (7,178) 25,647
Equity accounted

investments...................... — 22,949 685 7,636 1,943 395 39 33,647
Additiops to non-current - 51111 3,729 10,524 10,139 124 190 75,817

1. Includes equity accounted investments, investment properties, property, plant and equipment, sustainable resources, intangible assets and goodwill.

i. Inter-Segment Revenues

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the adjustment to external revenues when determining segmented revenues consists of
asset management revenues earned from consolidated entities and our investment in Oaktree totaling $2.3 billion (2018 —
$1.8 billion), revenues earned on construction projects between consolidated entities totaling $450 million (2018 — $430 million),
and interest income and other revenues totaling $30 million (2018 — $23 million), which were eliminated on consolidation to

arrive at the company’s consolidated revenues.
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ii. FFO from Equity Accounted Investments

The company determines FFO from its equity accounted investments by applying the same methodology utilized in adjusting net
income of consolidated entities. The following table reconciles the company’s consolidated equity accounted income to FFO from
equity accounted investments:

{ﬁﬁﬂg}\l\é?ARs ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
Consolidated equity acCOUNtEd INCOMIE............ocvevieriierieierietiiereeteeeete ettt ese et te s se et b se s essesesaeseeresseseas $ 2498 §$§ 1,088
Non-FFO items from equity accounted investments' . 143 1,284
FFO from equity accounted iNVESTMENTS..............ccocvevereereerreeriereereereeteeeeeeeteeteeseeseeseeseessenseseeseeseeseeseereessensens $ 2641 § 2372

1. Adjustment to back out non-FFO expenses (income) that are included in consolidated equity accounted income including depreciation and amortization, deferred taxes
and fair value changes from equity accounted investments.

iii. Interest Expense

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the adjustment to interest expense consists of interest on loans between consolidated
entities totaling $53 million (2018 — $26 million) that is eliminated on consolidation, along with the associated revenue.

iv. Current Income Taxes

Current income taxes are included in FFO but are aggregated with deferred income taxes in income tax expense on the company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The following table reconciles consolidated income taxes to current and deferred
income taxes:

5\(/;5 THE \g})EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
Current INCOME LAX EXPEIISE .......cveereereererrieriereereereeseeseesseseeseeseeseessessessessessesessesseeseeseessessessessessessessesseessessessenes $ 970) $ (861)
Deferred INCOME taX TECOVETY ........cveirriieriiereirisietesseseesestetesseseesesesesseseesesseseesessesesseseesessesesseseesassesesseseesessesenns 475 1,109
INCOME tAX (EXPEINSE) TECOVETY .....ecvreueerrerrerteiriisieseeseeseessessessessasseeseeseessessessassassessessesseassessassessessessessessessesssesseses $ 495) §$ 248

v. Reconciliation of Net Income to Total FFO

The following table reconciles net income to total FFO:

(FI\%RL THE \g})EARS ENDED DEC. 31 Note 2019 2018
INEE ITICOIIIE ..ottt ettt e e e et e a e et et et e e e e e e eeaeeeeeaeeae et et et eeeeeeeeseeae et et eeneeneeneaeenaenee $ 5354 $§ 7488
Realized disposition gains in fair value changes or €qUILY ...........ccccecivveeeerieieeeeeeeeeeeeee e vi 621 1,445

Non-controlling interests in FFO (7,161) (6,015)

Financial statement components not included in FFO

Equity accounted fair value changes and other non-FFO items............cccocoevvviiiinieiniieiiceennen 143 1,284
Fair value Changes .........ccociiiiiiiiicicceee ettt ettt sb e e st beeteeseesaesaessensensens 831 (1,794)
Depreciation and amOTtIZAtION..............c.ccueeieieieiereecteeteete ettt eee et et esteereeseereereeteessessesseseeseeseaseas 4,876 3,102
DEferred INCOME tAXES ......vevievierieeeeeeeeecteeteeteeteete ettt et e s e ereereereeseeseeseenseseeseeseeseessessensensensesneereens 475) (1,109)
TOTAL FFO ..ottt ettt b et s et st s b et st s e s et ese s esese st esesesensesesenesanas $ 4189 § 4401

vi. Realized Disposition Gains

Realized disposition gains include gains and losses recorded in net income arising from transactions during the current period,
adjusted to include fair value changes and revaluation surplus recorded in prior periods in connection with the assets sold. Realized
disposition gains also include amounts that are recorded directly in equity as changes in ownership, as opposed to net income,
because they result from a change in ownership of a consolidated entity.

The realized disposition gains recorded in fair value changes, revaluation surplus or directly in equity were $621 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019 (2018 — $1.4 billion), of which $284 million relates to prior periods (2018 — $1.1 billion),
$258 million has been recorded directly in equity as changes in ownership (2018 — $242 million) and $79 million has been recorded
in fair value changes (2018 — $95 million).
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d) Geographic Allocation

The company’s revenues by location of operations are as follows:

{ﬁﬁ{%%vYS})EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
TUTEEA SEALES ...ttt ettt ettt e e e e eu e e et eaeeee et e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeae et e s e s eeseeseeeeeae et et eseeseeaeseeseeseeeeeenesnen $ 16,584 $ 9,756
(O 1TV ST OTR OO 6,202 6,422
UNIted KINGAOM .....eiviiiiiiiieieteeetee ettt ettt ettt ettt et teete e st esaessesbabesseeseessessessassassassessasseeseesaasaans 21,847 23,684
BUTOPC. ...ttt ettt et e ettt e e te e teeete e be et e eabeesbeeabeesbeetbeebeeeteebeebeenbeenbeenreenaeenaanns 6,285 3,275
AAUSTITALIA ..ottt et ettt ettt et e ettt et et et e et e et e ea e et e e te et e et e eteeaae et e eaeeereens 5,522 4,968
BIAZIL ..ottt ettt bt a et bt e stttk e R et s et et sk eRe e s et et et s esese s eseteneteseteneanas 4,099 4,048
AASTA. .ttt ettt et b et ettt s et bt ae s bt st b st e Rt s bt ae b e bt b e s et e st b tese s s et ess s s esennanes 2,402 1,643
(1) e} 1 1153 - TR 2,095 1,594
OBRET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt bt e st s et e st b et e st b e s ea et s et e RS a et n AR e R ea st sese e bt e s et s et ene s s esene s s e 2,790 1,381
S 186 5 ST
The company’s consolidated assets by location are as follows:
Ao 2019 2018
UNIEEA STALES ..ottt ettt et e et e et e e et e ee e e e e e e e eaeeeaeeseee et e saeeeaee e e eaeeeeeesesmsesenesneeseeesaeens $ 149,687 $ 128,808
CANAAA ...ttt ettt e et e et e et e e et e et e e et e e eeat e e et e e et teeeate e et e e sateeente e e aeeeateeerteesaeesneas 35,840 27,850
UNIEEd KINGAOM ......oivieeiiiicceceeeeeetee ettt et ettt e v et teeteeaeeae e s et et e seeseeasensensensenseseeseereereeseereeneens 30,184 23,093
53 2 ) USSR 24,354 22,539
BUTOPE. ...ttt ettt et et e et e e bt e s ae e teeste e be et e e beesbeeabeeabeetba bt e etaenbeeteenbeenbeenseenaenraanns 19,404 13,250
J N 16 21 T RSO TRORRRTRTRRR 22,971 13,309
2N OO 17,468 10,479
COLOMIDIA ...ttt ettt et e et e e eae e e et e e e et e eeaeeeeateeeaseeeenteesaseesaseesenteesaaeeenseesesaeessaeesaneas 10,819 9,862
OBRET ...ttt ettt h etttk a et b bt e ekt S h ekt h Rtttk R et b stttk n et b et eenene 13,242 7,091

$ 323,969

4. SUBSIDIARIES

The following table presents the details of the company’s subsidiaries with significant non-controlling interests:

Ownership Interest Held by
Non-Controlling Interests"

Jurisdiction of

$ 256,281

2

AS AT DEC. 31 Formation 2019 2018

Brookfield Property Partners L.P. (“BPY™).....ccccoeiririiiiiieeeeeceeeeeeeiae Bermuda 44.8% 46.2%
Brookfield Renewable Partners L.P. (“BEP”) ........ccccceeveiiiievieieieceeececeeeiens Bermuda 39.5% 39.5%
Brookfield Infrastructure Partners L.P. (“BIP”) ........cccccooviviiicieieieieeieeeeens Bermuda 70.4% 70.5%
Brookfield Business Partners L.P. (“BBU”).........ccccovevvevveveeeeeceeeeeeeeeeeeeenes Bermuda 37.3% 32.0%

1. Control and associated voting rights of the limited partnerships (BPY, BEP, BIP and BBU) resides with their respective general partners which are wholly owned subsidiaries
of the company. The company’s general partner interest is entitled to earn base management fees and incentive payments in the form of incentive distribution rights or

performance fees.

2. The company’s ownership interest in BPY, BEP, BIP and BBU includes a combination of redemption-exchange units (REUs), Class A limited partnership units, special
limited partnership units, general partnership units and units or shares that are exchangeable for units in our listed partnerships, in each subsidiary, where applicable. Each
of BPY, BEP, BIP and BBU’s partnership capital includes its Class A limited partnership units whereas REUs and general partnership units are considered non-controlling
interests for the respective partnerships. REUs share the same economic attributes in all respects except for the redemption right attached thereto. The REUs and general
partnership units participate in earnings and distributions on a per unit basis equivalent to the per unit participation of the Class A limited partnership units of the subsidiary.
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The table below presents the exchanges on which the company’s subsidiaries with significant non-controlling interests were
publicly listed as of December 31, 2019:

TSX NYSE Nasdaq
BPY bbbtttk aeaen BPY.UN N/A BPY
BEP ...t BEP.UN BEP N/A
BIP .ottt nen BIP.UN BIP N/A
BBU .ttt bbbkttt ettt aeben BBU.UN BBU N/A

The following table outlines the composition of accumulated non-controlling interests presented within the company’s consolidated
financial statements:

ASATDECS! 2019 2018
BPY .ot $ 29,165 $ 31,580
BEP ..ot cecestste st 13,321 12,457
BIP ..ot 20,036 12,752
BBU ....oooeeeteeeee e 8,664 4,477

................................................................. 10,647 6,069
$ 81,833 $§ 67335

All publicly listed entities are subject to independent governance. Accordingly, the company has no direct access to the assets of
these subsidiaries. Summarized financial information with respect to the company’s subsidiaries with significant non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarized financial information represents amounts before intra-group eliminations:

BPY BEP BIP BBU
gﬁﬁ%’;‘\g)m”% YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Current assetsS.........coeveeereeenreninenieenenns $ 328 § 7,114 $ 1474 § 1961 $ 5841 §$ 2276 $12,795 § 9,781
Non-current assets ...........ccccueeecueeeereenen. 108,354 115,406 34,217 32,142 50,467 34,304 38,956 17,537
Current 1iabilities ..........ccccecveverieirieinnennnn (12,466) (10,306)  (1,678)  (1,689)  (5,439) (2,417) (11,024) (9,016)
Non-current liabilities..............c.ccooveuennene. (54,242) (65,474) (15,882) (15,208) (28,692) (19,495) (29,674) (11,808)
Non-controlling interests ......................... (29,165) (31,580) (13,321) (12,457) (20,036) (12,752)  (8,664)  (4,477)

Equity attributable to Brookfield . $15770 $15160 $ 4,810 $ 4749 §$ 2,141 § 1916 $ 2,389 § 2,017

REVENUES.....ocveeiiieieiiieieieeeeiec e $ 8203 $ 7239 $ 2980 $ 2982 § 6,597 $ 4,652 $43,032 § 37,168
Net income (loss) attributable to: -
Non-controlling interests . $2091 $ 2356 $ 348 § 401 $ 636 $ 724 $ 353 $ 1,106
Shareholders............cccoeevvvvevcieieieenen. 1,066 1,298 (75) 2 14 82 81 97

Other comprehensive income (loss)
attributable to:

Non-controlling interests....................... $ 234§ (122) $ 1,179 $ 2292 $ 486 S (859) $ (159) $ (292)
Shareholders 89 (294) 546 972 104 (86) (39) (96)
$ 323 $ (416) $ 1,725 $ 3264 $ 590 $ (945 $ (198) $ (388)
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The summarized cash flows of the company’s subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests are as follows:

BPY BEP BIP BBU

(F,\‘A)M%NEEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Cash flows from (used in):

Operating activities .........cocoevererervevennne. $ 624 $ 1357 $ 1,212 § 1,103 $ 2,043 §$ 1362 $ 2,163 $ 1,341

Financing activities ...........cccecvrerveuenennnes (892) 8,873 (1,010)  (1,080) 9,542 4,418 15,925 3,561

Investing activities ...........ccceeeerecnnenene (1,611)  (8,400) (251) (624) (11,372)  (5,564) (17,939)  (3,999)
Distributions paid to non-controlling

interests in common equity.................... $ 576 $ 427 $§ 254 § 244 $ 628 §$§ 558 § 13§ 11

5. ACQUISITIONS OF CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

a) Completed During 2019

The following table summarizes the balance sheet impact as a result of business combinations that occurred in the year ended
December 31, 2019. The valuations of the assets acquired are still under evaluation and as such the business combinations have
been accounted for on a provisional basis:

Renewable
Power and
(MILLIONS) Private Equity Infrastructure Real Estate Other Total
Cash and cash equivalents...........c..cccc.c.... $ 344 §$ 9% 3 31§ 6 $ 475
Accounts receivable and other 6,706 553 114 110 7,483
Assets classified as held for sale — 1,584 — — 1,584
Inventory .......cooeeevieiieiieieeeeeeeee, 2,230 74 46 13 2,363
Equity accounted investments.................. 847 48 — — 895
Investment properties............ceeververvenenne. — 211 3,458 — 3,669
Property, plant and equipment.................. 6,650 8,710 785 1,308 17,453
Intangible assets ..........c.coveeererreeeenirenes 7,057 3,248 28 — 10,333
GoodWill......cooeiiiie e 3,479 2,644 2 — 6,125
Deferred income tax assets..........cccceevuene 363 46 — — 409
Total aSSeLS ....vevvvveniereieieieieeeeeeeiee 27,676 17,212 4,464 1,437 50,789
Less:
Accounts payable and other................... (5,025) (2,425) (2,394) (101) (9,945)
Non-recourse borrowings................c..... (1,084) (1,980) (537) (319) (3,920)
Deferred income tax liabilities .............. (1,142) (1,248) — (36) (2,426)
Non-controlling interests’ .........coooeee... (1,749) (828) (88) — (2,665)
(9,000) (6,481) (3,019) (456) (18,956)
Net assets acquired............coceeveevereevereennn. $ 18,676 $ 10,731  $ 1,445 § 981 $ 31,833
Consideration” ...........c....coooerrreveerionnenneens $ 18,672 $ 10,731 $ 1,445 $ 981 § 31,829

1. Includes non-controlling interests recognized on business combinations measured as the proportionate share of fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities on the
date of acquisition.

2. Total consideration, including amounts paid by non-controlling interests that participated in the acquisition as investors in Brookfield-sponsored private funds or as
co-investors.

Brookfield recorded $7.6 billion of revenue and $635 million of net losses in 2019 from the acquired operations as a result of the
acquisitions made during the year. If the acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of the year, they would have contributed
$14.7 billion and $189 million to total revenue and net income, respectively. The difference in our net losses since acquisition
date compared to net income had we held our investments since January 1 primarily relate to the timing of acquisitions during the
year as those with large contributors to net income were purchased in late 2019. In addition, our post-acquisition margins were
reduced from the step-up in inventory costs resulting from purchase price allocations as well as restructuring costs in certain of
our acquisitions.
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The following table summarizes the balance sheet impact as a result of significant business combinations that occurred in 2019.
The valuations of the assets acquired are still under evaluation and as such the business combinations have been accounted for on
a provisional basis.

Real Renewable

Private Equity Infrastructure Estate Power
East-West ~ Genesee & Aveo
(MILLIONS) Clarios  Healthscope Genworth Pipeline Wyoming  NorthRiver Group Arcadia
Cash and cash equivalents ..... $ 11 3 25 253§ — 3 67 $ 2 3 27 $ 3
Accounts receivable and
OhET oo 1,503 196 4,796 66 461 — 92 31
Assets classified as held for
SALE . — — — — 1,584 — — —
Inventory ......ccoeveevevieseeeeennne. 1,775 41 — 28 43 3 43 7
Equity accounted investments 838 9 — — 48 — — —
Investment properties............. — — — — — — 3,458 —
Property, plant and
EQUIPMENL.....vvereieiereinne. 3,582 2,590 10 2,134 5,283 1,198 95 759
Intangible assets..................... 6,420 280 243 295 1,992 74 2 —
Goodwill ..o 1,894 1,548 — — 2,042 218 — —
Deferred income tax assets .... 181 136 — — 5 41 — —
Total assets.......cccceeveereereeneane. 16,204 4,825 5,302 2,523 11,525 1,536 3,717 800
Less:
Accounts payable and other (1,998) (691) (1,954) (66) (2,071) (218) (2,368) (65)
Non-recourse borrowings.... — — (342) — (1,567) — (537) —
Deferred income tax
liabilities .........ccoeeeeveereenne (967) (79) (49) — (1,111) — — —
Non-controlling interests' ... (469) — (1,279) (578) (250) — (88) —
(3,434) (770) (3,624) (644) (4,999) (218) (2,993) (65)
Net assets acquired................. $12,770 $ 4055 $ 1,678 $ 1,879 $ 6,526 § 1,318 $ 724 $ 735
Consideration”..........c.......... $12,770 $ 4,055 $ 1,674 $ 1879 $ 6526 $§ 1318 § 724 % 735

1. Includes non-controlling interests recognized on business combinations measured as the proportionate share of fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities on the
date of acquisition.

2. Total consideration, including amounts paid by non-controlling interests that participated in the acquisition as investors in Brookfield-sponsored private funds or as
co-investors.

Private Equity

On April 30, 2019, a subsidiary of the company, along with institutional partners, acquired a 100% interest in Clarios, a global
automotive battery business, for total consideration of $12.8 billion. Total consideration paid was funded with $2.9 billion of cash
on hand, with $9.9 billion funded through non-recourse borrowings raised concurrently on closing. The acquisition resulted in
recognition of $1.9 billion of goodwill, which is largely reflective of potential to innovate and grow the business. Approximately
$20 million of the goodwill recognized is deductible for tax purposes. Total revenues and net loss that would have been recorded
if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $8.3 billion and $74 million, respectively.

On June 6, 2019, a subsidiary of the company, along with institutional partners, acquired a 100% interest in Healthscope Limited,
an Australian private healthcare provider, for a total consideration of $4.1 billion. Total consideration paid was funded with
$1.2 billion of cash on hand, with $2.9 billion funded through non-recourse borrowings raised concurrently on closing. The
acquisition resulted in recognition of $1.5 billion of goodwill, which is largely reflective of potential growth from integration of
the operations. None of the goodwill recognized is deductible for tax purposes. Total revenues and net loss that would have been
recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $1.6 billion and $81 million, respectively.

On December 12, 2019, a subsidiary of the company, along with institutional partners, acquired a 57% interest in Genworth, a
Canadian mortgage insurance services business, for total consideration of $1.7 billion, which was funded with cash on hand. The
acquisition generated a bargain purchase gain of $4 million. Total revenues and net loss that would have been recorded if
the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $677 million and $321 million, respectively.
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Infrastructure

On March 22, 2019, a subsidiary of the company, along with institutional partners, acquired a 100% interest in East-West Pipeline
Limited, an Indian natural gas pipeline business, for total consideration of $1.9 billion. Consideration paid was funded with
$959 million of cash on hand and the remainder funded through non-recourse borrowings raised concurrently on closing. Total
revenues and net loss that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $359 million
and $65 million, respectively.

On December 30, 2019, a subsidiary of the company, along with institutional partners, acquired a 100% interest in Genesee &
Wyoming Inc., a short-haul rail operator in North America, for a total consideration of $6.5 billion. Consideration paid funded
with $5.4 billion of cash on hand and the remainder funded through non-recourse borrowings raised concurrently on closing. The
acquisition resulted in recognition of $2.0 billion of goodwill, which is largely reflective of potential growth prospects and strong
market position. None of the goodwill recognized is deductible for tax purposes. Total revenues and net income that would have
been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $2.3 billion and $235 million, respectively.

On December 31, 2019, a subsidiary of the company, along with institutional partners, acquired a 100% interest in NorthRiver
Midstream Inc., the federally regulated portion of Enbridge Inc.’s Canadian natural gas midstream business to be operated alongside
the provincial assets acquired in 2018, for a total consideration of $1.3 billion. Consideration paid funded with $861 million of
cash on hand and the remainder funded through non-recourse borrowings raised concurrently on closing. The acquisition resulted
in recognition of $218 million of goodwill, which is largely reflective of potential growth prospects and strong market position.
The goodwill recognized is deductible for tax purposes. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the
transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $271 million and $121 million, respectively.

Real Estate

On November 29, 2019, a subsidiary of the company, along with institutional partners, acquired an 84% interest in Aveo Group,
a real estate company that develops, owns and operates a portfolio of retirement homes in Australia, for total consideration of
$724 million. Consideration paid funded with $658 million of cash on hand and the remainder funded through non-recourse
borrowings raised concurrently on closing. Total revenues and net loss that would have been recorded if the transaction had
occurred at the beginning of the year are $174 million and $4 million, respectively.

Renewable Power

On September 26, 2019, a subsidiary of the company acquired a 100% interest in Arcadia, a distributed generation portfolio of
renewable energy facilities in the United States, for total consideration of $735 million funded by non-recourse borrowings raised
concurrently on closing. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the
beginning of the year are $67 million and $22 million, respectively.
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b) Completed During 2018

The following table summarizes the balance sheet impact as a result of business combinations that occurred in 2018. No material
changes were made to those allocations disclosed in the 2018 consolidated financial statements:

Renewable
Private Power and

(MILLIONS) Real Estate  Infrastructure Equity Other Total

Cash and cash equivalents o $ 1,056 $ 71 $ 658 $ 388 $ 2,173

Accounts receivable and other ...............ccooeveiiviiieciee, 2,247 511 2,267 623 5,648

INVENLOTY ..ot 150 23 686 5 864

Equity accounted investments...............ccoceevveereereereereeneenenne. 12,379 15 329 29 12,752

Investment Properties........ocvvererereeeeeerierienieseseeeeeeeeenns 33,024 — — — 33,024

Property, plant and equipment...............ccccvevvrvrieriereereereennne. 1,748 2,945 4913 2,970 12,576

Intangible assets 54 3,208 2,942 386 6,590

GOOAWILL......iiiiiiiee e 96 2,905 971 186 4,158

Deferred income tax assets...........cccveeeeeveeviesresreereereereennenes 220 — 38 582 840

TOtal ASSELS ...t 50,974 9,678 12,804 5,169 78,625

Less:

Accounts payable and other .... (2,177) (591) (3,654) (715) (7,137)
Non-recourse DOITOWINGS ..........coceerveeeveeveeereereereereereeneens (18,218) (1,484) (3,668) (2,023) (25,393)
Deferred income tax liabilities ...........cccvevveeveereeeereerrenene. (58) (839) (157) (210) (1,264)
Non-controlling interests’.............cooveveeerereeeeeeeeeesrsenen. (2,603) (544) (515) (22) (3,684)

(23,056) (3,458) (7,994) (2,970) (37,478)

Net assets aCqUITEd..........c.cvvveveririeriiieieiieeeereeee e $ 27918 § 6,220 $ 4810 $ 2,199 $ 41,147

CONSIAEIAtioN” ............ovveeveeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 26,759 $ 6,220 $ 4,810 $ 1,807 $ 39,596

1. Includes non-controlling interests recognized on business combinations measured as the proportionate share of fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities on the

date of acquisition.

2. Total consideration, including amounts paid by non-controlling interests that participated in the acquisition as investors in Brookfield-sponsored private funds or as

co-investors.

Brookfield recorded $5.1 billion of revenue and $711 million of net income in 2018 from the acquired operations as a result of
the acquisitions made during the year. If the acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of the year, they would have contributed
$12.6 billion and $1.8 billion to total revenue and net income, respectively.

2019 ANNUAL REPORT 160



The following table summarizes the balance sheet impact as a result of significant business combinations that occurred in 2018.
No material changes were made to those allocations disclosed in the 2018 consolidated financial statements.

Private Renewable
Real Estate Equity Infrastructure Power
(MILLIONS) 666 Fifth GGP  Forest City  Westinghouse ~ NorthRiver Enercare Evoque  Saeta Yield
Cash and cash
equivalents................. $ — 3 24 3 451 § 250 $ 10 $ 24§ — 3 187
Accounts receivable
and other.................... 11 592 960 1,854 55 187 3 216
Inventory — — 89 626 — — — —
Equity accounted
investments................ — 10,829 1,467 7 — — — 14
Investment properties .. 1,292 17,991 9,397 — — — — —
Property, plant and
equipment.................. — 56 — 931 1,442 669 440 2,724
Intangible assets .......... — — — 2,683 157 1,863 221 258
Goodwill..........c.c......... — — — 213 524 1,260 463 115
Deferred income tax
ASSCLS....vveeeeeeeeeeeeenn, — — — 7 — 23 — —
Total assets................... 1,303 29,892 12,364 6,571 2,188 4,026 1,127 3,514
Less:
Accounts payable
and other ................ 4) (691) (1,119) (2,645) (46) (235) (24) (320)
Non-recourse
borrowings.............. — (13,147) (3,664) 3) — (877) — (1,906)
Deferred income tax
liabilities ................. — (11) — (81) (186) (472) — (174)
Non-controlling
interests’.......cooeun.... — (1,882) (633) (7) — — — —
4) (15,731) (5,416) (2,736) (232) (1,584) (24) (2,400)

Net assets acquired...... $ 1,299 $§ 14,161 $§ 6948 § 3835 § 1956 § 2442 $ 1,103 § 1,114

Consideration” ........... $ 1,299 $ 13240 $§ 6948 $ 3835 $ 1956 §$ 2442 $ 1,103 $ 1,114

1. Includes non-controlling interests recognized on business combinations measured as the proportionate share of fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities on the
date of acquisition.

2. Total consideration, including amounts paid by non-controlling interests that participated in the acquisition as investors in Brookfield-sponsored private funds or as
co-investors.

On June 12, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, along with institutional investors, acquired a 95% interest in Saeta Yield, S.A.
(“Saeta Yield”) for total cash consideration of $1.1 billion, funded through an equity issuance at the subsidiary, amounts drawn
on a non-recourse credit facility and available cash on hand. The acquisition resulted in $115 million of goodwill due to the
recognition of a deferred tax liability because the tax bases of the net assets are lower than their acquisition date fair value. None
of the goodwill recognized is deductible for income tax purposes. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded
if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $407 million and $63 million, respectively.

On August 1, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% interest in Westinghouse
Electric Company (“Westinghouse™). Total consideration paid was $3.8 billion in cash, with $886 million provided by the subsidiary
and its partners and the balance funded through asset level debt raised concurrently on closing. On acquisition, goodwill
of $213 million was recognized, which represents future growth the subsidiary expects to receive from the integration
of Westinghouse’s operations; this goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes. Total revenues and net losses that would
have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $3.9 billion and $239 million, respectively.
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On August 3, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% leasehold interest in
666 Fifth Avenue, a commercial office asset in New York, for total consideration of $1.3 billion. Total revenues and net income
that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $84 million and
$85 million, respectively.

On August 28, 2018, a subsidiary of the company acquired all outstanding shares of GGP other than those shares already held by
the subsidiary for total consideration of $13.2 billion, plus the payment of a pre-closing dividend of $9.05 billion. The pre-closing
dividend was funded by financing activity and proceeds from the sales of partial interests in certain properties within GGP.

*  Anew entity, Brookfield Property REIT (“BPR”), was formed to hold the GGP assets; BPR issued 161 million shares to GGP
shareholders as consideration. BPR shares, which are structured to provide an economic return equivalent to that of BPY
units, are presented as non-controlling interests within equity.

*  The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination achieved in stages. Our existing equity interest in GGP was
remeasured to its fair value of $7.8 billion immediately prior to the completion of the transaction based on our interest in the
fair value of GGP’s identifiable net assets and liabilities. As a result of this remeasurement, a loss of approximately $502 million
was recognized in fair value changes.

»  Total consideration of $13.2 billion is made up of our existing equity investment of $7.8 billion, new equity, in the form of
88 million BPY LP units and 161 million BPR Class A shares, issued to GGP’s shareholders totaling $5.2 billion, cash
consideration of $200 million and share-based payment awards to GGP employees with a fair value of $28 million. On
acquisition, we recognized a bargain purchase gain of $921 million in fair value changes as the agreed upon transaction price
and the fair value of the consideration transferred was less than the aggregate fair value of the assets acquired net of the
liabilities assumed.

+  Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are
$1.8 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively.

On October 1, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% interest in NorthRiver
Midstream Inc. (“NorthRiver”), a western Canadian natural gas gathering and processing business, for total cash consideration
of $2.0 billion. The acquisition was funded through cash on hand and asset level debt raised concurrently on closing. On acquisition,
goodwill of $524 million was recognized, which represents the potential for obtaining long-term contracts for the business’
unutilized capacity and production growth in certain locations. None of the goodwill acquired is deductible for tax purposes. Total
revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $246 million
and $16 million, respectively.

On October 16, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% interest in Enercare Inc.
(“Enercare”), a North American residential energy infrastructure business, for total consideration of $2.4 billion. The acquisition
was funded through $2.2 billion of cash with the remainder through equity issued to certain Enercare shareholders. On acquisition,
goodwill of $1.3 billion was recognized, which represents potential growth prospects and a strong market position as a key provider
ofresidential energy infrastructure in North America. None of the goodwill recognized is deductible for tax purposes. Total revenues
and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $949 million and
$5 million, respectively.

On December 7, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% interest in Forest City
Realty Trust, Inc. (“Forest City”) for total cash consideration of $6.9 billion. The acquisition was funded through cash on hand
and asset level debt raised concurrently on closing. The non-controlling interest acquired represents equity in partially owned and
consolidated operations which are not attributable to Forest City. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded
if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year are $1.1 billion and $381 million, respectively.

On December 31, 2018, a subsidiary of the company, together with institutional investors, acquired a 100% interest in Evoque
Data Center Solutions (“Evoque”), AT&T’s large-scale data center business, for total cash consideration of $1.1 billion. The
acquisition was funded through cash on hand and asset level debt raised concurrently on closing. On acquisition, goodwill of
$463 million was recognized, which is largely reflective of potential customer growth, arising from the business’ position as one
of'the largest colocation providers in the United States and the increasing rate of worldwide data consumption. All of the goodwill
is deductible for income tax purposes. Total revenues and net income that would have been recorded if the transaction had occurred
at the beginning of the year are $321 million and $6 million, respectively.

2019 ANNUAL REPORT 162



6. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a) Financial Instrument Classification

The following tables list the company’s financial instruments by their respective classification as at December 31,2019 and 2018:

Fair Value Faic Val A od
A5 pac 1. 209 Profit o L ThioughOC1 - Cont Total
Financial assets’
Cash and cash eqUIValENnts..................cocoevevevevererereeeeeneeeiesesereeans $ — 3 — 6,778 $ 6,778
Other financial assets
Government BONAS.............ocveviviiiiieieiieeee e 156 2,247 — 2,403
Corporate DONAS...........cveeeveerieiieieeriee ettt 1,118 1,839 310 3,267
Fixed income securities and other ...............ccccoeovevvieiiceenennn. 1,131 619 — 1,750
Common shares and Warrants................cccoceeeeveeeveeveveesseeeeenen. 1,791 1,398 — 3,189
Loans and notes receivable............oocveeeiiieieeeeeiieeeeeeeeeeieees 55 — 1,804 1,859
4,251 6,103 2,114 12,468
Accounts receivable and other ...........ovvoveeveeveeeeeeeeeesesereresen, 1,957 — 12,078 14,035
$ 6,208 $ 6,103 $ 20,970 $ 33,281
Financial liabilities
COrporate BOTTOWINGS...........ccovevveeeeerreeeeeeeeeeeseeeseeeeesesesesesesenenas $ — 3 — 7,083 $ 7,083
Non-recourse borrowings of managed entities
Property-specific DOITOWINGS ..........cccevveeeieeeririeiereeeieieenns — — 127,869 127,869
Subsidiary BOITOWINGS ........c.ccvevverriirieiierierieieieiesiese e e eieeeens — — 8,423 8,423
— — 136,292 136,292
Accounts payable and OHEIZ <o 4,528 — 32,196 36,724
Subsidiary equity Obligations...........cceeveeeereeeeieriereerieseseereeeeas 1,896 — 2,236 4,132
$ 6,424 $ — $ 177,807 $ 184,231

1. Financial assets include $7.0 billion of assets pledged as collateral.
2. Includes derivative instruments which are elected for hedge accounting, totaling $950 million included in accounts receivable and other and $1.3 billion included in accounts
payable and other, for which changes in fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income.
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Fair Value

?y&lﬁl%%cs‘)}l’ 2018 Proﬁ;r grr (Iﬁ)gs}sl Thrlz:lilléhv (a)lgf AmOI‘téZOeg Total
Financial assets’
Cash and cash equivalents .................cccoeeeveeceeeveeceeeeeceee $ — 3 — 3 8390 $ 8,390
Other financial assets
Government bonds ...........coceereiiienieinee e 68 20 — 88
Corporate DONAS ...........ceeveevieriereerieeeeeeeeeeeee e 536 96 273 905
Fixed income securities and other............cc.ccoeveeeiiiveenneens 570 311 156 1,037
Common shares and Warrants .............coceceerereeenreeerenerenens 689 1,690 — 2,379
Loans and notes receivable ............cccocoevviiviieviieiiiiieeeeeee 50 — 1,768 1,818
1,913 2,117 2,197 6,227
Accounts receivable and other..........ovoveeveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeereeseereenon, 2,113 — 10,449 12,562
$ 4,026 $ 2,117 $ 21,036 $ 27,179

Financial liabilities
Corporate BOTTOWINGS ...........ooveveviieeereeeeeeereeeeeeseeeeeeseseesesesenns $ — 3 — 3 6,409 $ 6,409

Non-recourse borrowings of managed entities

Property-specific DOrrOWIngs ...........ccccevveeveeeeeeeeeeeeeerenns — — 103,209 103,209
Subsidiary BOITOWINGS..........cccveveierierieierieseeeeeeeeeeeee e — — 8,600 8,600
— — 111,809 111,809

Accounts payable and OLHEIZ oo 3,362 — 20,627 23,989
Subsidiary equity obligations.............ccceevvevvevreeeeeereereerreeennnn. 1,725 — 2,151 3,876
$ 5,087 $ — 140,996 $ 146,083

1. Financial assets include $7.2 billion of assets pledged as collateral.
2. Includes derivative instruments which are elected for hedge accounting, totaling $1.5 billion included in accounts receivable and other and $465 million included in accounts
payable and other, for which changes in fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) financial assets are presented in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period in which they arise. Dividends from FVTPL and fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) financial assets are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations when the
company’s right to receive payment is established. Interest on FVTOCI financial assets is calculated using the effective interest
method and reported in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

FVTOCI debt and equity securities are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value with changes in fair value recorded through
other comprehensive income. As at December 31, 2019, the unrealized gains and losses relating to the fair value of FVTOCI
securities amounted to $479 million (2018 — $212 million) and $108 million (2018 — $152 million), respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, $3 million of net deferred losses (2018 — $nil) previously recognized in accumulated
other comprehensive income were reclassified to net income as a result of the disposition or impairment of certain of our FVTOCI
financial assets that are not equity instruments.

Included in cash and cash equivalents is $5.7 billion (2018 — $7.7 billion) of cash and $1.1 billion (2018 — $685 million) of short-
term deposits as at December 31, 2019.
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b) Carrying and Fair Value

The following table lists the company’s financial instruments by their respective classification as at December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018:

2019 2018
?N?Iﬁ{l?)%\l%)n Car{/ﬁiﬁ% Fair Value Car{/ﬁﬂi Fair Value
Financial assets
Cash and cash eqUIValents.............c.ccevviriiiieieicieieeeee e $ 6,778 $ 6,778 $ 8,390 $ 8,390
Other financial assets
GOVEINMENT DONAS ..ottt 2,403 2,403 88 88
Corporate DONAS.........cocuieeieieieiecieeiecteete ettt et ess s s ere v eaeas 3,267 3,267 905 905
Fixed income securities and Other ...............ccoovviiiiiiciieicceceee e 1,750 1,750 1,037 1,037
Common shares and warrants 3,189 3,189 2,379 2,379
Loans and notes reCeivable.............cocvviviiiiiuiiiiieeeeee et 1,859 1,859 1,818 1,818
12,468 12,468 6,227 6,227
Accounts receivable and Other ..............occcovvviiiiiiiciiicecceeeeeee e 14,035 14,035 12,562 12,562

$ 33281 $ 33281 §$§ 27,179 $§ 27,179

Financial liabilities

COorporate DOITOWINGS..........ceeviierierereiriiereereeetet et se s re s ess s s s esesens $ 7,083 $ 7,933 $ 6,409 $ 6,467

Non-recourse borrowings of managed entities
Property-specific DOTTOWINGS.........c..ceevierieieieieieceecee et 127,869 129,728 103,209 104,291
Subsidiary DOTTOWINGS ........cccveieriieriiriieriieteereee ettt eeeas 8,423 8,632 8,600 8,557
136,292 138,360 111,809 112,848

Accounts payable and other 36,724 36,724 23,989 23,989
Subsidiary equity ObligationS ...........c.ccevveievivieeiiriieteeeeereee e 4,132 4,139 3,876 3,876

$ 184231 $ 187,156 $ 146,083 $ 147,180

The current and non-current balances of other financial assets are as follows:

f‘lvsﬂﬂ%‘;%f ! 2019 2018
CUITENE ...ttt et e e et e e aee e et e eaeeeeeeeae e e e easeenseeaseemaesaseeneeeaeeeaeessenseenseensesntesenesneesaeesseenis $ 3,605 $§ 3,382
Non-current.... 8,863 2,845
TOUAL ...ttt et et ettt ettt ettt et ettt e eteeteeteetbeateab e b et e b e ereeaeeaeertett et et e beeteeteersensensenes $ 12468 $ 6,227
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¢) Fair Value Hierarchy Levels

The following table categorizes financial assets and liabilities, which are carried at fair value, based upon the fair value
hierarchy levels:

2019 2018
f‘h,sﬂﬂ%‘;cs-f‘ Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets
Other financial assets
Government bonds.............ccoveveeeeeeeeeveereeeeeeeenn. $ — $ 2403 § — 3 — 88 $ —
Corporate bonds............cceevevveeeeieieeeeeeeeeeereereeneas — 2,682 275 — 632 —
Fixed income securities and other ..............c........... 419 851 480 22 369 490
Common shares and warrants..................cc.ccoeeueene.. 1,966 421 802 1,928 229 222
Loans and notes receivables .............cocoeveerieierennene — 51 4 — 46 4
Accounts receivable and other .............c..cccoeeieeiennnn. 1 1,737 219 44 1,990 79

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable and other ..............c..coccoeverieeeenennn. $ 93 § 3,749 $ 686 $ 81 § 2,622 § 659
Subsidiary equity obligations.............c..ceevevveereereenen. — 40 1,856 — 85 1,640
$ 93 $ 3,789 $§ 2542 § 81 $ 2,707 $§ 2,299

During the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no transfers between Level 1, 2 or 3.

Fair values of financial instruments are determined by reference to quoted bid or ask prices, as appropriate. If bid and ask prices
are unavailable, the closing price of the most recent transaction of that instrument is used. In the absence of an active market, fair
values are determined based on prevailing market rates for instruments with similar characteristics and risk profiles or internal or
external valuation models, such as option pricing models and discounted cash flow analysis, using observable market inputs.

The following table summarizes the valuation techniques and key inputs used in the fair value measurement of Level 2
financial instruments:

(MILLIONS) Carrying Value

Type of Asset/Liability Dec. 31,2019 Valuation Techniques and Key Inputs

Derivative assets/Derivative $ 1,737/ Foreign currency forward contracts — discounted cash flow model — forward
liabilities (accounts receivable/ 3749 exchange rates (from observable forward exchange rates at the end of the
accounts payable) .........cccevuennen. (3.749) reporting period) and discounted at credit adjusted rate

Interest rate contracts — discounted cash flow model — forward interest rates
(from observable yield curves) and applicable credit spreads discounted at a
credit adjusted rate

Energy derivatives — quoted market prices, or in their absence internal
valuation models, corroborated with observable market data
Other financial assets..................... 6,408 Valuation models based on observable market data

Redeemable fund units (40) Aggregated market prices of underlying investments
(subsidiary equity obligations) ..

Fair values determined using valuation models requiring the use of unobservable inputs (Level 3 financial assets and liabilities)
include assumptions concerning the amount and timing of estimated future cash flows and discount rates. In determining those
unobservable inputs, the company uses observable external market inputs such as interest rate yield curves, currency rates and
price and rate volatilities, as applicable, to develop assumptions regarding those unobservable inputs.
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The following table summarizes the valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement

of Level 3 financial instruments:

(MILLIONS)
Type of Asset/Liability

Carrying Value
Dec. 31, 2019

Valuation
Techniques

Significant

Unobservable Inputs

Relationship of Unobservable
Inputs to Fair Value

Fixed income securities and

Corporate bonds............cco.......

Common shares (common
shares and warrants) ............

Limited-life funds (subsidiary
equity obligations)...............

Derivative assets/Derivative
liabilities (accounts
receivable/payable)..............

$ 480

275

802

(1,856)

219/
(686)

Discounted cash
flows

Discounted cash
flows

Black-Scholes
model

Discounted cash
flows

Discounted cash
flows

Future cash flows

Discount rate

Future cash flows

Discount rate

Volatility

Term to maturity

Future cash flows

Discount rate

Terminal
capitalization rate

Investment horizon

Future cash flows

Discount rate

* Increases (decreases) in
future cash flows increase
(decrease) fair value

Increases (decreases) in
discount rate decrease
(increase) fair value

Increases (decreases) in
future cash flows increase
(decrease) fair value

Increases (decreases) in
discount rate decrease
(increase) fair value

Increases (decreases) in
volatility increase (decreases)
fair value

Increases (decreases) in term
to maturity increase
(decrease) fair value

Increases (decreases) in
future cash flows increase
(decrease) fair value

Increases (decreases) in
discount rate decrease
(increase) fair value

Increases (decreases) in
terminal capitalization

rate decrease (increase) fair
value

* Increases (decreases) in the
investment horizon decrease
(increase) fair value

¢ Increases (decreases) in
future cash flows increase
(decrease) fair value

Increases (decreases) in
discount rate decrease
(increase) fair value

The following table presents the changes in the balance of financial assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 for the years ended

December 31, 2019 and 2018:

2019 2018
AS AT AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 Financial ~ Financial  Financial  Financial
(MILLIONS) Assets  Liabilities Assets  Liabilities
Balance, beginning Of YEaT ..........cccoviviiiiiiiiirieieieieiet et $ 795 $ 2299 § 869 $ 2,263
Fair value changes in Net iNCOME............ocueeveerierieieiireereereere et ee e 278 27 (113) (89)
Fair value changes in other comprehensive income’ ...............cocccovvvevcrreerercernnne. 10) 6 2) (48)
Additions, net of diSPOSAlS........cccccuevviviiiiiiiiiicieieeie e 717 264 41 173
Balance, end of year $ 1,780 $ 2542 § 795 $ 2,299

1. Includes foreign currency translation.
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The following table categorizes liabilities measured at amortized cost, but for which fair values are disclosed based upon the fair
value hierarchy levels:

2019 2018
E}\,SH’E{%%CS-)“ Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Corporate BOITOWINGS...........cocveveviierereeiieiereenieneieans $ 7841 § 92 $ — $ 6376 § 91 $ —
Property-specific borrowings ............ceeveevevvevvervennenne. 6,467 52,386 70,875 6,918 30,214 67,159
Subsidiary bOrrowings..............cceeeereeeeievievierenennens 6,111 299 2,222 3,640 2,355 2,562
Subsidiary equity obligations — 73 2,170 — — 2,151

Fair values of Level 2 and Level 3 liabilities measured at amortized cost but for which fair values are disclosed are determined
using valuation techniques such as adjusted public pricing and discounted cash flows.

d) Hedging Activities

The company uses derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments to manage or maintain exposures to interest, currency,
credit and other market risks. Derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value. For certain derivatives which are used
to manage exposures, the company determines whether hedge accounting can be applied. Hedge accounting is applied when the
derivative is designated as a hedge of a specific exposure and there is assurance that it will continue to be highly effective as a
hedge based on an expectation of offsetting cash flows or fair value. Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the
derivative no longer qualifies as a hedge or the hedging relationship is terminated. Once discontinued, the cumulative change in
fair value of a derivative that was previously recorded in other comprehensive income by the application of hedge accounting is
recognized in profit or loss over the remaining term of the original hedging relationship as amounts related to the hedged item are
recognized in profit or loss. The assets or liabilities relating to unrealized mark-to-market gains and losses on derivative financial
instruments are recorded in financial assets and financial liabilities, respectively.

i. Cash Flow Hedges

The company uses the following cash flow hedges: energy derivative contracts to hedge the sale of power; interest rate swaps to
hedge the variability in cash flows or future cash flows related to a variable rate asset or liability; and equity derivatives
to hedge long-term compensation arrangements. For the year ended December 31, 2019, pre-tax net unrealized losses of
$89 million (2018 — gains of $38 million) were recorded in other comprehensive income for the effective portion of the cash flow
hedges. As at December 31, 2019, there was an unrealized derivative asset balance of $210 million relating to derivative contracts
designated as cash flow hedges (2018 — $468 million).

ii. Net Investment Hedges

The company uses foreign exchange contracts and foreign currency denominated debt instruments to manage its foreign currency
exposures arising from net investments in foreign operations. For the year ended December 31,2019, unrealized pre-tax net losses
of $433 million (2018 — gains of $999 million) were recorded in other comprehensive income for the effective portion of hedges
of net investments in foreign operations. As at December 31, 2019, there was an unrealized derivative liability balance of
$551 million relating to derivative contracts designated as net investment hedges (2018 — asset balance of $523 million).

e) Netting of Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset with the net amount reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets where the company
currently has a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
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The company enters into derivative transactions under International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”) master netting
agreements. In general, under such agreements the amounts owed by each counterparty on a single day are aggregated into a single
net amount that is payable by one party to the other. The agreements provide the company with the legal and enforceable right to
offset these amounts and accordingly the following balances are presented net in the consolidated financial statements:

Accounts Receivable Accounts Payable
and Other and Other
{;\,SH/E{I%%CS-)“ 2019 2018 2019 2018
Gross amounts of financial instruments before netting ...........ccoceevevveverenenenenne $ 238 $ 2367 $ 2853 § 1,873
Gross amounts of financial instruments set-off in Consolidated Balance Sheets.. (423) (254) (366) (250)
Net amount of financial instruments in Consolidated Balance Sheets................... $ 1957 $§ 2,113 $ 2487 § 1,623
7. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER
?&I’E{I%‘i%fl Note 2019 2018
ACCOUNLS TECRIVADIE ...ttt ettt (a) $ 11,129 $§ 9,167
Prepaid expenses and Other aSSEts..........ccoovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e (a) 5,636 5,508
RESIICEd CASN......viiiiiiiiiicc e (b) 1,595 1,923
SUSAINADIE TESOUICTES .......euvviiniieieiiiieteereeie ettt enenean (c) 109 333
TOUAL v ee e eeseses e seese e e ees e ees e ee s essesee s essesesseeesseeeeseeesesesseeeesesessesessesessesesreeeseesseeees $ 18469 $ 16,931

The current and non-current balances of accounts receivable and other are as follows:

{;\/Slﬁl%%cs-f 1 2019 2018
(3115 1<) L PR UUSRRSOSRR $ 13,862 $ 110911

4,607 5,020
S 18469 5 16931

a) Accounts Receivable and Other Assets

Accounts receivable includes contract assets of $682 million (2018 — $641 million). Contract assets relate primarily to work-in-
progress on our long-term construction services contracts for which customers have not yet been billed.

b) Restricted Cash

Restricted cash primarily relates to the company’s real estate, renewable power and private equity financing arrangements including
defeasement of debt obligations, debt service accounts and deposits held by the company’s insurance operations.

¢) Sustainable Resources

Dispositions of $270 million during the year related to the sale of our investment in Acadian, which owned 1.7 million acres of
consumable freehold timberlands, representing 40.3 million cubic metres of mature timber and timber available for harvest.
Additions of $77 million is attributable to the plantation of soybeans throughout the year.

The following table presents the change in the balance of timberlands and other agricultural assets:

?NS[I/E—I]:[/?)I?\I%)FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
Balance, beginning Of YEAT ........c..cciriiiiiirieiriee ettt ettt ettt ene $ 333 §$ 390
Additions 77 21
DISPOSILIONS ...ttt 270) —
Fair value adjUStMENS .......couiiiirieiiieiet ettt ettt ettt ettt ene 12 42
Decrease due t0 NAIVEST ........cc.ciiiiiiiiiiicec ettt 39) (89)
Foreign currency Chamn@Es..........ccoouvuiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicr et (€)) 31
Balance, €Nd O YEAT .....c..c.iriiiiiieiee ettt $ 109 § 333
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The carrying values are based on external appraisals completed annually as at December 31. The appraisals utilize a combination
of the discounted cash flow and sales comparison approaches to arrive at the estimated value. The significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) included in the discounted cash flow models used when determining the fair value of standing timber and agricultural
assets include:

Valuation Significant Relationship of Unobservable Inputs

Techniques Unobservable Inputs to Fair Value Mitigating Factors

Discounted * Future cash flows * Increases (decreases) in future cash < Increases (decreases) in cash flows tend to
cash flow flows increase (decrease) fair value be accompanied by increases (decreases) in
analysis discount rates that may offset changes

in fair value from cash flows

* Timber / agricultural ~ * Increases (decreases) in price increase ¢ Increases (decreases) in price tend to be
prices (decrease) fair value accompanied by increases (decreases) in
discount rates that may offset changes

in fair value from price

* Discount rate / * Increases (decreases) in discountrateor ¢ Decreases (increases) in discount rates or
terminal terminal capitalization rate decrease terminal capitalization rates tend to be
capitalization rate (increase) fair value accompanied by increases (decreases) in

cash flows that may offset changes in fair
value from rates

» Exit Date * Increases (decreases) in exit date <« Increases (decreases) in the exit date tend
decrease (increase) fair value to be the result of changing cash flow
profiles that may result in higher (lower)
growth in cash flows prior to stabilizing in
the terminal year

Key valuation assumptions include a weighted-average discount and terminal capitalization rate of 6.1% (2018 — 5.7%), and
terminal valuation dates of up to 21 years (2018 — 30 years). Timber and agricultural asset prices were based on a combination of
forward prices available in the market and price forecasts.

8. INVENTORY

AT AT DEC! 2019 2018
Residential properties under deVEIOPMENL .............cooeevevieereereeieere ettt ettt ete e ereereensensens $ 3,007 $ 2,001
1,781 1,794

998 1,398

2,816 914

1,670 882

. $ 10272 $§ 6,989

1. Other includes fuel inventory of $690 million (2018 — $585 million).

The current and non-current balances of inventory are as follows:

?I\EI/ETL 112)1;:\]%)31 2019 2018
$ 7,054 $§ 4578

3,218 2411

5 10272 5 608

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the company recognized $26.5 billion (2018 — $25.7 billion) of inventory relating to
cost of goods sold and a $38 million expense of impaired inventory (2018 —$22 million recovery of previously impaired inventory).
The carrying amount of inventory pledged as collateral at December 31, 2019 was $4.7 billion (2018 — $3.5 billion).
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9. HELD FOR SALE

The following is a summary of the assets and liabilities classified as held for sale as at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Renewable
f\y\/suﬁ%%cs‘)m Infrastructure Real Estate Powe(r)glrg 2019 Total 2018 Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents............cccccceveverenenen. $ 42 3 1 3 15 S 58 § 21
Accounts receivable and other ......................... 120 5 49 174 112
Investment properties...........ooevvevvevvevveereereeneane. — 251 — 251 617
Property, plant and equipment.......................... 1,307 — 423 1,730 779
Equity accounted investments.......................... 190 223 — 413 568
Other long-term assets 872 — — 872 88
Deferred income tax assets...........cccoevververnennene 1 — 3 4 —
Assets classified as held for sale...........ccoo........ $ 2,532 $ 480 $ 490 $ 3,502 $ 2,185
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other............cccceevennnene $ 182§ 2 3 39§ 223 $ 193
Non-recourse borrowings of managed entities 774 138 159 1,071 619
Deferred income tax liabilities......................... 364 — 32 396 —
Liabilities associated with assets classified as
held for Sale........coooovieeieeieieieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee $ 1,320 $ 140 $ 230 $ 1,690 $ 812

As at December 31, 2019, assets held for sale within our Infrastructure segment include a Texas electricity transmission business,
a Colombian regulated distribution business and the Australian operations of a North American based rail business.

Assets held for sale within the company’s Real Estate segment include six triple net lease assets, one office asset and an equity
accounted investment in the U.S.

Within our Renewable Power segment, we are currently holding for sale solar assets in South Africa and Asia. Our Private Equity
segment has assets and liabilities from its cold storage logistics business in their business services segment being classified as
held for sale.

During the 2019 fiscal year, we disposed of $6.9 billion and $2.8 billion of assets and liabilities held for sale, respectively. The
majority of disposals related to our Real Estate segment, with $5.8 billion of assets held for sale and $2.1 billion of liabilities held
for sale being disposed of.
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10. EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS

The following table presents the ownership interests and carrying values of the company’s investments in associates and joint
ventures, all of which are accounted for using the equity method:

Ownership Interest' Carrying Value
gﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ‘ 2019 2018 2019 2018
OBKLTEE ...ttt ettt ettt ete e e et eteeaeese e e et e eteeseereeseereensensenseeseeseeteereereens 61% na $ 5231 § —
Real estate
Associates
COTE OFTICE ...ttt n/a 7-23% — 107
LP investments and Other............c..oooiiiiiiiieie et 30-90% 6 —90% 307 1,173
Joint ventures
0T OFFICE ...ttt ettt et ettt eeeaeeesnaeeea 14 -56% 15-56% 9,440 8,258
COTE TEAII® ... 12-68%  12-68% 10,555 11,159
LP investments and Other............c.cocooiiiieiiinieerec e 18-80%  12-90% 2,012 2,252
22,314 22,949
Infrastructure
Associates
UBIITEIES ..ttt et eneean 11-50% 11-50% 962 339
TTANSPOIT.....cuetiieiietiieteet ettt ettt ettt sa e s st be b eseebe e eseseseesens 26-58%  26-58% 4,033 4,100
Data iNfTaStIUCIUIE .........ovevvicviceeceeceeceeceeeeee ettt et et ereenean 45 -50% 45% 2,920 1,705
ORET ..ottt se ettt ebene 22-50% 22-50% 156 232
50% 50% 716 1,121
50% 50% 185 139
8,972 7,636
Private equity
Associates
43% 42% 1,185 1,287
24 -54%  24-50% 854 73
ORET ..ttt ettt 25-90%  13-90% 557 583
2,596 1,943
Renewable power and other
Renewable POWET aSSOCIALES ...........cceeuieieieiereireeriereeteete ettt ere e ereereens 14 - 60% 14 - 60% 1,154 685
Other equity accounted investments® 16-85%  18-85% 431 434
1,585 1,119
TOTAL ...ttt et a etttk a et b ettt A Rt a st e R Rt AR Rt bea e s ettt en et s et et e enene $ 40,698 § 33,647

1. Joint ventures or associates in which the ownership interest is greater than 50% represent investments for which control is either shared or does not exist resulting in the
investment being equity accounted.
2. Carrying value of joint ventures in other equity accounted investments is $383 million (2018 — $395 million).
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The following tables presents the change in the balance of investments in associates and joint ventures:

Renewable

AS AT AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED Private  Power and
(DI\}IEICﬁiIONS) Oaktree  Real Estate  Infrastructure Equity Other 2019 Total 2018 Total
Balance, beginning of year.. $ — $§ 22949 § 7,636 $ 1,943 § 1,119 $§ 33,647 $ 31,994
Net additions (disposals)...... 5,251 (1,932) 1,067 (150) 440 4,676 9,772)
Acquisitions through

business combinations........ — — 48 847 — 895 12,752
Share of comprehensive

INCOME.......ovenieieieeirieeenne 26 1,986 537 97 169 2,815 1,606
Distributions received.......... (45) (810) (166) (122) 157) (1,300) (1,903)
Foreign exchange................. e 121 (150) 19) 14 35) (1,030)
Balance, end of year-........... $ 5231 $§ 22314 $ 8972 $ 2,596 $ 1,585 $ 40,698 $ 33,647

Additions, net of disposals, of $4.7 billion in 2019 relate primarily to the acquisition of a $5.3 billion interest in Oaktree. As part
of the Oaktree transaction, we received a distribution on closing from Oaktree for $306 million, and recognized deferred
consideration of $365 million related to the settlement of certain pre-existing agreements.

In addition, we acquired an equity accounted interest in a Brazilian data center operation, a New Zealand integrated data provider
and a natural gas transmission business in Mexico within our Infrastructure segment. This was partially offset by the consolidation
of a previously equity-accounted portfolio of retail malls within our Real Estate segment.
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The following table presents current and non-current assets, as well as current and non-current liabilities of the company’s
investments in associates and joint ventures:

2019 2018
Non- Non- Non- Non-
AS AT DEC. 31 Current Current Current Current  Current Current Current Current
(MILLIONS) Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities Assets Assets  Liabilities Liabilities
OaKIICe. ... $ 1497 $ 16870 $ 1,172 § 7434 $§ — $ — 8 — —
Real estate
Associates
Core office.....ccovveinirrcices 1 — — — 15 1,998 12 457
LP investments and other ............ 31 955 15 390 86 3,430 56 966
Joint ventures
Core office.....ccovveinreeiciees 2,790 36,861 4,824 13,987 1,789 33,245 2,766 13,998
Core retail........cocooeivinnenene 992 35,726 615 14,334 832 40,136 734 16,537
LP investments and other 648 9,559 648 5,247 686 11,645 776 5,256
Infrastructure
Associates
UHHEES v 869 6,500 687 4,152 289 2,227 325 1,391
Transport .......cccccevevveneeenecnene 1,199 18,028 1,953 8,359 1,507 15,676 1,871 6,358
Data infrastructure... 912 11,636 1,042 4,908 447 6,692 438 2,902
(01115 R 21 374 27 133 118 659 117 117
Joint ventures
Energy ....ocovveieiieieeees 154 5,455 249 3,927 165 5,034 144 2,813
(01115 R 35 299 6 93 13 216 5 89
Private equity
Associates
Norbord .......ccoeiveinirciiieeee 462 3,911 260 1,355 509 4,574 363 1,204
Industrial operations.................... 1,038 743 485 256 38 277 27 136
(01115 R 793 2,362 697 1,562 892 1,910 601 1,004
Renewable power and other
Renewable power associates.......... 539 5,967 535 2,530 182 2,845 93 974
Other equity accounted
INVEStMENtS ...c.oouvreeieeeieieieeanes 1,022 — 118 113 1,081 53 142 152

$13,003 $155246 $ 13,333 $ 68,780 $ 8,649 $130,617 $ 8470 § 54,354

Certain of the company’s investments in associates are subject to restrictions on the extent to which they can remit funds to
the company in the form of cash dividends or repay loans and advances as a result of borrowing arrangements, regulatory restrictions
and other contractual requirements.
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The following table presents total revenues, net income and other comprehensive income (“OCI”) of the company’s investments

in associates and joint ventures:

2019 2018
f\NSII/EEI%%Cs‘)} ! Revenue [ncol\rl:; 0OClI Revenue Incol\rfet OCI
OBKLTEE ...t $ 295§ 12§ 6) — 3 — S —
Real estate
Associates
Core OffICe....cuiieeiieiceec e — 1 — 60 71 —
Core retail.......c.covievierierierieieiececeee e — — — 1,536 (1,013) (15)
LP investments and other.............cccoovueeervrenennne. 423 126 50 545 301 191
Joint ventures
Core office.... 2,386 1,869 (105) 1,559 1,544 34)
Core retail........cceeeeiiiiiiiceceeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 2,430 2,114 — 889 449 —
LP investments and other...............ccceevveievenennn. 714 23 — 342 487 2)
Infrastructure
Associates
UHIEES s 1,046 354 26 541 92 110
TTANSPOTt ...t 3,277 3 363 3,673 (309) (826)
Data infrastructure.............c.coccoeeveeeeieeceeeeeeeeenenn 1,447 398) 57 804 64 244
OtheT ... 55 45) (210) 84 83 363
Joint ventures
ENergy .ocevoeiiieeeeeee e 696 358 — 695 92 —
74 19 — 75 19 29)
Private equity
Associates
NOTbOTd ... 1,731 (165) 13 2,424 248 (21)
1,770 122 — 445 62 1)
1,007 247 26 1,502 86 (15)
Renewable power and other ..............ccocooeiiienininnene
Renewable power associates.............cccceeveervervennennn. 431 88 242 491 79 469
Other equity accounted investments...............cc...... 400 104 1 133 44 3)
$ 18,182 8§ 5,192 § 457 § 15798 $ 2399 § 411

Certain of the company’s investments are publicly listed entities with active pricing in a liquid market. The fair value based on
the publicly listed price of these equity accounted investments in comparison to the company’s carrying value is as follows:

2019 2018
AS AT DEC. 31 Public  Carrying Public Carrying
(MILLIONS) Price Value Price Value
NOIDOIA ...ttt b ettt eb et ebe s se b seetenas $ 930 $ 1,18 $ 925 § 1,287
ORCT ..ottt ettt ettt e se e b e b e b et e e beere e st essense b esbeeteereereens 38 — 36 —
$ 98 $ 1,185 $ 91 § 1,287
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11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The following table presents the change in the fair value of the company’s investment properties:

G\%ﬁ'{%};}%;OR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
Fair value, DEZINNING OF YEAT ..........cocviiiiiiieiiiiiietiicteteeetet ettt et se et b e se b se et essesessennenis $ 84,309 $ 56,870
AUQAIEIONS ...ttt ettt ettt et st bbbt et e s etes s s et ese s e s s e s e s e s e b e st s et eae bbb es et bt ene s s etene s esens 11,638 3,069
Acquisitions through business COMDINALIONS ...........c..ceeveerierierieeereeeeeeereereeteereereereeeeeeseseeseeseeseeseereersersersennens 3,669 33,024
Increase attributable to adoption of accounting Standards’ .................coo.eeueeeeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseee e 928 —
DISPOSIHIONS ... e e e s e e eeeee e e e e e ee et e s ee et se e e se e s s s eees e es e es e se e e e eseees e sseessrsseeene (6,029) (8,555)
Fair VAIUC CRANEES .......ocviivieeieeieeeeeceecee ettt ettt et et ettt et a s et e et e e teeseeteeasensensenseseeseereessersessenseneens 1,710 1,610
Foreign currency translation and Other...............ccooveiiiiiiiiieietcieece ettt re et re e snenis 461 (1,709)
Fail VAU, BN OF YOI ..ot e et e e e et st ee s e e s s e e ee e s se e ee e se e es e ss e sresseeeene $ 96,686 $ 84,309

1. The company’s adoption of IFRS 16 resulted in the recognition of ROU investment properties that were previously off-balance sheet items. Refer to Note 2 for
additional information.

2. Includes amounts reclassified to held for sale.

3. Asat December 31, 2019, the ending balance includes $88.5 billion of investment properties leased to third parties. Also included in the ending balance is approximately
$2.6 billion of ROU investment property balances.

Investment properties include the company’s office, retail, multifamily, logistics and other properties as well as highest and best-
use land within the company’s sustainable resources operations. Additions of $11.6 billion primarily relates to the purchases of
investment properties and enhancement of existing assets during the year.

Dispositions of $6.0 billion for the year ended December 31, 2019 included the sale of multiple investment properties held within
Forest City, several Australian and New York office properties and various multifamily assets.

Investment properties generated $5.8 billion (2018 — $5.4 billion) in rental income and incurred $2.4 billion (2018 — $2.1 billion)
in direct operating expenses. Most of our investment properties are pledged as collateral for the non-recourse borrowings at their
respective properties.

The following table presents our investment properties measured at fair value:

LLIONS). 2019 2018
Core office

TUNHEEA SEALES ..ottt ettt ettt oot et et et et e et eeaeeseeseeueeueeaeeas e s eeseesesaesaesaeeeeeaeeeeeneeeeeeeeseeneeseereeaeeneneane $ 15,748 $§ 15237
[ TV b TR 4,806 4,245
2,300 2,391
2,867 1,331
361 329
21,561 17,607

LP investments and other
LP ANVESIMENTS OFTICE.......oiiviiieiiieiiei ettt ettt ettt et et e et e et e eneeeanesaeeeeeesaeenns 8,756 8,438
LP ANVESTMENTS TETATL.......oiiuiiieiieieee ettt et e e e st e e e et e et e et e eeae e teeaeeeaeesenesaeesenesaeenas 2,812 3,414
LLOGISTICS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et et e b e e beebeetsetseab e st e b e b e eaeeteeteereeteersenseas et e beebeeteeaeetsensenee 94 183
Multifamily 2,937 4,151
Triple net lease 4,508 5,067
Self-storage 1,007 931
STUACNE NOUSING ......cvviviiviieiiieciecteete ettt ettt et eteeteeaeeaeese e s e s e eseeseeseeseeseessensenseseeseeseessessersereenseneens 2,605 2,417
Manufactured ROUSINE ..........cccoviiiiiieiiiiceieicceeee ettt sttt ettt ese et e s ese b essesessesessessesesseneas 2,446 2,369
IMEXEA-USE ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et ae b b et et e s e b et et s e s e s e st eb e s et et e s et ese s s esese s esesasesseseseneesesesennanas 2,703 12,086
Directly-held real State PrOPETLIES. ........ccveeviereerierieriereeeereeeteeteereereereeseeeeseeseeseeseeseessersessenseseeseeseereeseereerseneens 19,814 2,750
Other INVESMENT PIOPEITIES ......cvecvivieriierierieietieteteeteeetesseseetesseressessesessesessessesessessesessesessessesessesessessesessesessessesens 1,361 1,363

$ 96,686 $ 84,309
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Significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are utilized when determining the fair value of investment properties. The significant
Level 3 inputs include:

Valuation Significant Unobservable Relationship of Unobservable
Technique Inputs Inputs to Fair Value Mitigating Factors
Discounted * Future cash flows — * Increases (decreases) in future ¢ Increases (decreases) in cash flows tend to be
cash flow primarily driven by net cash flows increase (decrease) accompanied by increases (decreases) in
analysis' operating income fair value discount rates that may offset changes in fair
value from cash flows
* Discount rate * Increases (decreases) in * Increases (decreases) in discount rates tend to
discount rate decrease be accompanied by increases (decreases) in
(increase) fair value cash flows that may offset changes in fair value
from discount rates
+ Terminal capitalization ¢ Increases (decreases) in * Increases (decreases) in terminal capitalization
rate terminal capitalization rate rates tend to be accompanied by increases
decrease (increase) fair value (decreases) in cash flows that may offset
changes in fair value from terminal
capitalization rates
* Investment horizon * Increases (decreases) in the * Increases (decreases) in the investment
investment horizon decrease horizon tend to be the result of changing cash
(increase) fair value flow profiles that may result in higher (lower)

growth in cash flows prior to stabilizing in the
terminal year

1. Certaininvestment properties are valued using the direct capitalization method instead of a discounted cash flow model. Under the direct capitalization method, a capitalization
rate is applied to estimated current year cash flows.

The company’s investment properties are diversified by asset type, asset class, geography and markets. Therefore, there may be
mitigating factors in addition to those noted above such as changes to assumptions that vary in direction and magnitude across
different geographies and markets.

The following table summarizes the key valuation metrics of the company’s investment properties:

2019 2018
Terminal Investment Terminal Investment
Discount Capitalization Horizon Discount  Capitalization Horizon
AS AT DEC. 31 Rate Rate (years) Rate Rate (years)
Core office
United States .........cccceveevenecneenne. 7.0% 5.6% 12 6.9% 5.6% 12
Canada........ccooveireieieeeeee 5.9% 5.2% 10 6.0% 5.4% 10
Australia ........ocooeoevreiienneeee 6.8% 5.9% 10 7.0% 6.2% 10
EUurope .....ccoecveveieeeseceeeeeees 4.6% 4.1% 11 n/a n/a n/a
Brazil ..o 7.9% 7.4% 10 9.6% 7.7% 6
Core retail.......ccocevevveennieeeee, 6.7% 5.4% 10 7.1% 6.0% 12
LP investments and other
LP investments office...................... 10.0% 7.3% 7 10.2% 7.0%
LP investments retail ...................... 8.8% 7.3% 10 8.9% 7.8%
MiXed-USE......ocvrreieireirieeeiee 7.6% 5.4% 10 7.8% 5.4% 10
LOZiStics . ..., 5.8% n/a n/a 9.3% 8.3% 10
Multifamily’ ..........ccoooooveeireeree, 5.1% n/a n/a 4.8% n/a n/a
Triple net lease .........ccccveeeveniennnne. 6.3% n/a n/a 6.3% n/a n/a
Self-Storage’ ........ooovvvevrreerrerrinnnns 5.6% n/a n/a 5.7% n/a n/a
Student housing'..............cccccovuenn... 5.8% n/a n/a 5.6% n/a n/a
Manufactured housing' .................. 5.5% n/a n/a 5.4% n/a n/a
Directly-held real estate properties”... 5.2% —9.2% 6.1% 19 7.4% 6.8% 10
Other investment properties'............. 8.9% n/a n/a 9.3% n/a n/a

1. Multifamily, triple net lease, self-storage, student housing, manufactured housing and other investment properties are valued using the direct capitalization method. The
rates presented as the discount rate represent the overall implied capitalization rate. The terminal capitalization rate and the investment horizon are not applicable.

2. We use either the discounted cash flow or the direct capitalization method when valuing our directly-held real estate properties. The rates presented as the discount rate
represent the overall implied capitalization rates for investment properties that are valued using the direct capitalization approach.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The company’s property, plant and equipment relates to the operating segments as shown below:

Renewable Private Equity
Power (a) Infrastructure (b) Real Estate (¢) and Other (d) Total
fﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ‘ 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
COStS e $27,820 $26,108 $22,454 $12,059 $ 9,890 $ 7,713 $17,269 $ 9,027 $77,433 $54,907
Accumulated fair value
changes .......ccocouee.... 20,465 18,260 3,777 3,480 1,366 1,045 (643) (434) 24,965 22,351
Accumulated
depreciation................ (6,690) (5,497) (2,459) (1,889) (1,527) (1,106) (2,458) (1,472) (13,134) (9,964)
Total'? ....ooovoiveere. $41,595 $38,871 $23,772 $13,650 $ 9,729 $ 7,652 $14,168 $ 7,121 $89,264 $67,294

1. Includes amounts reclassified to held for sale.

2. As at December 31, 2019, the total includes $3.7 billion of property, plant and equipment leased to third parties as operating leases. Our ROU PP&E assets include
$2.2 billion in our Infrastructure segment, $796 million in our Real Estate segment, $1.1 billion in our Renewable Power segment and $1.3 billion in Private Equity and
other segments, totaling $5.4 billion of ROU assets.

Renewable Power, Infrastructure and Real Estate segments carry property, plant and equipment assets at fair value, classified
as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to the use of significant unobservable inputs when determining fair value.
Private Equity and other segments carry property, plant and equipment assets at amortized cost. The carrying amount that would
have been recognized had our assets been accounted for under the cost model is $51.7 billion. As at December 31,2019, $66.3 billion
(2018 — $50.5 billion) of property, plant and equipment, at cost, were pledged as collateral for the property debt at their
respective properties.

a) Renewable Power

Our renewable power property, plant and equipment consists of the following:

Hydroelectric Wind Solar and Other Total

aiﬁ%%g)m" THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Cost, beginning of year ..........cccccvevereneenenne $13,868 $14,667 $ 8576 $ 7,622 $3,664 §2,702 $26,108 $24,991
Changes in basis of accounting........................ 83 — 321 — 3 — 407 —
Additions, net of disposals and assets

reclassified as held for sale ........c..cccoooerueen.. 162 189 (342) 2D 280 (684) 100 (516)
Acquisitions through business combinations... — — 566 1,184 742 1,784 1,308 2,968
Foreign currency translation ...............ccceenueee. (14) (988) (54) (209) 35) (138) (103)  (1,335)
Cost, end of Year ........cccveeevrreeeerreeeeeene 14,099 13,868 9,067 8,576 4,654 3,664 27,820 26,108
Accumulated fair value changes, beginning

OF YEATc et 15416 12,176 2,079 1,053 765 51 18,260 13,280
Fair value changes...........c.ccccoeveineiiinncnne. 1,369 3,688 669 1,221 195 702 2,233 5,611
Dispositions and assets reclassified as held

£OT SALE ..o.voveeieiee e — — (126) — (35 — (1e1) —
Foreign currency translation .............c..cccoevenne. 142 (448) (34) (195) 25 12 133 (631)
Accumulated fair value changes, end of year.. 16,927 15,416 2,588 2,079 950 765 20,465 18,260

Accumulated depreciation, beginning of year.  (3,879)  (3,564)  (1,358) (1,008)  (260)  (109) (5497)  (4,681)

Depreciation eXpenses...........oceeeeeeereereervervennens (532) (547) (502) (416) (245) (192)  (1,279) (1,155)
Dispositions and assets reclassified as held

£OT SALE ..o 7 5 101 6 9 35 117 46
Foreign currency translation ...........cccccevevvennene ®) 227 22) 60 1) 6 31 293
Accumulated depreciation, end of year............ 4,412) (3,879) (1,781) (1,358) (497) (260)  (6,690)  (5,497)
Balance, end of year.........c.occcevveeennccncnnns $26,614 $25405 $ 9,874 $ 9297 $5,107 $ 4,169 $41,595 $38,871
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The following table presents our renewable power property, plant and equipment measured at fair value by geography:

AS AT DEC. 31
(MILLIONS)

North America.........

Colombia..................

2019 2018
.......................................................................................................................................... $ 25617 $ 24274
.......................................................................................................................................... 7,353 6,665
3,770 3,748
3,575 3,505
1,280 679

S 41595 5 3RRTIL

1. Other refers primarily to China, India and Chile in 2019 and China, India, Chile and Uruguay in 2018.

Renewable power assets are accounted for under the revaluation model and the most recent date of revaluation was
December 31, 2019. Valuations utilize significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) when determining the fair value of renewable
power assets. The significant Level 3 inputs include:

Valuation
Technique

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

Relationship of Unobservable Inputs to

Fair Value Mitigating Factors

Discounted cash
flow analysis

* Increases (decreases) in cash flows
tend to be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in discount rates that may
offset changes in fair value from cash
flows

* Future cash flows —
primarily impacted by
future electricity price
assumptions

* Increases (decreases) in future cash
flows increase (decrease) fair value

Increases (decreases) in discountrates
tend to be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in fair value from
discount rates

Discount rate * Increases (decreases) in discount rate

decrease (increase) fair value

* Terminal * Increases (decreases) in terminal < Increases (decreases) in terminal
capitalization rate capitalization rate decrease (increase) capitalization rates tend to be
fair value accompanied by increases

(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in fair value from
terminal capitalization rates

Exit date Increases (decreases) in the exit date
tend to be the result of changing cash
flow profiles that may result in higher
(lower) growth in cash flows prior to

stabilizing in the terminal year

* Increases (decreases) in the exit date
decrease (increase) fair value

Key valuation metrics of the company’s hydroelectric, wind and solar generating facilities at the end of 2019 and 2018 are

summarized below.

AS AT DEC. 31

Discount rate

Contracted ............

Uncontracted ........

Terminal

capitalization rate'.
Exit date ..................

North America Brazil Colombia Europe
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
4.6-49% 4.8-5.6% 8.2% 9.0% 9.0% 9.6% 3.5% 4.0-43%
6.2-64% 64-72% 9.5% 10.3% 10.3% 10.9% 53% 58-6.1%
. 62-64% 61-7.1% n/a n/a 9.8% 10.4% n/a n/a
2040 2039 2047 2047 2039 2038 2034 2033

1. Terminal capitalization rate applies only to hydroelectric assets in North America and Colombia.

Terminal values are included in the valuation of hydroelectric assets in the United States, Canada and Colombia. For the
hydroelectric assets in Brazil, cash flows have been included based on the duration of the authorization or useful life of a concession
asset without consideration of potential renewal value. The weighted-average remaining duration as at December 31,2019, which
includes a one-time 30-year renewal for applicable hydroelectric assets completed in the current year, is 32 years (2018 — 29 years).
Consequently, there is no terminal value attributed to the hydroelectric assets in Brazil.
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Key assumptions on contracted generation and future power pricing are summarized below:

Power Prices from Long-

Total Generation Contracted Term Power Purchase Estimates of Future
under Power Purchase Agreements Electricity Prices

Agreements (weighted average) (weighted average)
z\,\,sﬂﬁ%%cs‘)“’ 2019 1-10years 11-20years 1-10years 11-20years 1-10years 11—20 years
North America (prices in US$/MWh). 47% 17% 95 87 62 122
Brazil (prices in R$/MWh) ................. 68% 33% 295 407 273 411
Colombia (prices in COP$/MWh)...... 25% —% 217,000 272,000 257,000 358,000
Europe (prices in €/MWh).................. 71% 13% 82 102 75 84

The company’s estimate of future renewable power pricing is based on management’s estimate of the cost of securing new energy
from renewable sources to meet future demand between 2023 and 2035 (2018 — between 2022 and 2025), which will maintain

system reliability and provide adequate levels of reserve generation.
b) Infrastructure

Our infrastructure property, plant and equipment consists of the following:

Sustainable

Data Resources and
Utilities Transport Energy Infrastructure Other Total

MitLioNg) O THEYEARSENDEDDEC. 31 2919 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Cost, beginning of year.............c.ccoocoerrnnne $4,020 $3,473 $ 2,485 $2,655 $4,681 $2,630 $ 444 § — $ 429 § 495 $12,059 $ 9,253
Changes in basis of accounting ................... 21 — 356 197 — 633 — — — 1,207 —
Additions, net of disposals and assets

reclassified as held for sale ...................... 7 422 171 73 164 146 (44) 4 25) ?2) 273 643
Acquisitions through business

combinations.... — 394 5,284 3,332 2,111 94 440 — — 8,710 2,945
Foreign currency translation 138 (269) 9 (243) 69 (206) 4 — as) (64) 205 (782)
Cost, end of year...........ccooceeriererrinrerrnennns 4,186 4,020 8,305 2,485 8,443 4,681 1,131 444 389 429 22,454 12,059
Accumulated fair value changes, beginnin

of year ... ... 1401 1,256 810 873 822 629 — — 447 514 3,480 3,272
Disposition and assets reclassified as held

for sale... (416) — — — — — — 37 — (453) —
Fair value changes .............ccccocoevevvvevvvenennns 347 218 45 18 317 224 — — 6 12 715 472
Foreign currency translation 36 (73) 6) (81) 5 31) — — — (79) 35 (264)
Accumulated fair value changes, end

of year ... ... 1,368 1,401 849 810 1,144 822 — — 416 447 3,777 3,480
Accumulated depreciation, beginning

O YEAT ...t (613) (509) (744) (687) (492) (383) — — (40) (43) (1,889) (1,622)
Depreciation €Xpenses..............ccvereeerrereenns (171) (148) (178) (147) (328) (134) 87) — (10) ®) (774) (437)
Dispositions and assets reclassified as held

for sale... 204 5 25) 22 46 7 — — 7 4 232 38
Foreign currency translation........................ (16) 39 A3 68 10) 18 @ — 2 7 (28) 132
Accumulated depreciation, end of year ....... (596) (613) (950) (744) (784) (492) (88) — (41) (40) (2,459) (1,889)
Balance, end of year ............c.cocoernirurininne $4,958 $4,808 $ 8,204 $2,551 $8,803 $5011 $1,043 $ 444 $ 764 $ 836 $23,772 $13,650

Infrastructure’s PP&E assets are accounted for under the revaluation model, and the most recent date of revaluation was
December 31, 2019. The company’s utilities assets consist of regulated transmission and regulated distribution networks, which
are operated primarily under regulated rate base arrangements. In the company’s transport operations, the PP&E assets consist of
railroads, toll roads and ports. PP&E assets in the energy operations are comprised of energy transmission, distribution and storage
and district energy assets. Data infrastructure PP&E include mainly telecommunications towers, fiber optic networks and data
storage assets. PP&E within our sustainable resource operations include standing timber, land, roads and other agricultural assets.
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Valuations utilize significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) when determining the fair value of infrastructure’s utilities, transport,
energy, data infrastructure and sustainable resources assets. The significant Level 3 inputs include:

Valuation Significant Relationship of Unobservable Inputs to
Technique Unobservable Inputs Fair Value Mitigating Factors
Discounted cash  Future cash flows * Increases (decreases) in future cash <« Increases (decreases) in cash flows
flow analysis flows increase (decrease) fair value tend to be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in discount rates that may
offset changes in fair value from cash
flows
* Discount rate * Increases (decreases) in discount rate * Increases(decreases)indiscountrates
decrease (increase) fair value tend to be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in fair value from
discount rates
* Terminal * Increases (decreases) in terminal < Increases (decreases) in terminal
capitalization multiple capitalization — multiple  increases capitalization multiple tend to be
(decreases) fair value accompanied by increases
(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in fair value from
terminal capitalization multiple
* Investment horizon * Increases (decreases) in the investment * Increases  (decreases) in  the
horizon decrease (increase) fair value investment horizon tend to be

the result of changing cash flow
profiles that may result in higher
(lower) growth in cash flows prior to
stabilizing in the terminal year

Key valuation metrics of the company’s utilities, transport, energy, data infrastructure and sustainable resources assets at the end
0f 2019 and 2018 are summarized below.

Utilities Transport Energy Data Infrastructure Sustainable Resources
AS AT DEC. 31 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Discount rates.............ceererueerenens 7-14% 7-14% 9-14% 10-13% 12-15% 12-15% 13-15% 13-15% 5-10% 5-8%

Terminal capitalization multiples...  8x —21x 8x —22x 9x — 14x 9x —14x  10x-17x 10x - 14x  1Ix-17x 10x-11x 5x—10x  12x—23x

Investment horizon / Exit date

(YEAI'S) et 10-20 10-20 10-20 10-20 5-10 10 10-11 10 3-21 3-30

¢) Real Estate
Accumulated Fair Accumulated
Cost Value Changes Depreciation Total

fﬁlﬁ{%%%f(m THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Balance, beginning of year...............cccoceenene. $ 7,713 $ 5854 $ 1,045 $§ 798 $(1,106) $ (873) $ 7,652 § 5,779
Changes in basis of accounting....................... 769 — — — — — 769 —
Additions/(dispositions)', net of assets

reclassified as held for sale.............ccuevernnee. 514 352 ) 5 37 43 549 400
Acquisitions through business combinations .. 785 1,748 — — — — 785 1,748
Foreign currency translation..... 109 (241) — 3) 15) 27 94 (217)
Fair value changes.................... — — 323 245 — — 323 245
Depreciation expenses. — — — — (443) (303) (443) (303)
Balance, end of year..........ccccevveeiririeecnnen $ 980 $ 7,713 $ 1,366 $ 1,045 $ (1,527) $(1,106) $ 9,729 § 7,652

1. For accumulated depreciation, (additions)/dispositions.

The company’s real estate PP&E assets include hospitality assets accounted for under the revaluation model, with the most recent
revaluation as at December 31, 2019. The company determined fair value for these assets by using the depreciated replacement
cost method. Valuations utilize significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) when determining the fair value of real estate assets. The
significant Level 3 inputs include estimates of assets’ replacement cost and remaining economic life.
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d) Private Equity and Other

Private equity and other PP&E includes assets owned by the company’s private equity and residential development operations.
These assets are accounted for under the cost model, which requires the assets to be carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. The following table presents the changes to the carrying value of the company’s property,
plant and equipment assets included in these operations:

Accumulated Accumulated
Cost Impairment Depreciation Total

iﬁﬁfg‘;lg)m" THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Balance, beginning of year.................cccoo....... $ 9,027 $ 4,050 $ (434) $ (231) $ (1,472) $(1,086) $ 7,121 §$ 2,733
Changes in basis of accounting........................ 1,032 — — — — — 1,032 —
Additions/(dispositions)', net of assets

reclassified as held for sale..............ccevunn.. 477 360 — 1 332 72 809 433
Acquisitions through business combinations .. 6,650 4915 — — — — 6,650 4915
Foreign currency translation................coceueee. 83 (298) 13) 15 (44) 78 26 (205)
Depreciation expenses — — — — (1,274) (536) (1,274 (536)
Impairment charges............cccoceeveeieveereenrennnnn. — — (196) (219) — — (196) (219)
Balance, end of year..........ccccocevvieinieciiiiennne $17,269 $ 9,027 $ (643) $ (434) $ (2,458) $(1,472) $14,168 $ 7,121

1. For accumulated depreciation, (additions)/dispositions.

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table presents the breakdown of, and changes to, the balance of the company’s intangible assets:

Accumulated
Amortization and
Cost Impairrnent Total
fﬁlﬁ{%%%)m‘{ THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Balance, beginning of year $ 20304 $ 15251 $ (1,542) $ (1,009) $ 18,762 § 14,242
AAIIONS ... 445 288 — — 445 288
DiSPOSALS ..ot 499) 22) 132 16 (367) (6)
Acquisitions through business combinations............. 10,333 6,590 — — 10,333 6,590
AMOTHIZALION......oviviieviieiieieieeeeee et eeeees — — (1,141) (659) (1,141) (659)
Foreign currency translation..............ccoceeeeeeerevennennnn (351) (1,803) 29 110 (322) (1,693)

Balance, end of year 20,304 $ (2,522) $ (1,542) $ 27,710 $ 18,762

1. Includes assets sold and amounts reclassified to held for sale.

The following table presents intangible assets by geography:

ﬁ[ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ ! 2019 2018
BIAZIL ...tttk R ettt R et R stttk n et s Rttt h sttt ene b enenen $ 6413 § 6,270
UNIEEA SEALES....oeieeiiieiie ettt ettt ee e et e et e e ett e e eaaeesaseeeaseesaaeessaeeeeaseesaseeensaeesaseesaseeesaeessseesneeennneesnns 6,826 2,986
CANAAA ... et e et e et e e et e e et e e et e e et e e et e e et e e et e e et ee e et e e aaeeeeateeeteesaeeeanteeeaeesaaeeaneas 2,263 2,051
Y £ S Lot TR TR OO 1,200 —
AAUSETAIA ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et ettt b et e et e b e s e st et et en et st e a st sese e s et ese s s eaese s s et eneteseseneanas 1,985 1,873
UNIted KINZAOM .....viviiiiiiiiiciictecteeeet ettt ettt ettt ea e ea e et teeteeteeaseaa et e s e beeseeasensensensensesessesreereeseessennens 2,637 1,860
BUTOPE. ...ttt et e et e et e et b e e e b e e e teeeetbeeeabeeeaaa e e tbeeesbee e tee e nbeeeabeeetreeenreeenbeeetreeas 2,090 144
1,161 1,118

814 928

1,045 843

1,276 689

S 27710 518762
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Intangible assets are allocated to the following operating segments:

iﬁﬁ%‘i&f ! Note 2019 2018
INTTASTIUCTULE ....vveeeeeeeecee ettt ettt ettt et et eteetsereese e s eeseeseeseeseeseeneeneeseententeeseeseeseensersensensensenes (a) $ 14,388 $ 11,641
Private equity (b) 11,650 5,523
REAL ESTALE ...ttt et e e et e e et e e e e e e e ea e e s et e e aaeeseateseateenaee s tesereeaaeeas (c) 1,301 1,179
Renewable POWET and OthET ...........ceiviviceieiietieccece ettt ettt ettt te e e ersens s eneans 371 419

a)

$ 27,710 $ 18,762

Infrastructure

The intangible assets in our Infrastructure segment are primarily related to:

b)

Concession arrangements of $3.9 billion (2018 — $4.2 billion) at the company’s Brazilian regulated gas transmission operation
that provide the right to charge a tariff over the term of the agreements. The agreements have an expiration date between
2039 and 2041, which is the basis for the company’s determination of its remaining useful life. Upon expiry of the agreements,
the asset shall be returned to the government and the concession will be subject to a public bidding process.

Customer relationships, operating network agreements and track access rights of $2.0 billion (2018 — $nil) in our North
American rail operations. These intangible assets are amortized straight-line over 10 to 20 years.

Access agreements of $1.8 billion (2018 — $1.8 billion) with the users of the company’s Australian regulated terminal which
are 100% take-or-pay contracts at a designated tariff rate based on the asset value. The access arrangements have an expiration
date of 2051 and the company has an option to extend the arrangement an additional 49 years. The aggregate duration of the
arrangements and the extension option represents the remaining useful life.

Concession arrangements totaling $2.7 billion (2018 — $2.9 billion) relating to the company’s Peruvian, Chilean and Indian
toll roads which provide the right to charge a tariff to users of the roads over the terms of the concessions. The Chilean and
Peruvian concessions have expiration dates of 2033 and 2043 while the Indian concessions have expiration dates of 2026,
2040 and 2041. The company uses these expiration dates as a basis for determining the assets’ remaining useful lives.

Contractual customer relationships, customer contracts and proprietary technology of $1.4 billion (2018 — $1.4 billion) at
the company’s North American residential energy infrastructure operations. These assets are amortized straight line over
10 to 20 years.

Indefinite life intangible assets of $667 million (2018 — $653 million). The increase from 2018 is primarily attributable to
the brand value at our recently acquired North American residential energy infrastructure operations.

Private Equity

The intangible assets in our Private Equity segment are primarily related to:

Customer relationships of $5.3 billion (2018 — $969 million). The increase from 2018 is primarily attributable to customer
relationships acquired through our acquisition of Clarios. The customer relationships acquired is assessed to have a useful
life of up to 16 years.

Water and sewage concession agreements, the majority of which are arrangements with municipal governments across Brazil,
of $1.8 billion (2018 — $1.8 billion). The concession agreements provide the company the right to charge fees to users over
the terms of the agreements in exchange for water treatment services, ongoing and regular maintenance work on water
distribution assets and improvements to the water treatment and distribution systems. The concession agreements have
expiration dates that range from 2037 to 2055 which is the basis for the company’s determination of its remaining useful life.
Upon expiry of the agreements, the assets shall be returned to the government.

Computer software, patents, trademarks and proprietary technology of $3.2 billion (2018 — $2.1 billion). The increase from
2018 is primarily attributable to proprietary technology acquired from Clarios. The proprietary technology has the potential
to provide competitive advantages and product differentiation and is assessed to have a useful life of 20 years.
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¢) Real Estate

The company’s intangible assets in its Real Estate segment are primarily attributable to indefinite life trademarks associated with
its hospitality assets, Center Parcs U.K. and Atlantis. The Center Parcs and Atlantis trademark assets have been determined to
have an indefinite useful life as the company has the legal right to operate these trademarks exclusively in certain territories and
in perpetuity. The business models of Center Parcs and Atlantis are not subject to technological obsolescence or commercial

innovations in any material way.

Inputs Used to Determine Recoverable Amounts of Intangible Assets

We test finite life intangible assets for impairment when an impairment indicator is identified. Indefinite life intangible assets are
tested for impairment annually. We use a discounted cash flow valuation to determine the recoverable amount and consider the
following significant unobservable inputs as part of our valuation:

Valuation
Technique

Significant
Unobservable Input(s)

Relationship of Unobservable Input(s)
to Fair Value

Mitigating Factor(s)

Discounted cash « Future cash flows

flow models

¢ Discount rate

» Terminal capitalization
rate

¢ Exit date

* Increases (decreases) in future cash

flows  increase
recoverable amount

(decrease)  the

Increases (decreases) in discount rate
decrease (increase) the recoverable
amount

Increases (decreases) in terminal
capitalization rate decrease (increase)
the recoverable amount

Increases (decreases) in the exit date
decrease (increase) the recoverable
amount

* Increases (decreases) in cash flows

tend to be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in discount rates that may
offset changes in recoverable
amounts from cash flows

Increases (decreases) in discount
rates tend to be accompanied by
increases (decreases) in cash flows
that may offset changes in
recoverable amounts from discount
rates

Increases (decreases) in terminal
capitalization rates tend to be
accompanied by increases
(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in recoverable
amounts from terminal capitalization
rates

Increases (decreases) in the exit date
tend to be the result of changing cash
flow profiles that may result in higher
(lower) growth in cash flows prior to
stabilizing in the terminal year
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14. GOODWILL

The following table presents the breakdown of, and changes to, the balance of goodwill:

Accumulated
Cost Impairment Total
f}jﬂﬁgf“ THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Balance, beginning of year...........ccccoveveerieiereriennns $ 9198 $ 5707 $ 383) $ (390) $ 8815 § 5317
Acquisitions through business combinations.............. 6,125 4,158 — — 6,125 4,158
Impairment 10SSES........ccvevierierirrieeeeeeeeeeeeeieieans — — (453) — (453) —
Foreign currency translation and other' .................... 89 (667) (26) 7 63 (660)
Balance, end of Year............ccocooeveeeeceeieeeceeeenne $ 15412 $ 9,198 $ 862) $ (383) $ 145550 $ 8,815
I Includes adjustment to goodwill based on final purchase price allocation.
The following table presents goodwill by geography:
AT DR 2019 2018
EUTODC. ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et e et e e teeaeersertent et b et e eaeereeaeeaeert et et et e teeaeereersensensenes $ 3949 § 2,131
UNIEEA STALES.......uviiieeiiieiie ettt ee ettt e et e et e e e e e e eaeeeeeaeeeeaeeeeaaeeesesessaeessseeeseeesseeesnseesneeesneeesnseseseeesneeesnnees 2,843 1,306
AAUSETALIA ..ttt ettt ettt et s et e st eh et e st b en b et eR e he s eR et ene b en s es e b e st b et et e b ent et et eseeseneetenteaens 2,293 876
[TV b OO 2,169 1,923
(000751 1) - USROS 1,428 1,384
BIAZIL ...ttt ettt h bbb st bt a b st bt bt b e st b et et et ent e b et eteeteneeteneeaea 862 762
OBRET ...ttt ettt h stttk a et b bt E ekt E Rkt e bRt bea et b sttt sttt b ettt ene 1,006 433
S 14550 5 88I5
Goodwill is allocated to the following operating segments:
3,5[1/2{%%%)3 ! Note 2019 2018
TIUETASEIUCTUTE ..ottt ettt et e e e et et et et e et et e e eeeeeeeeueeaeeeeeateaseseeseeseseeseeseeseeeaeeeeseeneen (a) $ 6553 $§ 3,859
PIIVALE QUILY....cviiiiiitieietiteiet ettt ettt ettt se et st e e b seese s ese s essese s esaesessesesseseesessesesseseesessesens (b) 5,218 2,411
REAL CSLALE. ...ttt et e et e st e e e et e e saa e e sae e ettt e et e e eae e ettt e eateesaeeennaeeas () 1,357 1,157
(d) 977 941
328 328
117 119

$ 14550 §$ 82815

a) Infrastructure

Goodwill in our Infrastructure segment increased primarily from acquisitions completed in 2019, including Genesee & Wyoming
($2.0billion), a federally regulated western Canadian natural gas midstream business ($218 million) and a U.K. telecommunication
business ($301 million).

In addition to goodwill from acquisitions completed in 2019, we have goodwill attributed to Enercare ($1.3 billion), a Brazilian
regulated gas transmission operation ($632 million), a portfolio of North American data centers ($486 million) and a Colombian
natural gas distribution operation ($542 million).

Goodwill attributable to our Brazilian regulated gas transmission arose from the inclusion of a deferred tax liability as the tax
bases of the net assets acquired were lower than their fair values. The goodwill is recoverable as long as the tax circumstances
that gave rise to the goodwill do not change. To date, no such changes have occurred.

The valuation assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount of goodwill has been determined using a discounted
cash flow model. The key inputs are discount rates ranging from 12% — 14%, terminal capitalization multiples of 8x — 12x and
cash flow periods of 7 — 20 years. The recoverable amounts for the years ended 2019 and 2018 were determined to be in excess
of their carrying values.
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b) Private Equity

Goodwill in our Private Equity segment increased primarily from acquisitions completed in 2019, including Healthscope
($1.5 billion) and Clarios ($1.9 billion). The purchase price allocations for these acquisitions have been completed on a preliminary
basis.

In addition to goodwill from acquisitions completed in 2019, goodwill is primarily attributable to our construction services business
and Teekay Offshore.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually using a discounted cash flow analysis to determine the recoverable amount. During
the year, we reported an impairment loss of $417 million as the recoverable amounts at our construction services business and
Teekay Offshore did not exceed the carrying amount.

The valuation assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for our construction services business are a discount rate of
9.4% (2018 — 10.0%), terminal growth rate of 1.5% (2018 — 2.8%) and terminal year of 2024 for cash flows included in the
assumptions (2018 —2023).

¢) Real Estate

Goodwill in our Real Estate segment is primarily attributable to Center Parcs and IFC Seoul. The recoverable amounts of the two
assets for the years ended 2019 and 2018 were determined to be in excess of their carrying values.

The valuation assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for Center Parcs are a discount rate of 7.9% (2018 — 7.4%)
based on a market-based-weighted-average cost of capital, and a long-term growth rate of 2.0% (2018 — 2.0%).

The valuation assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for IFC Seoul were a discount rate of 7.5% (2018 — 7.7%)
based on a market-based-weighted-average cost of capital, and a long-term growth rate of 2.8% (2018 — 2.0%).

d) Renewable Power

Goodwill in our Renewable Power segment, which is primarily attributable to a hydroelectric portfolio in Colombia, arose from
the inclusion of a deferred tax liability as the tax bases of the net assets acquired were lower than their fair values. The goodwill
is recoverable as long as the tax circumstances that gave rise to the goodwill do not change. To date, no such changes have occurred.

Inputs used to Determine Recoverable Amounts of Goodwill
The recoverable amounts used in goodwill impairment testing are calculated using discounted cash flow models based on the

following significant unobservable inputs:

Valuation
Technique

Significant
Unobservable Input(s)

Relationship of Unobservable Input(s)

to Fair Value Mitigating Factor(s)

Discounted cash * Future cash flows * Increases (decreases) in future cash
flow models flows increase  (decrease) the
recoverable amount

* Increases (decreases) in cash flows
tend to be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in discount rates that may
offset changes in recoverable
amounts from cash flows

* Discount rate * Increases (decreases) in discount rate ¢ Increases (decreases) in discount

+ Terminal capitalization
rate / multiple

+ Exit date / terminal
year of cash flows

decrease (increase) the recoverable
amount

Increases (decreases) in terminal
capitalization rate/multiple decrease
(increase) the recoverable amount

Increases (decreases) in the exit date/
terminal year of cash flows decrease
(increase) the recoverable amount

rates tend to be accompanied by
increases (decreases) in cash flows
that may offset changes in
recoverable amounts from discount
rates

Increases (decreases) in terminal
capitalization rates/multiple tend to
be accompanied by increases
(decreases) in cash flows that may
offset changes in recoverable
amounts from terminal capitalization
rates

Increases (decreases) in the exit date/
terminal year of cash flows tend to be
the result of changing cash flow
profiles that may result in higher
(lower) growth in cash flows prior to
stabilizing in the terminal year
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15. INCOME TAXES

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are set out below:

(Fﬁﬁ{}-(l)%\]\g;iARs ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
CUITeNt INCOME tAX EXPEIISE ....vvvierereerereeriseseesisesesseseesessesessessesesseseesessesessessesessessssessesessessssessessssessesessesesseseasens $ 970 $ 861

Deferred income tax expense / (recovery)

Origination and reversal of temporary differenCes ..........c.oovvvieiieeiiieieeieeeeeee et 281 143

Expense arising from previously unrecognized taX aSSELS.......c.cvievveierrerierieriereriesiesseeseeeeeesessessessessessessennns (647) (955)

Change of tax rates and New 18@ISIAtION ...........ccoiiiiiiriiiiieee ettt (109) 297)
Total deferred income tax recovery 475) (1,109)
INCOME taX EXPENSE (TECOVEIY)..evirurrrrerrerreriertessessesseeseaseessessessessassessessassssssessessessessessessessseseessessensessessessessensenses $ 495 $ (248)

The company’s Canadian domestic statutory income tax rate has remained consistent at 26% throughout both of 2019 and 2018.
The company’s effective income tax rate is different from the company’s domestic statutory income tax rate due to the following
differences set out below:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
StAtULOTY INCOIME tAX TALC.......ecvievierierieeieteeteeteeteeteereeteereeeesseeseeseeseeseeseessessessesseseeseeseessessessessensesseseeseeseeseeseenean 26% 26 %
Increase (reduction) in rate resulting from:
Change in tax rates and NewW leZiSIAtiON. ........c.cceccieriirieriisieeceeeeeeee ettt re e b e sa e sae e beeseeneas ?2) 4)
International operations subject to different taxX rates............cceeeeeeieieiiieiieieeeceee ettt (@) 3)
Taxable income attributable to non-controlling INEIESLS ...........cccevirieerieieririeiireieteseee ettt “4) ®)
Portion of gains subject to different taX TAteS ..........c.ceveriiriiisieieieiei ettt besbe e eeeeee @ 4)
Recognition of deferred taX @SSELS........ciiiiriiriiriiicectetect ettt ettt ettt ev e et et eveete sttt et et eaeeaeensene (&) (12)
Non-recognition of the benefit of current year’s tax losses.... 4 1
OBNET ..ttt ettt ettt ettt sttt e b st e et et st et e s e st s e s et e a e s b e s ea e b e s et nt et R e s n stk e st a e b e s et et esebes e s s enesensesene 1 1
EffECtiVe INCOME tAX TALC ......cviiviivierictietieetet ettt ettt ete st eaeeeaeeteeteeteeveeseessessessesesseeseessessessessensesessesseereereereans 8% 3)%
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2019 and 2018 relate to the following:
ajﬁl%%%f‘ 2019 2018
Non-capital 10SSES (CaNAAQ) ........ccveriererierieiiieieieietertest st ete e e e eae s esaessesbessesseeseeseessessessessassessessassessasseans $ 848 $ 685
Capital losses (Canada) 80 108
LLOSSES (ULS.) ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e et e e te e eae e be e beeab e et e eateeabeeaaeeaeeete e beeebeebeebeeareeabeearesreeereanns 3,102 2,219
L088€S (INtEINALIONAL) .......ooviiieiiciiiciieete ettt ettt ettt eae et et e et e et eeaeeeteeeseeeteeeseeseeseenseensesaseeseesreenes 705 645
DITTEIEIICE 1N DASIS .....eeieeieeeeieeeee ettt ettt e et e et e e eae e e et e saeeeeaeeesaaeesseeesaseesaseesssessaseesneessanessans (16,012) (13,161)
Total net deferred taX HADIILIES .........cvcviviieieeieeiecee ettt ettt ettt et et e e teeteeasensensenseeseereereereereeneens $ (11,277) $ (9,504)

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have
not been recognized as at December 31, 2019 is approximately $5 billion (2018 — approximately $6 billion).

The company regularly assesses the status of open tax examinations and its historical tax filing positions for the potential for
adverse outcomes to determine the adequacy of the provision for income and other taxes. The company believes that it has
adequately provided for any tax adjustments that are more likely than not to occur as a result of ongoing tax examinations or
historical filing positions.

The dividend payment on certain preferred shares of the company results in the payment of cash taxes in Canada and the company
obtaining a deduction based on the amount of these taxes.
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The following table details the expiry date, if applicable, of the unrecognized deferred tax assets:

giﬁl%'i%f ! 2019 2018
One year from rePOrting AAE ..........cocivviuirieiiririeieteieteteeet ettt ettt e bt ese s eseeteseseeseseesesseseesessesesseseesens $ 22§ 16
Two years from reporting date 9 —
Three years from repPOItiNg ALE ...........ccvevieviiiuirrieriiriereeeeeeieecteete ettt ereeteee et eeseeseeteeseessessessensesseeseereeseersereens 14 2
After three years from reporting date .............cccivieiriiiiirieiiieiiit ettt b s es s b s sesseseesens 1,159 1,125
Do not expire..... 1,632 1,526
TORAL ...ttt ettt ettt b et b st st s b e st st et b en s s et ese b ent e s et ene b ent et e seneebeneeaens $ 283 $ 2,669

The components of the income taxes in other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are set
out below:

fh(/I)R THE YS'})EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
Revaluation of property, plant and eqUIPMENL ...........c.c.ccvevveviiiiiriiriereee ettt et eees s eaeereereereereereennens $ 623 $ 1,302
Financial contracts and power Sale a@reeMENtS............cocveeiririerirreieriiereireeeresseseeseseeresseseesesesessessesessesessessesens 6 26
Fair value through OCI securities 88 10
Foreign currenCy transSlation..............cvecveeuieuiiriericeieeeeee ettt ettt ettt et et te et eaeetseasenseaseeseeseereereereeraennens (€)) 69
Revaluation of pension ObIIZAtION............c.cevieiriiieriieiieieietieeeet ettt ettt es s s s ese b esaesesseseeseseeseas 6) 7
Total deferred tax in other compPrehensive INCOME ..........c.ccverririieiieeieiieieieteie ettt eesenis $ 703 $ 1,414

16. CORPORATE BORROWINGS
&S{Iﬂ%‘%\lcs-)n Maturity ~ Annual Rate  Currency 2019 2018
Term debt

Public — Canadian..............ccoooueiieeieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e Apr. 9,2019 3.95% C$S $ — 3 440
Public — Canadian.............ccoceevieierriiniereeiieeeeeeeeeeeenes Mar. 1, 2021 5.30% C$ 269 257
Public — Canadian Mar. 31, 2023 4.54% C$ 463 441
Public — Canadian..............ccoooueiieeieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e Mar. 8, 2024 5.04% C$ 385 367
PUBLIC — U.Si i Apr. 1,2024 4.00% UsS$ 749 749
Public — U.S. i Jan. 15, 2025 4.00% Us$ 500 500
Public — Canadian.............cc.ooevveeviiiiieeieeceee e Jan. 28, 2026 4.82% C$ 664 633
PUBLIC — U.Si i Jun. 2, 2026 4.25% US$ 497 496
Public — Canadian............coeceirerreenreeceeeeeeeeee Mar. 16, 2027 3.80% C$ 385 366
PUblic — U.S. i Jan. 25, 2028 3.90% USS$ 649 648
PUbLIC — U.S. i Mar. 29, 2029 4.85% UsS$ 998 —
Public — U.S. i Mar. 1, 2033 7.38% US$ 250 250
Public — Canadian..............ccoooviieeeieeieeeeeeeeeeee e Jun. 14, 2035 5.95% C$ 325 309
Private — JAPANESE .......c.ocoeveveeeeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e Dec. 1, 2038 1.42% JPY 92 91
Public — U.S. i Sep. 20, 2047 4.70% Us$ 902 903

7,128 6,450

DEferred fINANCING COSES' .....v.voeeeee oo e e eeeee e eeese s e s e eeeeeeeese e se s eseeeseeeseeeseeeaeeeeseeseesseseseeens 45) (41)
TOLAL. ettt h bRttt h Rt e ekttt b ettt h st b bttt n et eteneneas $ 7,08 $ 6,409

1. Deferred financing costs are amortized to interest expense over the term of the borrowing using the effective interest method.

Corporate borrowings have a weighted-average interest rate of 4.6% (2018 —4.5%) and include $2.5 billion (2018 — $2.8 billion)
repayable in Canadian dollars of C$3.2 billion (2018 — C$3.8 billion) and $92 million (2018 — $91 million) repayable in Japanese
Yen of ¥10 billion (2018 — ¥10 billion).
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17. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER

AP 2019 2018
Accounts payable.... $ 9583 § 6,873
PLOVISIONS ...ttt e e et e e et e e e e e et e e et e e eat e e e et e seaeeesaseeseatesaaeeesaseesneesseeesaseesseesessessaseesannesaaneenans 4,104 2,830
LLASE THADIIIEIES ......eeviiieee ettt ettt e et e et e et e e e e teeaeeeaeeaaeseteeneesasesneeseeeeneesteeneennes 5,494 —
OBNET TADIIIEIES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et se e s ese s et es et e se s eseses et esesese s esesentesesesene s esesesssene 23,896 14,286
TOTAL ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt s ettt e b ettt b et se st et a st s s b et st eb et s b s et eas et b esese st ese e s ene $ 43,077 $ 23,989

The current and non-current balances of accounts payable, provisions and other liabilities are as follows:

(ﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ‘ 2019 2018
CUIT@NE L.ttt e e vt e ete e teete et e easeeaeeeseeeseeaseesseaseerssenseesseeaseaseeesseaseeassenseenssenseenseensesseeessenseesseseennes $ 23212 $§ 14,337
INOIIECUITEIL. ...t e e ettt e e e et e e e e eaa et e e e eaaeeessassaeeeeeameaeeeeennaseessassaseessansseessensseeessnsaseeesannseeeas 19,865 9,652
TOTAL. ettt ettt ettt ettt et ettt ettt ettt et e b et e eteeaeeteereent et et e eteeteeteeasensent et eeteereereereereereens $ 43,077 $ 23,989

Post-Employment Benefits

The company offers pension and other post-employment benefit plans to employees of certain of its subsidiaries. The company’s
obligations under its defined benefit pension plans are determined periodically through the preparation of actuarial valuations.
The benefit plans’ in-year valuation change was a decrease of $149 million (2018 —a decrease of $19 million). The discount
rate used was 3% (2018 — 2%) with an increase in the rate of compensation of 2% (2018 — 2%), and an investment rate of 6%
(2018 — 3%).

Gﬁlﬁl%%%)sl 2019 2018
PIAN @SSES.......eeeeee ettt ettt ettt et e et e et e ea e e a e e e et e et et e et e et e et e et e et e erteetteeteeeaeeteeteetesaeeneseans $ 3,029 $§ 1,981

Less accrued benefit obligation:

Defined benefit pension plan (3,995) (2,548)

Other post-eMPloOyMENt DENETILS........c.ecvirieieieieieieieriese ettt et e st e st e et eeteetaesaessessessessessessesseeseaseas 173) (148)
INEE HHADILIEY ...ttt ettt ettt ettt b et s s s et se s et et e b s esese s ebebas e s eseseseesesesese s esesessesesens (1,139) (715)
Less: net actuarial gains (10SS€S) and OtNET .............coeuieiiiiieiiieerecreeeceee ettt et ereereeveere e ereens 13 (10)
Accrued Benefit HADIIILY .. .ccvccviiiiiiceicieieee ettt ettt b e s beebeeseesaesaessessessessessessnesnns $ (@1,126) $ (725)
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18. NON-RECOURSE BORROWINGS OF MANAGED ENTITIES

AS AT DEC. 31 Note 2019 2018
(a) $ 8423 § 8,600
(b) 127,869 103,209

$ 136,292 $ 111,809

a) Subsidiary Borrowings

Principal repayments on subsidiary borrowings due over the next five calendar years and thereafter are as follows:

Renewable Private Residential
(MILLIONS) Real Estate Power Infrastructure Equity Development Total
2020 e $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 17§ 17
2021 e 443 — — — 36 479
2022 s — 308 347 — 541 1,196
2023 s 308 — — — 227 535
2024 oo 1,294 299 1,359 — 57 3,009
Thereafter...........ccooeeeeneiieieeene — 1,501 768 — 949 3,218
Total Principal repayments.............. 2,045 2,108 2,474 — 1,827 8,454
Deferred financing costs and other.. 21 (10) “4) — 4 31
Total — Dec. 31,2019..................... $ 2,024 $ 2,098 $ 2,470 $ — 3 1,831 § 8,423
Total — Dec. 31, 2018......ccoveeienne $ 2,504 $ 2,328 $ 1,993 § 52 % 1,723 $ 8,600

The weighted-average interest rate on subsidiary borrowings as at December 31, 2019 was 4.3% (2018 — 4.5%)).

The current and non-current balances of subsidiary borrowings are as follows:

AS AT DEC. 31

(MILLIONS) 2019 2018
CUITENE ...ttt ettt ettt et b bbb bbb b b e b e s e bbb b e s e b e s s e s s ebesesebesesesesesesesesebesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesenas $ 17 $ 395
8,406 8,205
. $ 8423 § 8,600

Subsidiary borrowings by currency include the following:

AS AT DEC. 31

(MILLIONS) 2019 Local Currency 2018 Local Currency
U.S. dollars..........ccooiieiniiiciiicceccecceeens $ 5,162 US$ 5162 § 6,846 USS$ 6,846
Canadian dollars..............cccceccciiiiiicicicccenes 3,078 Cs 3,998 1,613 C$ 2,200
183 Rs 737 — Rs —
— AS — 141 AS 200

Total....oiiicc e $ 8,423 $ 8,600
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b) Property-Specific Borrowings

Principal repayments on property-specific borrowings due over the next five calendar years and thereafter are as follows:

Renewable Private Residential
(MILLIONS) Real Estate Power Infrastructure Equity Development Total
2020 i $ 9,871 $ 1,556 § 2,740 $ 1,438 § 91 § 15,696
2021 e 11,796 1,073 1,044 868 38 14,819
2022 s 7,784 1,168 1,707 1,487 19 12,165
2023 s 6,876 1,841 3,012 1,524 13 13,266
2024 oo 11,181 797 3,043 2,947 136 18,104
Thereafter.........cccooeerencicniicce 20,945 9,377 9,365 15,363 — 55,050
Total Principal repayments.............. 68,453 15,812 20,911 23,627 297 129,100
Deferred financing costs and other .. (544) (25) (135) (522) %) (1,231)
Total — Dec. 31,2019...................... $ 67,909 $ 15,787 $ 20,776 $ 23,105 $ 292§ 127,869
Total — Dec. 31, 2018......cceveeneee $ 63,494 $ 14,233 $ 14,334  § 10,820 $ 328§ 103,209

The weighted-average interest rate on property-specific borrowings as at December 31, 2019 was 4.7% (2018 — 5.0%).

The current and non-current balances of property-specific borrowings are as follows:

ﬁlﬁl%%%)ﬂ 2019 2018

CUITEIME ..ottt e et et et e et e et eea e e e et eeae e e e e ae e e e eaeeemeesese et e saeeeaeeaeeeaeeeeeeseemnesasesneesaeesaeenas $ 15,696 $ 10,764
112,173 92,445

$ 127,869 § 103,209
Property-specific borrowings by currency include the following:

AS AT DEC. 31

(MILLIONS) 2019 Local Currency 2018 Local Currency
ULS. dOHIArS ..o $ 84,203 USS 84,203 § 72,747 USS$ 72,747
British pounds .........cccocvevievievineneieeeeeeeeeee e 9,812 £ 7,401 7,200 £ 5,643
Canadian dollars 7,955 C$ 10,333 6,285 CS$ 8,573
European Union UI0S............ccoeveurereereeeeeeireineeneenns 6,844 € 6,103 3,264 € 2,846
Australian dollars ............cccooeveviviiiiiieieeeeeeeeees 4,815 AS$ 6,861 2,968 A$ 4,210
INdIian TUPEES ......ccuveveeeieieieieeieeteee e 4,143 Rs 295,106 2,026 Rs 140,694
Brazilian reais............ccooveveveiiieiiieceeeeeeeeeeeeeene 3,969 R$ 15,998 3,825 RS 14,820
Colombian Pesos .........ceveuereriririeerierereereeeiene 2,029 COPS$ 6,671,818 1,855 COP§ 6,025,270
KoOrean Wom .......c.c..oooiveviiiiiiiiiiicceeee e 1,959 W 2,264,478 1,613 W 1,797415
Chilean unidades de fomento .............cc.covevvevvevveenennene 1,099 UF 29 837 UF 21
Other CUITENCIES .......ccveiieeeeiiieeeeeeeeee e 1,041 n/a n/a 589 n/a n/a

$ 103,209
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19. SUBSIDIARY EQUITY OBLIGATIONS

Subsidiary equity obligations consist of the following:

331’2{1%%%)3 ! Note 2019 2018
Subsidiary preferred SQUILY UNILS .......cvccvirierierrieieieieietetet et estesiesee e eseeseeeessessessesbessessesseessessessenes (@ $ 1,650 § 1,622
Limited-life funds and redeemable fund UNits ............ccceeveieviiiiiciieiieceeeceeeeeeeee e (b) 1,896 1,724

(©) 586 530
S 432§ 387

a) Subsidiary Preferred Equity Units

In 2014, BPY issued $1.8 billion of exchangeable preferred equity units in three $600 million tranches redeemable in 2021, 2024
and 2026, respectively. The preferred equity units are exchangeable into equity units of BPY at $25.70 per unit, at the option of
the holder, at any time up to and including the maturity date. BPY may redeem the preferred equity units after specified periods
if the BPY equity unit price exceeds predetermined amounts. At maturity, the preferred equity units that remain outstanding will
be converted into BPY equity units at the lower of $25.70 or the then market price of a BPY equity unit. The preferred equity
units represent a compound financial instrument comprised of the financial liability representing the company’s obligations to
redeem the preferred equity units at maturity for a variable number of BPY units and an equity instrument representing the holder’s
right to convert the preferred equity units to a fixed number of BPY units. The company is required under certain circumstances
to purchase the preferred equity units at their redemption value in equal amounts in 2021 and 2024 and may be required to purchase
the 2026 tranche, as further described in Note 29(a).

AS AT DEC. 31 Shares Cumulative Local

(MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE INFORMATION) Outstanding  Dividend Rate Currency 2019 2018
SETIES L. 24,000,000 6.25% US$s $ 574§ 562
SETIES 2. 24,000,000 6.50% US$ 546 537
Series 3 24,000,000 6.75% US$ 530 523
TOTAL ... $ 1,650 § 1,622

b) Limited-Life Funds and Redeemable Fund Units

Limited-life funds and redeemable fund units represent interests held in our consolidated funds by third-party investors that have
been classified as a liability rather than as non-controlling interest, as holders of these interests can cause our funds to redeem
their interest in the fund for cash equivalents at a specified time. As at December 31, 2019, we have $1.9 billion of subsidiary
equity obligations arising from limited-life funds and redeemable fund units (2018 — $1.7 billion arising from limited-life funds).

In our real estate business, limited-life fund obligations include $921 million (2018 — $813 million) of equity interests held by
third-party investors in two consolidated funds that have been classified as a liability, instead of non-controlling interest, as holders
of these interests can cause the funds to redeem their interests in the fund for cash equivalents at the fair value of the interest at
a set date.

As at December 31, 2019, we have $934 million (2018 — $826 million) of subsidiary equity obligations arising from limited-life
fund units in our infrastructure business. These obligations are primarily composed of the portion of the equity interest held by
third-party investors in our timberland and agriculture funds that are attributed to the value of the land held in the fund. The value
of this equity interest has been classified as a liability, instead of non-controlling interest, as we are obligated to purchase the land
from the third-party investors on maturity of the fund.

We also have $41 million of redeemable fund units (2018 — $85 million) in certain funds managed by our public securities business.

¢) Subsidiary Preferred Shares and Capital

Preferred shares are classified as liabilities if the holders of the preferred shares have the right, after a fixed date, to convert
the shares into common equity of the issuer based on the market price of the common equity of the issuer at that time unless
they are previously redeemed by the issuer. The dividends paid on these securities are recorded in interest expense. As at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the balance related to obligations of BPY and its subsidiaries.
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AS AT DEC. 31 Shares Cumulative Local
(MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE INFORMATION) Outstanding  Dividend Rate Currency 2019 2018

Brookfield Property Split Corp
(“BOP Split”) senior preferred shares

SEIIES 1 eueivieieieiiiiie s 924,390 5.25% Uss $ 23§ 23

SEIIES 2 ..ttt 699,165 5.75% C$ 13 13

SEIIES 3 . 909,814 5.00% C$ 18 17

SEIIES B e e eeeeeeeeeeen e 940,486 5.20% CS$ 18 17
BSREP II RH B LLC (“Manufactured Housing™)

preferred capital............cooeveveeeveveveeeeeeeeeeeeeseeenenens — 9.00% Uss$ 249 249
Rouse Series A preferred shares..........c.cccoeveeeeeereneennnne. 5,600,000 5.00% US$ 142 142
BSREP Il Vintage Estate Partners LLC (“Vintage

Estates”) preferred Shares............cooovevevevevcuevevevrnennnn. 10,000 5.00% US$ 40 40
BIP Investment Corporation Series 1 Senior preferred

SRATES ...t 4,000,000 5.85% C$ 73 —
Forest City Enterprises L.P. (“Forest City”) & Other

Preferred Capital ........ccvevvevierieieieieieieseseee e 387,079 2.00% US$ 10 29

TOLAL ...ttt ettt ettt ettt a et a et ettt et et ettt e ae s et et e st et et en e et ent et et et s et et et e st eneenenes $ 586 $ 530

Each series of the BOP Split senior preferred shares are redeemable at the option of either the issuer or the holder as the redemption
and conversion option dates have passed.

Subsidiary preferred capital includes $249 million at December 31, 2019 (2018 — $249 million) of preferred equity interests held
by a third-party investor in Manufactured Housing which has been classified as a liability, rather than as non-controlling interest,
due to the fact the holders are only entitled to distributions equal to their capital balance plus 9% annual return payable in monthly
distributions until maturity in December 2025. The preferred capital was issued to partially fund the acquisition of the Manufactured
Housing portfolio during the first quarter of 2017.

Subsidiary preferred shares include $142 million at December 31, 2019 (2018 — $142 million) of preferred equity interests held
by a third-party investor in Rouse Properties, L.P., which have been classified as a liability, rather than as non-controlling interests,
due to the fact that the interests have no voting rights and are mandatorily redeemable on or after November 12, 2025 for a set
price per unit plus any accrued but unpaid distributions; distributions are capped and accrue regardless of available cash generated.

20. SUBSIDIARY PUBLIC ISSUERS AND FINANCE SUBSIDIARY

Brookfield Finance Inc. (“BFI”) is an indirect 100% owned subsidiary of the Corporation that may offer and sell debt securities.
Any debt securities issued by BFI are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Corporation. BFI issued $500 million of 4.25%
notes due in 2026 on June 2, 2016, $550 million and $350 million of 4.70% notes due in 2047 on September 14, 2017 and
January 17, 2018, respectively, $650 million of 3.90% notes due in 2028 on January 17, 2018 and $1 billion of 4.85% notes due
in 2029 on January 29, 2019.

Brookfield Finance LLC (“BFL”) is a Delaware limited liability company formed on February 6, 2017 and an indirect 100%
owned subsidiary of the Corporation. BFL is a “finance subsidiary,” as defined in Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X. Any debt securities
issued by BFL are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Corporation. On March 10, 2017, BFL issued $750 million of
4.00% notes due in 2024. On December 31, 2018, as part of an internal reorganization, the 2024 notes were transferred to BFI.
BFL has no independent activities, assets or operations other than in connection with any debt securities it may issue.

Subsequent to year-end, the Corporation announced a public offering of $600 million of notes due 2050. The notes were issued
by BFL and have a coupon of 3.45%.

Brookfield Investments Corporation (“BIC”) is an investment company that holds investments in the real estate and forest products
sectors, as well as a portfolio of preferred shares issued by the Corporation’s subsidiaries. The Corporation provided a full and
unconditional guarantee of the Class 1 Senior Preferred Shares, Series A issued by BIC. As at December 31, 2019, C$42 million
of these senior preferred shares were held by third-party shareholders and are retractable at the option of the holder.
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The following tables contain summarized financial information of the Corporation, BFI, BFL, BIC and non-guarantor subsidiaries:

Subsidiaries of
the Corporation
Other than BFI

BFL and BIC

Consolidatin% The Company

73,310

3,493
331,698
195,586

Adjustments Consolidated

$ (5,841) $ 67,826
3,618) 2,807
(87,614) 323,969
(30,659) 207,123

Subsidiaries of
the Corporation

AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR The
ENDED DEC. 31, 2019 he
(MILLIONS) Corporation
Revenues..........cccecveeen. $ 104
Net income attributable

to shareholders.............. 2,807
Total assets.......cccouvee.. 70,976
Total liabilities ................ 35,963
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR The
ENDED DEC. 31, 2018 he
(MILLIONS) Corporation
Revenues..........cccoeuveee. $ 810
Net income attributable

to shareholders.............. 3,584
Total assets.........c............ 59,105
Total liabilities ................ 29,290

1. This column accounts for investments in all subsidiaries of the Corporation under the equity method.

2. This column accounts for investments in all subsidiaries of the Corporation other than BFI, BFL and BIC on a combined basis.

3. This column includes the necessary amounts to present the company on a consolidated basis.

21. EQUITY

Equity consists of the following:

AS AT DEC. 31
(MILLIONS)

Preferred equity

NON-CONLIOLING INEETESTS .....vviviiieeiieiietiietieietetet ettt e et seseese s esesseseesessesesseseesassesessesenns

COMIMON EUILY 1.ttt ettt ettt ettt e st et e eb et e st e b et e st e b et e b et es et eneebe s eseebeneenen

a) Preferred Equity

Other than BFL Consolidatin% The Company
BFL and BIC Adjustments Consolidated
62,984 $ (7,282) $ 56,771

4,506 (4,604) 3,584
271,534 (81,997) 256,281
154,458 (29,730) 159,131

Note 2019 2018

(a) $ 4145 § 4,168

(b) 81,833 67,335

() 30,868 25,647

$ 116,846 $ 97,150

Preferred equity includes perpetual preferred shares and rate-reset preferred shares and consists of the following:

AS AT DEC. 31
(MILLIONS)

Perpetual preferred shares

FLoAting Tate.......c.ciiuiieiiieieieieie et

FIXCA TALC.....vieviceiceeceeeeeeececeeee ettt

Average Rate

2019 2018 2019 2018
2.91% 290% $ 531 $ 531
4.82% 4.82% 739 744
4.02% 4.02% 1,270 1,275
4.28% 4.26% 2,875 2,893

4.20%

4.19%

$ 4,145 $ 4,168
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Further details on each series of preferred shares are as follows:

Issued and Outstanding
AS ATDEC. 31 Rate 2019 2018 2019 2018

(MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE INFORMATION)
Class A preferred shares

Perpetual preferred shares

Series 2 70% P 10,457,685 10,457,685 § 169 § 169
Series 4 70% P/8.5% 2,795,910 2,795,910 45 45
Series 8 Variable up to P 2,476,185 2,476,185 42 42
Series 13 ..o 70% P 9,290,096 9,290,096 195 195
Series 15 .o B.A.+40b.p.' 2,000,000 2,000,000 42 42
Series 17 ..ooeiiiciciicceeeeeeeee 4.75% 7,840,204 7,901,476 171 172
Series 18 ..o 4.75% 7,866,749 7,921,178 178 179
SEries 25 ..ot 3-Month T-Bill + 230 b.p. 1,529,133 1,529,133 38 38
SErIes 36 ... 4.85% 7,842,909 7,900,764 197 199
SIIeS 37 .. 4.90% 7,830,091 7,888,143 193 194
1,270 1,275
Rate-reset preferred shares”

SEries 9 c.viieiiiiccreee e 2.75% 1,515,981 1,515,981 21 21
Series 24 ...covevvviereinieiriceeeeeeeee e 3.01% 9,278,894 9,338,572 227 228
Series 26 ... 3.47% 9,770,928 9,840,588 240 241
SEries 28 ..ot 2.73% 9,233,927 9,289,397 232 233
Series 30 ...ceviriereiririereeneeeee e 4.69% 9,787,090 9,852,258 241 243
SEIIES 327 1ovmoreeevieeeeeeeeee e 5.06% 11,750,299 11,849,808 297 300
Series 34% ..o 4.44% 9,876,735 9,926,620 253 254
Series 38 ..o 4.40% 7,906,132 7,955,948 179 180
SEries 407 ..ouivereereeeeeeeeie e 4.03% 11,841,025 11,914,515 271 273
Sries 42 ..ot 4.50% 11,887,500 11,943,400 266 268
Series 44 ...c.oovvveueiirieicenneete e 5.00% 9,831,929 9,882,879 187 188
SEries 46 ....c.cvvuiveiiicirieieeeereeeeee 4.80% 11,740,797 11,810,653 217 219
Series 48 ..o 4.75% 11,885,972 11,961,701 244 245
2,875 2,893

TOTAL ..ttt $ 4145 $§ 4168

1. Rate determined quarterly.
Dividend rates are fixed for 5 to 6 years from the quarter end dates after issuance, June 30, 2011, March 31, 2012, June 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, September 30, 2013,
March 31, 2014, June 30, 2014, December 31, 2014, December 31, 2015, December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017, respectively and reset after 5 to 6 years to the
5-year Government of Canada bond rate plus between 180 and 417 basis points.
Dividend rate reset commenced September 30, 2018.
Dividend rate reset commenced March 31, 2019.
Dividend rate reset commenced September 30, 2019.

— Prime Rate, B.A. — Bankers’ Acceptance Rate, b.p. — Basis Points.

T A

The company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A preferred shares and an unlimited number of Class AA preferred
shares, issuable in series. No Class AA preferred shares have been issued.

The Class A preferred shares are entitled to preference over the Class A and Class B Limited Voting Shares (“Class A and B shares”)
on the declaration of dividends and other distributions to shareholders. All series of the outstanding preferred shares have a par
value of C$25.00 per share.
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b) Non-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests represent the common and preferred equity in consolidated entities that are owned by other shareholders.

iﬁﬁ%‘i}%“ 2019 2018
COMIMON EUILY ...vvivivitiietieteeeteet ettt ettt ettt ete b seete b eseesess et essessesessesessessesessessesessesesseseesessessssessesessesessereasens $ 76,557 $ 62,109
PrefeITEA ©QUILY ...vovicvicieciieiei ettt ettt ettt ettt et et et e teeteeteeseeseessessesbesseeseeseessensessessansesbeebeeteerneraans 5,276 5,226
TOTAL ...ttt bbbt h bRt A bRt e b bRtk h et b ekt b bttt ene et ene $ 81,833 $ 67,335

Further information on non-controlling interests is provided in Note 4 — Subsidiaries.
¢) Common Equity

The company’s common equity is comprised of the following:

fﬁlﬂ%ﬁlcs')ﬂ’ 2019 AND 2018 2019 2018
COMIMON SHATES .......oiuiiieiiieie ettt ettt et et e et e e et e ee e et e et e eaaeeaaeseseeaeeeaeeeaeeesseseenseensesntesanesneesaeesneens $ 7,305 $§ 4457
Contributed surplus 286 271
REtAINEA CAIMINGS .......oovviiiiiiiicticieeteeeet ettt ettt ettt et ea e et e eteeteeaeeseess et e b e seeseessessessensensesesseereeseereeseensens 16,026 14,244
OWNEISNIP CHAINEES. ......cuivieieiiieiieicietet ettt ettt se st se s stese s es e s essese s essesesseseesessesesseseesensesens 1,010 645
Accumulated other COMPIEheNSIVE INCOME..........c.eeuieieieierierieiteeteeeeteeseeaet et esse s e eteeteessessessessessessesseeseesaeseens 6,241 6,030
COMIMON CQUILY ....vvevveereereereeteereeteeteeseeteeteeseeseeseeteeseeseeasenseseeseeseessessersessensesseseeseeseeseessersensensensenseeseessersensensenes $ 30,868 $ 25,647

The company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A shares and 85,120 Class B shares, together referred to as
common shares. The company’s common shares have no stated par value. The holders of Class A shares and Class B shares rank
on par with each other with respect to the payment of dividends and the return of capital on the liquidation, dissolution or winding
up of the company or any other distribution of the assets of the company among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up
its affairs. Holders of the Class A shares are entitled to elect half of the Board of Directors of the company and holders of the
Class B shares are entitled to elect the other half of the Board of Directors. With respect to the Class A and Class B shares, there
are no dilutive factors, material or otherwise, that would result in different diluted earnings per share between the classes. This
relationship holds true irrespective of the number of dilutive instruments issued in either one of the respective classes of common
stock, as both classes of shares participate equally, on a pro rata basis, in the dividends, earnings and net assets of the company,
whether taken before or after dilutive instruments, regardless of which class of shares is diluted.

The holders of the company’s common shares received cash dividends during 2019 of $0.64 per share (2018 — $0.60 per share).

The number of issued and outstanding common shares and unexercised options are as follows:

AS AT DEC. 31,2019 AND 2018 2019 2018
CLASS A SRATES ..o e e e e e s e e s e s e e e s e e s s e e s e s s e s s e s s e e s s e s s es s s e eseereneernens 1,006,110,641 955,057,721
(0 T S Y (V- R PT 85,120 85,120
Shares outstanding1 ............................................... ... 1,006,195,761 955,142,841
Unexercised options and other share-based plans2 .............................................................................. 46,678,774 42,086,712
Total dilUted SRATES ........oueuiiiiicicie ettt 1,052,874,535 997,229,553

1. Netof42,278,231 Class A shares held by the company in respect of long-term compensation agreements as at December 31, 2019 (2018 — 37,538,531).
2. Includes management share option plan and escrowed stock plan.
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The authorized common share capital consists of an unlimited number of Class A shares and 85,120 Class B shares. Shares issued
and outstanding changed as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
Outstanding, beginning of year1 ........................................................................................................... 955,142,841 958,773,120
Issued (repurchased)
ISSUAINCES ...ttt ettt e et e et e e eat e e sat e e et e e eateesateesataeeanseessteesaseeenaeesaeeesneeas 52,757,437 —
REPUICRASES.......oviivieeieeteiect ettt ettt ettt ettt et aeeae et e ereeteeseereesseasesesesseeseeteensensensenee (7,188,534) (9,579,740)
Long-term share ownership plans2 ..................................................................................................... 5,346,417 5,752,331
Dividend reinvestment plan and others.... 137,600 197,130
Outstanding, end of year3 ..................................................................................................................... 1,006,195,761 955,142,841

1. Netof 37,538,531 Class A shares held by the company in respect of long-term compensation agreements as at December 31, 2018 (2017 — 30,569,215).
2. Includes management share option plan and restricted stock plan.
3. Netof42,278,231 Class A shares held by the company in respect of long-term compensation agreements as at December 31, 2019 (2018 — 37,538,531).

In September 2019, the company issued 52.8 million Class A shares in connection with the acquisition of an approximate 61%
interest in Oaktree.

Earnings Per Share

The components of basic and diluted earnings per share are summarized in the following table:

:-‘I\(ZR THE Sg})EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
Net income attributable t0 SHATEROLACTS. ...........cocuiiiiieeeeee ettt et e et e s et e e eeaeeseeeseneeeeaneesans $ 2807 $ 3,584

Preferred Share diVIAENAS...........ccveviivieeiieceeceece ettt ettt e e e e et e ereeteereereene et e teeseeseeteersensens (152) (151)
Dilutive effect of conversion of subsidiary preferred shares ..............ccocevievieiiiiiiciccccceeeee e (74) (105)

Net income available to shareholders $ 2581 $§ 3328

Weighted average — COMMON SHATES............cciiuiiuieiieiiieieceeteete ettt et e s et e st e teeteeseeseessessesesesbesseeseessenas 968.6 957.6
Dilutive effect of the conversion of options and escrowed shares using treasury stock method...................... 23.7 19.8
Common shares and common share eqUIVAIENLS ............cc.ccivviieirieiiiiieieeeereee et ese e 992.3 977.4

Share-Based Compensation

The expense recognized for share-based compensation is summarized in the following table:

(FD%{L E—IOEN\Q)EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
Expense arising from equity-settled share-based payment transactions ................ccceceeeeievievierieneseereereereennns $ 81 § 73
Expense/(Recovery) arising from cash-settled share-based payment transactions...............cceceeveeveereereeneennnne. 506 (64)
Total expense arising from share-based payment transactions............c.ecuevuerueriereseseeieiesiesiesesreseereeeeeeseenas 587 9
Effect 0f heding PrOGrami...........cocuiiiiiiiiiiciieiecteete ettt ettt ettt ettt e st eeteeteeasessessasessesreeteeseesnennens (500) 75
Total expense included in consolidated INCOME .......c.covvueuiiririeiiireee e $ 87 § 84

The share-based payment plans are described below. There were no cancellations of or modifications to any of the plans during
2019 and 2018.

Equity-settled Share-based Awards
Management Share Option Plan

Options issued under the company’s Management Share Option Plan (“MSOP”) vest over a period of up to five years, expire
10 years after the grant date and are settled through issuance of Class A shares. The exercise price is equal to the market price
at the grant date. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the total expense incurred with respect to MSOP totaled $31 million
(2018 — $28 million).
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The changes in the number of options during 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

TSX NYSE

Number Weighted- Number Weighted-

of Options Average of Options Average

(000%s)" Exercise Price (000’s) Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2019.........cccoeieieieieicieeceeeceeeeee 790 C$ 11.77 36,742 US$ 29.52

GIANTEA. .....oeeieeeeeeeeee et e e e e eeeeaeeseaeeseaeas — — 5,077 45.63

Exercised (790) 11.77 (7,831) 20.26

CaNCRId......ecuiiiiiiieieeeeee et naas — — (186) 40.02

Outstanding at December 31, 2019..........ccocoveieveeiviiciiceeeceeeeene — C3 — 33,802 USS$ 34.03

1. Options to acquire TSX listed Class A shares.
2. Options to acquire NYSE listed Class A shares.
TSX NYSE

Number Weighted- Number Weighted-

of Options Average of Options Average

(000%s)" Exercise Price (0007s) Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2018 .........ccecvvvivieinieieeeeeeeee e 2,797 C$ 12.35 34,893 US$ 27.71

GIANTEA ..ottt ettt e e e e aaeeenaee e — — 4,538 40.42

EXCICISEA ..ottt (2,007) 12.59 (2,492) 23.58

CANCEICA ...ttt — — (197) 34.81

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 .........c.ccovvevieviiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeean 790 C$ 11.77 36,742 US$ 29.52

1. Options to acquire TSX listed Class A shares.
2. Options to acquire NYSE listed Class A shares.

The weighted-average fair value of options granted for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $5.89 (2018 — $5.38), and was
determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, with inputs to the model as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 Unit 2019 2018
Weighted-average SNAre PIiCE........cocviiieeierreereereeteeteeteeteeeee e s eseereere e eae e eseseeseereeseersensens US$ 45.63 40.42
Average term to exercise Years 7.5 7.5
SNATE PrICE VOIAIEY" .........oeoeeoieeeeeee et e e ee s e s e e e s e eeeeeee % 16.9 16.3
LiqUidity QISCOUNL.......cuiiiieieiiiieieie ettt ettt ettt ettt e ettt eaenenea % 25.0 25.0
Weighted-average annual dividend yield..........ccocooeieieiiieieieieeeeceeeeeeee e % 2.0 1.9
RISKAT@E TALE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt se bt s e b ene s et eseebe e esenseneenan % 2.5 2.8

1. Share price volatility was determined based on historical share prices over a similar period to the average term to exercise.
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At December 31, 2019, the following options to purchase Class A shares were outstanding:

Options Outstanding (000’s)

Weighted-Average

Exercise Price Remaining Life Vested  Unvested Total
USS15.45 —USS23.02 ..o 1.6 years 3,746 — 3,746
USS$23.37 — USS30.59 ...ttt 4.7 years 8,348 1,542 9,890
USS$33.75 — USS40.39 ..ot 6.8 years 7,581 7,514 15,095
US$44.24 —USSS7.96 ... 9.2 years 409 4,662 5,071

20,084 13,718 33,802

At December 31, 2018, the following options to purchase Class A shares were outstanding:

Options Outstanding (000’s)

Weighted-Average

Exercise Price Remaining Life Vested  Unvested Total
COLLLTT ettt ettt ettt b st b s see 0.2 years 790 — 790
O B TR 1.2 years 4,255 — 4,255
USS16.83 = US$23.37 ettt 2.8 years 5,160 — 5,160
US$25.21 - US$30.59 5.5 years 8,410 3,293 11,703
US$33.75 — US$36.32 6.1 years 2,873 2,115 4,988
US$36.88 — US$37.75 8.6 years 1,197 9,439 10,636

22,685 14,347 37,532

Escrowed Stock Plan

The Escrowed Stock Plan (the “ES Plan”) provides executives with indirect ownership of Class A shares. Under the ES Plan,
executives are granted common shares (the “ES Shares”) in one or more private companies that own Class A shares. The
Class A shares are purchased on the open market with the purchase cost funded by the company. The ES shares generally vest
over five years and must be held to the fifth anniversary of the grant date. At a date no more than ten years from the grant date,
all outstanding ES shares will be exchanged for Class A shares issued by the company based on the market value of Class A shares
at the time of the exchange. The number of Class A shares issued on exchange will be less than the Class A shares purchased under
the ES Plan resulting in a net reduction in the number of Class A shares issued by the company.

During 2019, 10.7 million Class A shares were purchased in respect of ES shares granted to executives under the ES Plan (2018 —
5.8 million Class A shares) during the year. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the total expense incurred with respect to the
ES Plan totaled $25 million (2018 — $25 million).

The weighted-average fair value of escrowed shares granted for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $6.81 (2018 — $5.38),
and was determined using the Black-Scholes model of valuation with inputs to the model as follows:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31 Unit 2019 2018
Weighted-average SNare PIiCe...........ciiiiiivievierreereereeteereereeeeeeae et ereereere e ese s seseeseeteeseeasensene US$ 51.11 40.39
AVETAZE tEIMN 10 CXEICISE ....vevveviririetisierietesietieseseeseeeseeseseesesesessessesesseseesessesessessesessesessessesessesess Years 8.5 7.5
SRATE PIICE VOIALILY ........oeeeeeeeeeee e eee e e eee e s s s s eeeeeeeseseseees e s ses e e eeseeeeas % 17.3 16.3
Liquidity diSCOUNL.......cuiiiiieiitictictecte ettt ere et ettt e v e v e eveeveereeae e s easenseeseebeeaeeasersene % 25 25
Weighted-average annual dividend yield.............ccocoovvviriiiiiiiiiniececceee e % 1.8 1.9

% 2.1 2.8

Risk-free rate

1. Share price volatility was determined based on historical share prices over a similar period to the average term to exercise.
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The change in the number of ES shares during 2019 and 2018 was as follows:

Weighted-

Number of Average

Units (000’s)  Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2019 .........ccooviiiriviiieieeeiiieeeietee ettt es et s s seeaeas 27,103  $ 33.27
10,650 51.11

Exercised (1,075) 23.66
CANCEICA.....eveeeeeeece ettt ettt ettt et e et e eteeteeseene e s e et e s et eeseeasersensensensereereereereereereens 1s1) 39.48
Outstanding at December 31, 2019........cciiiiiiieieieieeceeee et esbe st eaeereens 36,527 $ 38.73
Weighted-

Number of Average

Units (000’s)  Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2018 ..........cooiovoieiiiieeieeceeeeeeecce ettt ettt a e enne 27,772 $ 29.01
GIANTEA ...ttt e et e et e e eae e e et e e steeetaeesateesateesaaeesaaeesaaeesaseesnaeesnseesnaneannes 5,815 40.39
EX@ICISCA ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt e st et e s e s e s e et e eseeteeteeaseaseas et et eeseeteereeneereereens (6,484) 21.40
Outstanding at December 31, 2018...........c.oiiiieiieieeieeeecee ettt 27,103 $ 33.27

Restricted Stock Plan

The Restricted Stock Plan awards executives with Class A shares purchased on the open market (“Restricted Shares”). Under the
Restricted Stock Plan, Restricted Shares awarded vest over a period of up to five years, except for Restricted Shares awarded in
lieu of a cash bonus, which may vest immediately. Vested and unvested Restricted Shares are subject to a hold period of up to
five years. Holders of Restricted Shares are entitled to vote Restricted Shares and to receive associated dividends. Employee
compensation expense for the Restricted Stock Plan is charged against income over the vesting period.

During 2019, Brookfield granted 800,493 Class A shares (2018 — 581,051) pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Restricted
Stock Plan, resulting in the recognition of $25 million (2018 — $20 million) of compensation expense.

Cash-settled Share-based Awards

Deferred Share Unit Plan and Restricted Share Unit Plan

The Deferred Share Unit Plan and Restricted Share Unit Plan provide for the issuance of DSUs and RSUs, respectively. Under
these plans, qualifying employees and directors receive varying percentages of their annual incentive bonus or directors’ fees in
the form of DSUs and RSUs. The DSUs and RSUs vest over periods of up to five years, and DSUs accumulate additional DSUs
at the same rate as dividends on common shares based on the market value of the common shares at the time of the dividend.
Participants are not allowed to convert DSUs and RSUs into cash until retirement or cessation of employment.

The value of the DSUs, when converted to cash, will be equivalent to the market value of the common shares at the time the
conversion takes place. The value of the RSUs, when converted into cash, will be equivalent to the difference between
the market price of equivalent number of common shares at the time the conversion takes place and the market price on the date
the RSUs are granted. The company uses equity derivative contracts to offset its exposure to the change in share prices in respect
of vested and unvested DSUs and RSUs. The fair value of the vested DSUs and RSUs as at December 31, 2019 was $1.4 billion
(2018 — $894 million).

Employee compensation expense for these plans is charged against income over the vesting period of the DSUs and RSUs.
The amount payable by the company in respect of vested DSUs and RSUs changes as a result of dividends and share price
movements. All of the amounts attributable to changes in the amounts payable by the company are recorded as employee
compensation expense in the period of the change. For the year ended December 31,2019, employee compensation expense totaled
$7 million (2018 — $11 million), net of the impact of hedging arrangements.
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The change in the number of DSUs and RSUs during 2019 and 2018 was as follows:

Outstanding at January 1, 2019 ........cccooiviiiiiieiiceceeecceeee ettt ere e

Granted and reINVESIEA............ccvevverveereeeeeeecee ettt ettt eae et et eeseereereeseereereereeneens

Outstanding at January 1, 2018 .........c.cccoeiiiiieiiecieec ettt e oo ere e
Granted and reinvested
Exercised and canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 .........c.ccceeieriiiiiieercereeeeeere et ere e

The fair value of each DSU is equal to the traded price of the company’s common shares.

DSUs RSUs
Weighted-
Number Number Average
of Units of Units Exercise
(000’s) (000’s) Price
14,637 10,540 C$ 9.21
532 — —
(1,034) — —
14,135 10,540 C$ 9.21

DSUs RSUs
Weighted-
Number Number Average
of Units of Units Exercise
(000’s) (000’s) Price
14,944 10,920 C$ 9.09
466 — —
(773) (380) 5.89
14,637 10,540 CS$ 9.21

Unit Dec. 31,2019 Dec. 31,2018

Share price on date 0f MEASUTEMENL.........c.ccevrieiieiieiieiieieieeese e C$ 75.03 52.32

Share price on date Of MEASUTEMENL ..............c.cooevieeeerieeeeieeeeeeeee e USS$ 57.80 38.35
The fair value of RSUs was determined primarily using the following inputs:

Unit Dec. 31,2019 Dec. 31,2018

Share price on date of MEASUIEMENL...........cocevieririeeieriieeieieieeeeee e C$ 75.03 52.32

Weighted-average fair value of @ unit............c.ccoevieieieieicieeeceeeeeeeeees C$ 65.82 43.11
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22. REVENUES

We perform a disaggregated analysis of revenues considering the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues. This includes
disclosure of our revenues by segment and type, as well as a breakdown of whether revenues from goods or services are recognized
at a point in time or delivered over a period of time.

a) Revenue by Type

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DEC. 31, Asset Renewable Private Residential Corporate Total
2019 (MILLIONS) Management Real Estate Power  Infrastructure Equity  Development Activities Revenues
Revenue from contracts
with customers ............cccceeeeee $ 271§ 3,833 § 3810 § 6,333 § 42,147  $ 2,396 § 9 3 58,799
Other revenue .............ccooeveueene. — 6,609 149 758 952 60 499 9,027
$ 271§ 10,442 § 3959 § 7,001 § 43,099 § 2,456 $ 508 $ 67,826
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DEC. 31, Asset Renewable Private Residential Corporate Total
2018 (MILLIONS) Management Real Estate Power  Infrastructure Equity  Development Activities Revenues
Revenue from contracts
with customers ...........cccvveeenne $ 187  § 3,107 § 3,651 § 4,859 $ 36,693 $ 2,651 § 13 8 51,161
Other revenue ..............c.cooveuene — 4,968 100 154 135 32 221 5,610
$ 187  § 8,075 § 3751 § 5013 § 36,828 $ 2,683 § 234§ 56,771

b) Timing of Recognition of Revenue from Contracts with Customers

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DEC. 31, Asset Renewable Private Residential Corporate Total
2019 (MILLIONS) Management Real Estate Power  Infrastructure Equity  Development Activities Revenues
Goods and services provided at
a point in time ..........ccccveeeveeee $ — 8 1,193 § 95 $ 225§ 34,141  §$ 2,384 § 9 3 38,047
Services transferred over a
period of tiMe......c.cooevreeenievninnne 271 2,640 3,715 6,108 8,006 12 20,752
$ 271§ 3,833 § 3810 § 6333 § 42,147 § 2,396 § 9 8 58,799
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DEC. 31, Asset Renewable Private Residential Corporate Total
2018 (MILLIONS) Management Real Estate Power  Infrastructure Equity  Development Activities Revenues
Goods and services provided at
a point in time ..........cocccuvverunne $ — 8 1,118  $ 79 S 201§ 28,860 § 2,651 § JRIE 32,922
Services transferred over a
period of time........covvvrevereeerenne 187 1,989 3,572 4,658 7,833 — — 18,239
$ 187  § 3,107 § 3,651 § 4859 $ 36,693 $ 2,651 § 13 8 51,161

Remaining Performance Obligations
Private Equity

In our construction services business, backlog is defined as revenue yet to be delivered (i.e. remaining performance obligations)
on construction projects that have been secured via an executed contract, work order or letter of intent. As at December 31, 2019
our backlog of construction projects was approximately $7.0 billion (2018 — $8.0 billion), with an overall weighted-average
remaining project life of approximately two years (2018 — two years).

In our Brazilian water and wastewater services business, our long-term, inflation-adjusted concession service contracts with various
municipalities have an average remaining contract duration of 24 years as at December 31, 2019 (2018 — 25 years).

Others

In our asset management, infrastructure and renewable power businesses, revenue is generally recognized as invoiced for contracts
recognized over a period of time as the amounts invoiced are commensurate with the value provided to the customers.
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¢) Lease Income

Our leases in which the Company is a lessor are primarily operating in nature. Total lease income from our assets leased out on
operating leases totaled $6.8 billion including $67 million of income related to variable lease income that is not dependent on an
index or rate.

The following table presents the undiscounted contractual earnings receivable of the company’s leases by expected period of
receipt:

Payments Receivable by Period

Less than 1 1-3 4-5 After 5
&?Iﬁl%%%fL o0 Year Years Years Years Total

Receivables from lease contracts.............cccoeeuvennneen. $ 4514 §$ 8,239 § 6,744 $ 15,875 $ 35,372
23. DIRECT COSTS

Direct costs include all attributable expenses except interest, depreciation and amortization, taxes and fair value changes and
primarily relate to cost of sales and compensation. The following table lists direct costs for 2019 and 2018 by nature:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31

(MILLIONS) 2019 2018
COSE OF SALES......cueiieiieeieeee ettt ettt ettt ettt et e et e e te et e et e eae e eaeeeaeeeaeeeae et e ete et e et e et e ere e et e eteeeaeens $ 41,463 $ 37,506
COMPEISATION ......evieuieiiesteteeteeteeteeteestestetestessesseeseeseessessessassessessaaseasesssessessassassesessesseessassassessensansensenseasenssnsseses 6,035 3,954
Selling, general and admiNiStrative EXPEIISES........c.ccververrirrirriiriereereereetetessesseeseeteeseesseseessessessessessessesseeseessesss 2,612 1,765
Property taxes, sales taXes and OtHET ...........c.ocoeviiuieiiiiieececceectece ettt et ete e et enseseeaeereeveereereereennens 2,618 2,294

S S8 s 45519
24. FAIR VALUE CHANGES

Fair value changes recorded in net income represent gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of assets and liabilities,
including derivative financial instruments, accounted for using the fair value method and are comprised of the following:

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEC. 31

(MILLIONS) 2019 2018
INVESLMENT PIOPETLIES .....vevivevieeeereeeeereereeteeteeteeseeseeseeeeseeseeseeseeseeseeseensenseseeseeseessessesseseensesseseeseeseesesseeseeneeneen $ 1,710 $ 1,610
Transaction related (losses) gains, net 0f deal COSES........cvuiviriiiiieiciciceeeee e (895) 1,132
Financial contracts (140) (189)
IMPAIrMENt ANA PrOVISIONS ........ceeverereereereereere et et eseeeeereereereeteeteeseeseeseenseseeseeseessessesseseerserseseeseeseeseesesseenseneen (825) (309)
Other fair VAlUe CRANEES .........cceeiieiiiiiieiccieect ettt ettt a b et be e teeteeseeseessesbebessesbeessessessenes (681) (450)

S @D 174
25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk (i.e. currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The company selectively uses derivative financial instruments principally to manage

these risks.

The aggregate notional amount of the company’s derivative positions at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

AS AT DEC. 31

ASproEe, Note 2019 2018
FOTEIZN EXCRANGZE ....vivieviieiiieietiteiet ettt ettt b ettt b et te b e st et e b eseesentesesaeneeseneeseeaenens (a) $ 37,334 § 33298
IIEETESE TALES ...vveieieieeeeee ettt ettt e et et e ettt oot e e e e e e eae e eeaaeeeneseenseeeeaeeeenseeenseseesseeensseenseeenteseenseenes (b) 51,619 38,490
Credit AETaAUIt SWAPS ..cvveveveieciicieieieiet ettt e ae b e b e e b e e seeseessessessessensessessessesseeseessensens (c) 39 56
EQUILY QOTTVALIVES . ..uteuterteiesiesiesieeieetteetetetestestesteeteeteeteessessessessessessessesseeseeseessessensensasesseeseasanssessessenes (d) 2,517 1,375
COMMOAILY TNSTIUIMIEIIES ....euveutitietietietieiteitete ettt et ebeest et et et e st e sb e e bt ebeeseeatesbenbenbesbesbesbesbeeneeneeneens (e) 2019 2018

ENETEY (GWHh) ottt sttt sttt e 25,136 14,752

Natural gas (MMBtu — 000’s)....

78,364 63,076
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a) Foreign Exchange

The company held the following foreign exchange contracts with notional amounts at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Notional Amount
(U.S. Dollars) Average Exchange Rate
(MILLIONS) 2019 2018 2019 2018
Foreign exchange contracts
Canadian dOLLATS ..........ooeuviiiiiecie ettt nae s $ 6839 § 4959 0.75 0.76
BIritiSh POUNAS .....ueviiieiiieieiee et 7,874 4,952 1.27 1.32
European UniOn GUIOS........cc.evuerueriireririeeeitetetetenie sttt esee sttt sae e seenee 2,069 3,829 1.16 1.21
AUSIralian dOLIATS ..........ooviiieiieeee ettt e 3,989 3,781 0.71 0.74
INAIAN TUPEC.....evieiieiieieieeteet ettt ettt st eb e st e s e sesteseeene 240 697 73.55 72.73
CRILEAIN PESO ..vvvieeieiieieiesieett et et et e et e stestesteseeese e st esseaessebesseeseeseesaessensensensansens 548 615 722.08 647.37
KOTCAIN WON' ... eetooreeesoreesssesesss sttt sess st 687 561 1,173 1,102
Chinese yuan1 ...................................................................................................... 1,862 543 5.42 6.85
JAPANESE YEN ..o 111 404 104.58 104.45
Colombian pesos' 534 370 3,416 2,977
Brazilian TCAIS.....ccueeuieeieieieieiesteetcete ettt ettt st sbe et ese et e s ensessestenee e 484 78 0.24 0.24
SWEAISH KIONA ...ttt eaeeeeaeeeen 1,578 94 9.10 7.87
Other currencies 584 436 various various
Cross currency interest rate swaps
Canadian dOIIArS.........ccieuirieiieeieee et 4,493 4,167 0.77 0.75
European Union GUIOS..........c.ceueerieirienieenieinienieitnieeeieneeit et 103 1,914 1.09 1.06
AUSITalian dOLIATS ......c..eiiviiieiieeeeecee et 2,033 1,454 0.98 1.00
JAPANESE YEN ..o 18 750 110.00 113.32
BIitiSh POUNAS ...cvvevviiiiiciiciicteeee ettt ettt s b beenas 267 257 1.49 1.49
Colombian pesos1 ................................................................................................ 100 125 3,463 3,056
OhET CUITEIICIES ...vveutenteietieieeie ettt sttt ettt ettt b e sbe bt et e besaesee e — 15 — Various
Foreign exchange futures
Brazilian TEAIS .....ccvevveriirieriieieeieieiete ettt ettt e steetesee e eseeaesensessenseas 38 — 0.25 —
Foreign exchange options
BIitiSh POUNAS ...cvvevviiiiiciiciicteeee ettt ettt s b beenas 1,338 1,736 1.43 1.31
Chinese yuan.... — 500 — 7.10
INAIAN TUPEE.... ettt ettt bbb ettt st see e — 500 — 67.95
European Union GUIOS..........c.coueerieirienieenieinienieienieteie sttt 1,544 463 1.12 1.15
OhET CUITEIICICS ...vveuveniiiieiieieeieet et sie ettt ettt et besbesaeebeeseeseensensesesseseene — 98 — Various

1. Average rate is quoted using USD as base currency.

Included in net income are unrealized net gains on foreign currency derivative contracts amounting to $201 million
(2018 — $457 million) and included in the cumulative translation adjustment account in other comprehensive income are losses
inrespect of foreign currency contracts entered into for hedging purposes amounting to $409 million (2018 — gains of $1.3 billion).

2019 ANNUAL REPORT 204



b) Interest Rates

At December 31, 2019, the company held interest rate swap and forward starting swap contracts having an aggregate
notional amount of $25.0 billion (2018 — $13.9 billion), interest rate swaptions with an aggregate notional amount of $nil (2018
— $5.3 billion) and interest rate cap contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $26.6 billion (2018 — $19.3 billion).

¢) Credit Default Swaps

As at December 31, 2019, the company held credit default swap contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $39 million
(2018 — $56 million). Credit default swaps are contracts which are designed to compensate the purchaser for any change in the value
of an underlying reference asset, based on measurement in credit spreads, upon the occurrence of predetermined credit events.
The company is entitled to receive payments in the event of a predetermined credit event for up to $nil (2018 — $56 million) of
the notional amount and could be required to make payments in respect of $nil (2018 — $nil) of the notional amount.

d) Equity Derivatives

At December 31, 2019, the company held equity derivatives with a notional amount of $2.5 billion (2018 — $1.4 billion)
which includes $541 million (2018 — $1.1 billion) notional amount that hedges long-term compensation arrangements. The
balance represents common equity and ETF positions established in connection with the company’s investment activities. The fair
value of these instruments was reflected in the company’s consolidated financial statements at year end.

e¢) Commodity Instruments

The company has entered into energy derivative contracts primarily to hedge the sale of generated power. The company endeavors
to link forward electricity sale derivatives to specific periods in which it expects to generate electricity for sale. All energy derivative
contracts are recorded at an amount equal to fair value and are reflected in the company’s consolidated financial statements. The
company has financial contracts outstanding on 78,364,000 MMBtu’s (2018 — 63,076,000 MMBtu’s) of natural gas as part of its
electricity sale price risk mitigation strategy.

Other Information Regarding Derivative Financial Instruments

The following table classifies derivatives elected for hedge accounting during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 as
either cash flow hedges or net investment hedges. Changes in the fair value of the effective portion of the hedge are recorded in
either other comprehensive income or net income, depending on the hedge classification, whereas changes in the fair value of the
ineffective portion of the hedge are recorded in net income:

2019 2018
Effective Ineffective Effective Ineffective
fI\%IiEIHOEN?)EARS FNDEDDEC. 31 Notional Portion Portion Notional Portion Portion
Cash flow hedges! .......o.oovvveereeeeereeeeeeee e, $ 32,709 $ @89 $ 20 $ 24999 $ 38 $ 3)
Net investment hedges........c.covevverievererenieneseeeenne 22,790 (433) 16 17,319 999 9
$ 55499 $ (522) $ 36 $ 42318 $ 1,037 $ 6

1. Notional amount does not include 14,485 GWh, 12,164 MMBtu — 000’s and 2,273 bbls — millions of commodity derivatives at December 31, 2019 (2018 — 6,040 GWh,
8,423 MMBtu — 000’s and 3,151 bbls — millions).
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The following table presents the change in fair values of the company’s derivative positions during the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018, for derivatives that are fair valued through profit or loss, and derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting:

Unrealized Unrealized

Gains Losses  Net Change Net Change

(MILLIONS) During 2019 During 2019 During 2019  During 2018

Foreign exchange derivatives.............coeeveevverieieeerinieeeeeeeee s $ 419 $ (218) $ 201 $ 457
Interest rate deriVAtIVES .........c.eevueeerieeeeereecee et 43 (264) (221) a7

Credit default SWaPS......ccecieiiieieiecieee ettt — a ()] 3
EqQUItY deriVatiVes.......c.cveviieeiieiiereeeteeieeeiee et nas 24 an 13 (129)
Commodity deriVatiVeS ........cccccveierierieereeieeieee ettt veeeeeaees 56 29) 27 (66)

$ 542 $ (523) $ 19 § 248

The following table presents the notional amounts underlying the company’s derivative instruments by term to maturity as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, for derivatives that are classified as fair value through profit or loss, and derivatives that qualify
for hedge accounting:

2019 2018
3/51112{1%%%)31 <1 Year 1 to 5 Years >5 Years foeal NA(:Itll(())lllll?: ol Ii(;ggﬁrﬂ
Fair value through profit or loss
Foreign exchange derivatives....................... $ 5986 $ 1,803 $ 157 $ 7,946 $ 9,303
Interest rate derivatives .............cccceeveeveennnnne 8,293 13,402 1,036 22,731 16,621
Credit default swaps 10 29 — 39 56
Equity derivatives.........cccccevvevereeienreereenennns 1,589 928 — 2,517 1,375
Commodity instruments

Energy (GWh) ...ccoooviiiniiiiiiccee 1,997 8,655 — 10,652 8,712
Natural gas (MMBtu — 000°s).................... 66,200 — — 66,200 54,653
Elected for hedge accounting
Foreign exchange derivatives....................... $ 15,935 $ 12,333  § 1,119 § 29,387 $ 23,995
Interest rate derivatives ............ccccevveeveennennee. 6,489 18,405 3,994 28,888 21,869
Equity derivatives.........c.ccoevevreeeeveereereeneennes — — — — —
Commodity instruments
Energy (GWh) ..o 7,880 4,596 2,009 14,485 6,040
Natural gas (MMBtu — 000’s) 12,164 — — 12,164 8,423

26. MANAGEMENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM HOLDING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company is exposed to the following risks as a result of holding financial instruments: market risk (i.e., interest rate risk,
currency exchange risk and other price risk that impact the fair value of financial instruments), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
following is a description of these risks and how they are managed:

a) Market Risk

Market risk is defined for these purposes as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument held by the
company will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk includes the risk of changes in interest rates, currency
exchange rates and changes in market prices due to factors other than interest rates or currency exchange rates, such as changes
in equity prices, commodity prices or credit spreads.

The company manages market risk from foreign currency assets and liabilities and the impact of changes in currency exchange
rates and interest rates by funding assets with financial liabilities in the same currency and with similar interest rate characteristics,
and by holding financial contracts such as interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives to minimize residual exposures.

Financial instruments held by the company that are subject to market risk include other financial assets, borrowings and derivative
instruments such as interest rate, currency, equity and commodity contracts.
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i. Interest Rate Risk

The observable impacts on the fair values and future cash flows of financial instruments that can be directly attributable to interest
rate risk include changes in the net income from financial instruments whose cash flows are determined with reference to floating
interest rates and changes in the value of financial instruments whose cash flows are fixed in nature.

The company’s assets largely consist of long-duration interest-sensitive physical assets. Accordingly, the company’s financial
liabilities consist primarily of long-term fixed-rate debt or floating-rate debt that has been swapped with interest rate derivatives.
These financial liabilities are, with few exceptions, recorded at their amortized cost. The company also holds interest rate caps to
limit its exposure to increases in interest rates on floating rate debt that has not been swapped, and holds interest rate contracts
to lock in fixed rates on anticipated future debt issuances and as an economic hedge against the changes in value of long duration
interest sensitive physical assets that have not been otherwise matched with fixed rate debt.

The result of a 50 basis-point increase in interest rates on the company’s net floating rate financial assets and liabilities would
have resulted in a corresponding decrease in net income before tax of $246 million (2018 — $198 million) on a current basis.

Changes in the value of fair value through profit or loss interest rate contracts are recorded in net income and changes in the value
of contracts that are elected for hedge accounting are recorded in other comprehensive income. The impact of a 50 basis-point
parallel increase in the yield curve on the aforementioned financial instruments is estimated to result in a corresponding increase
in net income before tax of $146 million (2018 — $128 million) and an increase in other comprehensive income of $309 million
(2018 — $149 million), for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

ii. Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Changes in currency rates will impact the carrying value of financial instruments denominated in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar.

The company holds financial instruments with net unmatched exposures in several currencies, changes in the translated value of
which are recorded in net income. The impact of a 1% increase in the U.S. dollar against these currencies would have resulted in
an $74 million (2018 — $80 million) increase in the value of these positions on a combined basis. The impact on cash flows from
financial instruments would be insignificant. The company holds financial instruments to limit its exposure to the impact of foreign
currencies on its net investments in foreign operations whose functional and reporting currencies are other than the U.S. dollar.
A 1% increase in the U.S. dollar would increase the value of these hedging instruments by $259 million (2018 — $240 million) as
at December 31, 2019, which would be recorded in other comprehensive income and offset by changes in the U.S. dollar carrying
value of the net investment being hedged.

iii. Other Price Risk

Other price risk is the risk of variability in fair value due to movements in equity prices or other market prices such as commodity
prices and credit spreads.

Financial instruments held by the company that are exposed to equity price risk include equity securities and equity derivatives.
A 5% decrease in the market price of equity securities and equity derivatives held by the company, excluding equity derivatives that
hedge compensation arrangements, would have decreased net income by $14 million (2018 — $50 million) and decreased other
comprehensive income by $70 million (2018 —$85 million), prior to taxes. The company’s liability in respect of equity compensation
arrangements is subject to variability based on changes in the company’s underlying common share price. The company holds
equity derivatives to hedge almost all of the variability. A 5% change in the common equity price of the company in respect of
compensation agreements would increase the compensation liability and compensation expense by $75 million (2018 —
$53 million). This increase would be offset by a $80 million (2018 —$53 million) change in value of the associated equity derivatives
of which $75 million (2018 — $51 million) would offset the above-mentioned increase in compensation expense and the remaining
$5 million (2018 — $2 million) would be recorded in other comprehensive income.

The company sells power and generation capacity under long-term agreements and financial contracts to stabilize future revenues.
Certain of the contracts are considered financial instruments and are recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements,
with changes in value being recorded in either net income or other comprehensive income as applicable. A 5% increase in energy
prices would have decreased net income for the year ended December 31, 2019 by approximately $5 million (2018 — $9 million)
and decreased other comprehensive income by $nil (2018 — $9 million), prior to taxes. The corresponding increase in the value
of the revenue or capacity being contracted, however, is not recorded in net income until subsequent periods.
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The company held credit default swap contracts with a total notional amount of $42 million (2018 — $63 million) at December 31,
2019. The company is exposed to changes in the credit spread of the contracts’ underlying reference assets. A 50 basis-point
increase in the credit spread of the underlying reference assets would have increased net income by $1 million (2018 — $1 million)
for the year ended December 31, 2019, prior to taxes.

b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a borrower or counterparty to fulfill its contractual obligations. The company’s
exposure to creditrisk inrespect of financial instruments relates primarily to counterparty obligations regarding derivative contracts,
loans receivable and credit investments such as bonds and preferred shares.

The company assesses the creditworthiness of each counterparty before entering into contracts with a view to ensuring that
counterparties meet minimum credit quality requirements. Management evaluates and monitors counterparty credit risk for
derivative financial instruments and endeavors to minimize counterparty credit risk through diversification, collateral
arrangements, and other credit risk mitigation techniques. The credit risk of derivative financial instruments is generally limited
to the positive fair value of the instruments, which, in general, tends to be a relatively small proportion of the notional value.
Substantially all of the company’s derivative financial instruments involve either counterparties that are banks or other financial
institutions in North America, the United Kingdom and Australia, or arrangements that have embedded credit risk mitigation
features. The company does not expect to incur credit losses in respect of any of these counterparties. The maximum exposure in
respect of loans receivable and credit investments is equal to the carrying value.

¢) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company cannot meet a demand for cash or fund an obligation as it comes due. Liquidity risk
also includes the risk of not being able to liquidate assets in a timely manner at a reasonable price.

To help ensure the company is able to react to contingencies and investment opportunities quickly, the company maintains sources
of liquidity at the corporate and subsidiary levels. The primary source of liquidity consists of cash and other financial assets, net
of deposits and other associated liabilities, and undrawn committed credit facilities.

The company is subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the ability to refinance indebtedness at maturity. The
company believes these risks are mitigated through the use of long-term debt secured by high quality assets, maintaining debt
levels that are in management’s opinion relatively conservative, and by diversifying maturities over an extended period of time.
The company also seeks to include in its agreements terms that protect the company from liquidity issues of counterparties that
might otherwise impact the company’s liquidity.
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The following tables present the contractual maturities of the company’s financial liabilities at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Payments Due by Period

fﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ" 2019 <1 Year 1 to 3 Years 4 to 5 Years After 5 Years Total
Principal repayments

Corporate bOrrOWiIngs .........cceeeveveveernennns $ — 3 269 S 1,597 $ 5217 $ 7,083

Non-recourse borrowings of managed

CNEIICS 1.t 15,563 28,396 34,602 57,731 136,292

Subsidiary equity obligations .................. 188 1,677 745 1,522 4,132
Interest expensel

Corporate borrowings.........cocecceveeveenreucns 327 629 551 1,714 3,221

Non-recourse borrowings ............c.evenee.. 5,210 8,524 6,041 7,749 28,124

Subsidiary equity obligations .................. 151 261 212 107 731
Lease Obligations”..............cooovvvvevrrvnennnn. 766 1,171 992 11,064 13,993

1. Represents the aggregated interest expense expected to be paid over the term of the obligations. Variable interest rate payments have been calculated based on current rates.
2. The lease obligations as disclosed in the table above include leases that are classified as finance leases, short-term leases, low-value leases and variable lease payments
not based on an index or rate, which are immaterial.

Payments Due by Period

ﬁﬂ%ﬂ%ﬁ 12018 <1 Year 1 to 3 Years 4 to 5 Years After 5 Years Total
Principal repayments

Corporate bOIrTOWINgS ........ceceeevrveveeeenns $ 440 $ 257§ 441 $ 5271 $ 6,409

Non-recourse borrowings of managed

CNEITICS 1.t 11,159 34,055 24,633 41,962 111,809

Subsidiary equity obligations .................. 185 1,417 356 1,918 3,876
Interest expense1

Corporate bOrToWings ........ceceeeeveeeeeennene 278 535 504 1,697 3,014

Non-recourse borrowings ............c.eceee.e.. 5,126 8,124 5,820 7,324 26,394

Subsidiary equity obligations .................. 151 307 218 209 885

1. Represents the aggregated interest expense expected to be paid over the term of the obligations. Variable interest rate payments have been calculated based on current rates.

27. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The capital of the company consists of the components of equity in the company’s consolidated balance sheet (i.e., common and
preferred equity). As at December 31, 2019, the recorded values of these items in the company’s consolidated financial statements
totaled $35.0 billion (2018 — $29.8 billion).

The company’s objectives when managing this capital are to maintain an appropriate balance between holding a sufficient amount
of capital to support its operations, which includes maintaining investment-grade ratings at the corporate level and providing
shareholders with a prudent amount of corporate debt to enhance returns. Corporate debt, which includes subsidiary obligations
that are guaranteed by the company or are otherwise considered corporate in nature, totaled $7.1 billion based on carrying values
at December 31, 2019 (2018 — $6.4 billion). The company monitors its capital base and leverage primarily in the context of its
deconsolidated debt-to-total capitalization ratios. The ratio as at December 31, 2019 was 15% (2018 — 17%).

The consolidated capitalization of the company includes the capital and financial obligations of consolidated entities, including
long-term property-specific borrowings, subsidiary borrowings, capital securities as well as common and preferred equity held
by other investors in these entities. The capital in these entities is managed at the entity level with oversight by management of
the company. The capital is managed with the objective of maintaining investment-grade levels in most circumstances and is,
except in limited and carefully managed circumstances, without any recourse to the company. Management of the company also
takes into consideration capital requirements of consolidated and non-consolidated entities in which it has interests in when
considering the appropriate level of capital and liquidity on a deconsolidated basis.

The company is subject to limited covenants in respect of its corporate debt and is in full compliance with all such covenants as
at December 31, 2019 and 2018. The company is also in compliance with all covenants and other capital requirements related to
regulatory or contractual obligations of material consequence to the company.
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a) Related Parties

Related parties include subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures, key management personnel, the Board of Directors (“Directors”),
immediate family members of key management personnel and Directors and entities which are directly or indirectly controlled
by, jointly controlled by or significantly influenced by key management personnel, Directors or their close family members.

b) Key Management Personnel and Directors

Key management personnel are those individuals who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the company’s activities, directly or indirectly, and consist of the company’s Senior Executives. The company’s Directors do not
plan, direct or control the activities of the company directly; they provide oversight over the business.

The remuneration of key management personnel and Directors of the company during the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018 was as follows:

fl\(/)llri THE \g])EARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
Salaries, incentives and short-term benefits ... .. 8 19 $ 21
Share-Dased PAYIMEILS ........ccuicuictieeieiieieiteiesteee e ettt et et et et steeteebe e st e seesbessessasbessesseessessessessessessessessesseeseaseas 46 90

s es i

The remuneration of key management personnel and Directors is determined by the Management Resources and Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors having regard to the performance of individuals and market funds.

¢) Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of operations, the company executes transactions on market terms with related parties that have been measured
at exchange value and are recognized in the consolidated financial statements, including, but not limited to: base management
fees, performance fees and incentive distributions; loans, interest and non-interest bearing deposits; power purchase and sale
agreements; capital commitments to private funds; the acquisition and disposition of assets and businesses; derivative contracts;
and the construction and development of assets. Transactions and balances between consolidated entities are fully eliminated
upon consolidation.

The following table lists the related party balances included within the consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018:

fﬁﬁ{;—({)}%\]\g;ﬂARS ENDED DEC. 31 2019 2018
Management TS TECEIVE ........euiuiriiiitiietieieet ettt ettt sttt bt sttt et e st st se et e eneeneneenens $ 97 $ 56

29. OTHER INFORMATION

a) Guarantees and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the company enters into contractual obligations which include commitments to provide
bridge financing, letters of credit, guarantees and reinsurance obligations. As at December 31, 2019, the company had $4.1 billion
(2018 — $3.1 billion) of such commitments outstanding.

In addition, the company executes agreements that provide for indemnifications and guarantees to third parties in transactions or
dealings such as business dispositions, business acquisitions, sales of assets, provision of services, securitization agreements and
underwriting and agency agreements. The company has also agreed to indemnify its directors and certain of its officers
and employees. The nature of substantially all of the indemnification undertakings prevents the company from making a reasonable
estimate of the maximum potential amount the company could be required to pay third parties, as in most cases, the agreements
do not specify a maximum amount, and the amounts are dependent upon the outcome of future contingent events, the nature and
likelihood of which cannot be determined at this time. Neither the company nor its consolidated subsidiaries have made significant
payments in the past nor do they expect at this time to make any significant payments under such indemnification agreements
in the future.

The company periodically enters into joint ventures, consortium or other arrangements that have contingent liquidity rights in
favor of the company or its counterparties. These include buy sell arrangements, registration rights and other customary
arrangements that generally have embedded protective terms that mitigate the risk to us. The amount, timing and likelihood of
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any payments by the company under these arrangements is, in most cases, dependent on either further contingent events or
circumstances applicable to the counterparty and therefore cannot be determined at this time.

The company is contingently liable with respect to litigation and claims that arise in the normal course of business. It is not
reasonably possible that any of the ongoing litigation as at December 31, 2019 could result in a material settlement liability.

The company has insurance for damage and business interruption costs sustained as a result of an act of terrorism. The amount
of coverage is reviewed on an individual basis and can range up to $4 billion. However, a terrorist act could have a material effect
on the company’s assets to the extent damages exceed coverage.

The company, through its subsidiaries within the residential properties operations, is contingently liable for obligations of its
associates in its land development joint ventures. In each case, all of the assets of the joint venture are available first for the purpose
of satisfying these obligations, with the balance shared among the participants in accordance with predetermined joint
venture arrangements.

The Corporation has entered into arrangements with respect to the $1.8 billion of exchangeable preferred equity units issued by
BPY discussed in Note 19, which are redeemable in equal tranches of $600 million in 2021, 2024 and 2026, respectively.

The preferred equity units are exchangeable into equity units of BPY at $25.70 per unit, at the option of the holder, at any time
up to and including the maturity date. BPY may redeem the preferred equity units after specified periods if the BPY equity unit
price exceeds predetermined amounts. At maturity, the preferred equity units will be converted into BPY equity units at the lower
of $25.70 or the then market price of a BPY equity unit. In order to provide the purchaser with enhanced liquidity, the Corporation
has agreed to purchase the preferred equity units for cash at the option of the holder, for the initial purchase price plus accrued
and unpaid dividends. In order to decrease dilution risk to BPY, the Corporation has agreed with the holder and BPY that if the
price of a BPY equity unit is less than 80% of the exchange price of $25.70 at the redemption date of the 2021 and 2024 tranches,
the Corporation will acquire the preferred equity units subject to redemption, at the redemption price, and to exchange these
preferred equity units for preferred equity units with similar terms and conditions, including redemption date, as the 2026 tranche.

b) Supplemental Cash Flow Information

During the year, the company capitalized $233 million (2018 — $176 million) of interest primarily to investment properties and
residential inventory under development.

30. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 21, 2020, the company completed the public offering of $600 million notes due 2050. The notes have a coupon of
3.45%. The net proceeds from the issuance was partially used in exercising the right to redeem the $269 million (C$350 million),
5.30% notes outstanding, due on March 1, 2021.

Subsequent to December 31,2019, the Board of Directors also approved a three-for-two stock split of the company’s outstanding
Class A Shares. The stock dividend will be payable on April 1,2020 to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 28,
2020. Fractional shares will be paid in cash based on the closing price of the Class A Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange on
the record date.

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, financial markets have been negatively impacted by the novel Coronavirus or COVID-19
pandemic, which has resulted in economic uncertainty. The company is not able to predict or forecast the extent and duration of
the economic uncertainty, and consequently, it is difficult to reliably measure the potential impact of this uncertainty on future
financial results.
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